Public Document Pack

Wirral Children’s Trust

Children’s Trust Board
Agenda

Friday, 28 May 2010 commencing at 9.00 am
Professional Excellence Centre, Acre Lane, Bromborough
1.

09:00 APOLOGIES

2.

09:00 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

3.

09:05 MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING (Pages 1 - 8)

4.

09:10 CONTACT POINT UPDATE

5.

09:20 PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT YEAR END (Pages 9 - 24)

6.

09:40 LOCAL AREA AGREEMENT YEAR END (Pages 25 - 46)

7.

09:50 ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE BOARD MEMBERSHIP (Pages 47
- 48)

8.

10:00 WIRRAL CHILDREN'S TRUST AND LSCB/SAFEGUARDING
PROTOCOL (Pages 49 - 52)

BREAK
9.

10:25 JOBCENTRE PLUS PRESENTATION

10.

10:35 WIRRAL CHILDREN'S TRUST COMMISSIONING UPDATE
(Pages 53 - 54)

11.

10:50 COMMISSIONING OF ACTIVITY FUND PLUS (Pages 55 - 68)

12.

11:00 ACTIVITY FUND MONITORING REPORT (Pages 69 - 84)

13.

11:15 STAYING SAFE STRATEGY GROUP ANNUAL REPORT

14.

11:45 KEY STAGE 2 LITERACY OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
REPORT (Pages 85 - 124)

15.

11:55 ANY OTHER BUSINESS

16.

12:00 DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING: 13TH JULY 2010,
09:00 - 12:00

Agenda Item 3

WIRRAL CHILDREN’S TRUST BOARD

Minutes of the Meeting held on Friday, 19th March 2010

Present:

Councillor

Phil Davies (Chair)

Councillor

Sheila Clarke
Peter Brandrick
Howard Cooper
John Davies (representing Emma Dodd)
Paula Dixon
Sue Drew
Adrian Hughes
Debbie Mayor (representing Tina Long)
Richard Longster
Bev Morgan
Kathryn Podmore
Shanila Roohi
Andy Styring

In attendance:

Officers

Nancy Clarkson
Rose Curtis
Simon Douglas
Sheila Lynch
Julia Hassall
Peter Wong

1. APOLOGIES
Tina Long (represented by Debbie Mayor)
Hazel Thompson
Thelma Wiltshire
Emma Dodd (represented by John Davis)
Councillor Jean Quinn
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
None.
3. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING
Resolved: That the minutes of the meeting on the 15th January 2010 be
confirmed as a correct record.

4. SAFEGUARDING UPDATE QUARTER 3
The existing Safeguarding Board’s last meeting is in March 2010. A new Board will be
formed based on the new requirements and arrangements include a new independent

Page 1
1 of 7

Chair replacing the Director of Children’s Services. Councillor Phil Davies will be a
‘participating observer’. New guidance separates the executive and scrutiny role.
Howard Cooper outlined some of the national high profile cases including Doncaster,
Birmingham and Sheffield. In Wirral the quality of working together is better than it has
ever been. Locally we have two Serious Case reviews (SCRs) at different stages.
One at the end of the process and one at the beginning. Howard Cooper has recently
commissioned a new SCR not related to a child death. The Chloe Fletcher SCR has
been evaluated and the report received two days ago.
Howard Cooper reported that the nature of the report has changed from a brief letter to
a longer report style letter. The SCR evaluates submitted agency reports that
contribute to the overall report; each individual report is now graded. The letter picks
up areas of inter-agency working that are missing from the report. Once received by
the Safeguarding Board, there will be full analysis. The Ofsted Inspector will meet
representatives from all agencies involved to go through the findings. The Executive
summary will be published, not the full report, as per the law.
Howard Cooper commented that in SCRs agencies involved write a management
report, some agencies do not do this often e.g. Housing Associations. Good practice
would be development of expertise in organisations in writing reports. There is now an
independent officer who will be reviewing how reports are written and scrutinised.
Kathryn Podmore asked about the action plan and how it will be progressed. Howard
Cooper informed the Board that an action plan was submitted with the report and
Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) will monitor the delivery of the action plan.
Some actions will fall to organisations within the Children’s Trust.
Shanila Rhooi noted an issue for Health Care professionals regarding how the public
can access appropriate mental health help. Howard Cooper agreed and stressed the
importance of role of the GP in safeguarding children and the relationship of children’s
services with adult mental health.
Julia Hassall noted the LSCB and Staying Safe Strategy Group were carrying out an
audit of the quality of information sharing which would be shared with the Board.
Councillor Phil Davies asked if GPs know the appropriate pathways. Shanila Roohi
said that healthcare professionals understood the pathways but other agencies
involved may not understand the correct triggers and contact the right people to raise
concerns. Shanila Roohi noted extensive safeguard training has been carried out
through GP practices including reception staff.
Bev Morgan noted that most organisations understood the pathways and would use
them. However the extent of mental health issues is a difficult area to evaluate and
judgements are difficult to make as to when it is appropriate to contact agencies.
Julia Hassall informed the Board that the LSCB website will be updated with new
information which will be circulated organisations to ensure information is shared fully.
The Social Care Area Teams co-location project in development will also enhance
multi-agency approaches.

Page 2
2 of 7

Julia Hassall circulated performance information. Referrals to Children’s Social Care
show a sustained increase compared to previous year, an increase of 18%. Analysis
has led to work with the Police on referral appropriateness and social worker
placement to reflect need. Regarding referrals going to initial assessment (NI 68) the
number has increased and is in line with achieving the LAA indicator of 72% by March
2011.
Nancy Clarkson and Caroline McKenna are developing a protocol to outline the
arrangements between the LSCB and the Children’s Trust which will be presented at a
future board.
Resolved: That the report be noted.

5. PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT QUARTER 3
Nancy Clarkson outlined the report which provides an overview of the progress made
against the national indicators relevant to Wirral Children’s Trust. Overall Wirral is
doing well but there are some red or amber areas which were outlined with the
corrective action in place in each area.
Resolved: That the report be noted.

6. LOCAL AREA AGREEMENT QUARTER 3 REPORT
Nancy Clarkson outlined the position of LAA indicators at Quarter 3. Although good
progress is being made in NEET and teenage conceptions this is not in line with
achieving the very challenging nationally set targets.
Resolved: That the report be noted.

7. ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S PLAN
Nancy Clarkson presented the annual review of the CYPP. Each year an annual
review is produced. Bev Morgan requested adding information about the Third Sector.
Councillor Phil Davies thanked Nancy Clarkson for her work in co-ordinating the
review.
Resolved – That with the addition of information about the Third Sector the
annual review be approved.

8. WIRRAL CHILDREN’S TRUST COMMISSIONING STRATEGY
Howard Cooper introduced the report as an important item; a step change is required
in developing the Board’s role as commissioners. The purpose of the paper is to
identify key steps required to be in place to make a transition.

Page 3
3 of 7

Peter Wong and Rose Curtis presented to the board. A Children’s Trust is, in part, a
commissioning partnership, commissioning services for children and young people
and their families. Strategic Commissioning is a key means by which the Children’s
Trust partners come together to make a reality of the duty to co-operate and drive
cultural change. Components of successful commissioning include:
• Clear leadership
• Effective governance
• Understanding of commissioning
• Ability to commission workforce development leading to behavioural change
amongst frontline staff
• Clarity about the difference between commissioning and provider functions at all
levels
• Able to demonstrate ‘contestability’ e.g. ‘make or buy’ decisions
• An agreed vision for the shape of the Children’s Trust system
• Capacity for change
Howard Cooper suggested that the emphasis should be change for more effective
outcomes and added value.
The role of the Children’s Trust Board and Executive were outlined. The Children’s
Trust Board undertakes a governance role:
• Setting strategic direction and priorities for services to children, young people and
their families.
• Joint planning, commissioning and alignment of resources at a strategic level.
• Responsible and accountable for the performance and commissioning decisions
made by all planning and commissioning groups in children's services.
The Children’s Trust Executive undertakes the executive role, taking responsibility for:
• Advising the Board to support decision-making.
• Performance management.
• Implementing agreed strategies and plans.
• Preparing and reviewing the Children and Young People’s Plan.
• Developing improvement priorities and strategies to meet expectations of CYPP
The paper provided three options to the board:
Option 1 Virtual Joint Commissioning
Option 2 Joint Commissioning – targeted areas
Option 3 Joint Commissioning – whole system
In addition three recommendations were presented to the Board to assist in defining
the option for Wirral:
• That the newly established Children’s Trust Executive is not changed and that
further development of its executive role is explored.
• That the Board resolves not to seek pooling of all budgets at this stage, rather that
piloting of pooled budgets in no more than three key priority areas is taken forward.
• That partners provide details and clarity on how appropriate separation of
commissioning and providers responsibilities is managed and maintained.

Page 4
4 of 7

Howard Cooper suggested that the Council could learn from NHS Wirral in the
separation of commissioning and provider responsibilities.
Adrian Hughes referred to the continuum of children with complex needs and how
important it is to work together early at neo natal stage.
Andy Styring raised the issue of resources being required for new structures and
Adrian Hughes suggested there was currently duplication in the system so additional
resources were not necessarily a pre-requisite.
Debbie Mayor outlined that the paper did not suggest a new remit but that the
proposed mapping work would outline the next steps.
Peter Wong believes that the appropriate functions are within the current system but
they are not being co-ordinated and not necessarily working on identified priorities.
Sue Drew suggested that for budget pooling probity was required to ensure standards
are appropriate. Section 75 of the Health Act allows budget pooling for the Council
and NHS and provides a legal framework for pooling.
Howard Cooper noted that after the election there will be pressure to reduce back
office costs and that NHS Wirral and the Council have been investigating where joint
working can produce savings and that a step change in commissioning would assist
this.
Peter Brandrick asked how much of the Wirral compact and the better together
guidance has influenced the findings and Peter Wong responded that the compact has
influenced the paper.
Councillor Phil Davies reported that this area has not been discussed with the Council
Cabinet and other organisational boards. As the Children’s Trust Board is answerable
to the Local Strategic Partnership if the Board decides it wants to move forward then a
report would go to Cabinet and the NHS Wirral Board.
The strength of a decision by the Children’s Trust Board is that all partner
organisations including political leads on the board have reached agreement, with a
purpose to provide better outcomes for children.
Councillor Phil Davies requested a standing item on the Board regarding
commissioning.
Resolved: The Board is in agreement with the suggested step change in
commissioning and Option 2 was agreed.

9. SOCIAL AND WELLBEING STRATEGY GROUP
Sheila Lynch presented the Strategy Group Report. Key Achievements were outlined
and include:

Page 5
5 of 7

Therapeutic programmes delivered by the third sector (TCP) successfully reengaging young people into mainstream education. Programmes are also
delivered specifically for young mums.
• Roll out of eight Diploma lines in September 2009 with approximately 180 learners
participating.
• Development of FE provision with increased entry points to meet learner needs and
respond to the January Guarantee.
• The Wirral Apprenticeship Programme ‘initial 100’ has been delivered and a further
50 apprenticeships agreed (to be targeted for NEET young people).
•

The NEET information was presented in detail including February monthly NEET
figures indicate 8.78% (937 young people). NEETs are the lowest they have been in
February for 4 years which is significant progress. The aspiration is 6.9% so there is
still significant distance to travel.
In addition to increasing the pace of NEET reduction other key challenges outlined
include the Child Poverty Bill and the associated new duties and to support the raising
of the participation age in 2013. Areas for further partnership involvement include
reviewing the membership of the SEWB Group.
Sue Drew asked about linkage to other blocks including WEDS. Shelia Lynch the
strategy lead for SEWB is a member of the WEDS board. Cross LSP Block working is
being developed related to the new Child Poverty Bill including development of a
needs assessment and a strategy.
Kathryn Podmore reported that due to economic situation there could be a decrease in
university places.
Councillor Sheila Clarke asked about NEET children in care and Sheila Lynch reported
that through targeted initiatives good progress has been made with this group.
Resolved – That the report be noted.

10. EDUCATION, EMPLOYMENT AND TRAINING STRATEGY
Sheila Lynch outlined the refreshed EET Strategy.
Resolved: That the Board endorse the strategy.
11. STEPPING UP TO SOCIAL WORK
This is a national pilot programme offering an employment based route to qualifying as
a social worker related to a career change. A consortium of local authorities through
the Learn Together Partnership led by Wirral was successful in their bid, the only
partnership in the north-west of England to be successful. The programme will
commence with assessment centres in May 2010. Wirral is aiming to engage with up
to seven of the candidates as part of the programme.

Page 6
6 of 7

Resolved: That the report be noted and the Board would promote awareness of
the programme.

12. AIMING HIGH COMMISSSIONING REPORT
A national scheme for providing short breaks for children with disabilities through
commissioning VCF sector involved in providing a number of the services. Three
areas were not able to be commissioned:
− Sitting Services
− Enablement Support Scheme
− Emergency Support Scheme
As funding is time limited recommendations have been made in these areas to ensure
services are provided, the report outlines these. Richard Longster and Andy Styring
commented on the positive aspects of the proposals.
Resolved: That the Board recommends the Stage 2 commissioning proposals.

13. GETTING TO THE CORE – WIRRAL CHILDREN’S TRUST AND LINK FORUM
CONFERENCE
Peter Brandrick provided the board with a flyer for a joint Link Forum and Children’s
Trust ‘Getting to the Core’ Event on the 1st July 2010. The event would celebrate and
develop the links between the Children’s Trust and the Link Forum.
Resolved: That the Board would promote awareness of the event.

14. ANY OTHER BUSINESS
Councillor Phil Davies expressed the thanks of the Board to Sue Drew as she moves
to a new post as Director of Public Health in Knowsley.
Howard Cooper expressed the thanks of the Board to Chris Batman and Alan
Stennard who are retiring in March. Both have contributed to outcomes for children
and young people in Wirral.

15. DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING
Friday 28th May 2010, at the Professional Excellence Centre, Acre Lane.

Page 7
7 of 7

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8

Agenda Item 5
WIRRAL CHILDREN’S TRUST BOARD – 2nd June 2010
PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT 2009/10 – QUARTER 4 / YEAR END
_________________________________________________________________________
1.

Executive Summary

1.1

This report provides an overview of progress made against the indicators for
2009/2010 and key projects at the end of year.

1.2

At the time of writing this report 61 indicators of the total 122 indicators can be
reported.
47 of the 61 indicators can be reported against targets. A number of indicators that
were introduced in 2008/09 have had no targets set due to a lack of historical data. 2
indictors are no longer relevant (NI 13 is suspended and Local 1192 relates to KS3
Tests which have ceased) leaving 59 indicators that are awaiting data. Some of the
data within this report is currently provisional, awaiting validation or estimated figures.
This is noted accordingly within the report.
Target Summary

Direction of Travel Summary
Improved
38%

Green
47%
Amber
15%

Stayed Same
26%
Red
19%

Over
Performing
19%

N/A
8%

N/A
0%

Deteriorated
28%

1.3

This report sets out that overall performance against the 2009/10 projects relevant to
delivering the outcomes is good.

2.

Strategic Objective: Raise the aspirations of young people

2.1

Performance headlines for this strategic objective include:
•

Provisional data indicates that changes in practice in 2009/10 have lead to a
significant increase in the timeliness of placements of looked after children for
adoption following an adoption decision (NI 61) from 61.1% in 2008/09 to 81.8% in
2009/10 which has exceeded the target set.

1
FOURTH QUARTER/YEAR END PERFORMANCE REPORT
Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Page 9

•

Provisional data indicates that the stability of placements of looked after children
(NI 62) as improved to 7.3% exceeding the target set, compared to 10.2% in
2008/09.
Provisional data indicates a significant improvement in the percentage of referrals
to children’s social care going on to initial assessment (NI 68) has improved from
64.3% in 2008/09 to 71.7% in 2009/10.
Provisional data indicates an improvement in the length of placements for looked
after children (NI 63) compared to 2008/09.
The percentage of secondary schools judged as having good or outstanding
standards of behaviour has increased compared to 2008/09 and the target has
been exceeded. Wirral has been reported as having the highest standards of
behaviour in secondary schools nationally.
The percentage of schools providing access to extended services is 99%, a 33%
increase on the previous year and the target of 85.3% has been exceeded.
Hospital admissions caused by unintentional and deliberate injuries to children and
young people has reduced from 135.6 in 2008/09 to 122.6 in 2009/10 and the
target has been achieved.
Obesity targets for primary school children in both reception and year 6 have been
met for 2009/10.
Post 16 participation in the physical sciences (physics, chemistry and maths) has
increased compared to prior year data.

•

•
•

•
•

•
•

2.2

The following projects have been completed or assessed as green (all milestones
that should have been met at this point have been met):
!
!
!

!
!
!
!

!

!
!
!
!
!
!

Raise overall educational attainment.
Improve outreach of all Children’s Centres to vulnerable families and ensure that
the Full Core Offer is met by all Extended Schools to support the ECM agenda.
Implement training programme re data, including neighbourhood data, on effects
of poverty on achievement, to all relevant professionals in schools, across the
partnership, and in VCF sector.
Early Years - To narrow the gap through improving the performance of the most
vulnerable children and those at risk of under-achievement.
To continue to improve the threshold so that all children’s performance improves
in the EYFSP.
Primary - Raise KS1 attainment across the board, particularly that of girls in
mathematics at L2+ and in all subjects at L2b+ and L3+ for boys and girls.
Accelerate improvements in Hard to Shift schools and those which are below
floor or around the new floor target of 55% floor target for combined English and
mathematics at L4+.
By aiming for all pupils to make at least 2 levels progress and building on the
good conversions this year from L3+ to L5, narrow the gap for all pupils that are
still at risk of underperformance, particularly including FMS and Children in Care.
Secondary - Ensuring that in all schools at least 30% of pupils achieve 5 A*-C
including English and mathematics (National Challenge).
Ensuring that an increasing number of pupils make 2 levels of progress in each
key stage, especially those pupils from deprived areas.
Improving attainment in mathematics across all key stages.
14-19 Education Plan.
LSC Quality Assurance Framework post-16.
Borough EET Strategy.
2

FOURTH QUARTER/YEAR END PERFORMANCE REPORT
Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Page 10

!
!
!
!

!

!
!

IYS Strategy.
Support Wirral Care Leavers to access Higher Education and achieve academic
success.
Strategically plan to support coherent and joined up development of Area Teams,
Children’s Centres and Extended Schools.
More timely progression of plans, for more children to be adopted or achieve
permanence through Special Guardianship, Residence Orders, where this will
best meet their needs.
Implement multi-agency plans to safely support more children on the edge of
care and in care, incorporating measures to be implemented through the
Children in Care Act.
Implement the Child Obesity Action Plan which includes action on physical
activity, food and drink, breast-feeding and Healthy Schools and pre schools.
In partnership with local HEIs, deliver targeted activity for the named Aim Higher
cohort in secondary schools and colleges as part of the Aim Higher progression
framework.

The following projects have been assessed as amber (not all milestones that should have
been met at this point have been met):
!

2.3

Implement and sustain improved processes for contact, referral and assessment
– the ‘front door’ into social care.

Performance issues
The following indicators have not met the quarterly target by more than 10% and are
therefore assessed as red or have missed the target by between 5% and 10% and
are assessed as amber:
Data Key
(P)
Provisional

There are 9 indicators assessed as red followed by 7 assessed as amber.

Portfolio

PI
Title
no

Children’s
Services &
Lifelong
Learning

NI
65

2009/201 2009/201 On
0
0
targe
Target
Actual
t

Percentage of children becoming the
subject of Child Protection Plan for a
second or subsequent time.

15.0%
(Lower is
Better)

16.9%
(P)

Red

Direction
of travel
Deteriorated

Context: This indicator has shown an improvement in each quarter in 2009/10.
Corrective Action: (P) This is a provisional figure. Final data to be published June 2010. Lessons from the
themed audit are being embedded within practice and increased managerial capacity is now in place to
oversee children’s plans.

3
FOURTH QUARTER/YEAR END PERFORMANCE REPORT
Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Page 11

Portfolio
Children’s
Services &
Lifelong
Learning

2009/201
0
Target

PI
Title
no

NI
78

Reduction in number of schools where
fewer than 30% of pupils achieve 5 or
more A*- C grades at GCSE and
equivalent including GCSEs in English
and Maths

2
(Lower is
Better)

2009/201 On
0
targe
Actual
t

4

Red

Direction
of travel

Unchanged

Context:
Corrective Action: The LA self-assessment is that all 4 schools are either on a sustainable trajectory to be
above the floor target by 2011 or are in or being considered for a structural solution. Targeted National
Challenge Adviser support continues for all 4 schools. Targeted curriculum support from the LA has
continued. The four schools between them are receiving approximately half of the in-school curriculum
support available from the LA.
2009/201
0
Target

Portfolio

PI
Title
no

Children’s
Services &
Lifelong
Learning

Reduction of number of schools judged
0
NI as requiring special measures and
(Lower is
89a improvement in time taken to come out of
Better)
the category - Number of Schools

2009/201 On
0
targe
Actual
t
1

Red

Direction
of travel
Deteriorated

Context: Every school that is in special measures requires a statement of action from the Local Authority that
is verified by Ofsted which lists the actions the school has to take, the support the LA will provide or broker
and processes for monitoring and evaluating the action plan.
Corrective Action: A half termly case conference is chaired by the Head of Branch, the Head Teacher, the
Chair of Governors and other LA officers at which the action plan is monitored and the progress of the school
is held to account. 2 Monitoring visits by Ofsted have taken place, the latest one in March 2010 where
progress against the key issues identified is measured. The inspection was rated satisfactory and the LA
continues to explore structural solutions.

Portfolio

PI
no

Title

2009/201
0
Target

Children’s
Services &
Lifelong
Learning

NI
102
a

Achievement gap between pupils
eligible for free school meals and their
peers achieving the expected level at
Key Stages 2

21.0%
(Lower is
Better)

2009/201 On
0
targe
Actual
t
24.5%

Red

Direction
of travel
Deteriorated

Context:
Corrective Action: LA has produced a World Class Primary Action Plan that categorises schools into
segments and details the specific actions that will support the ‘Narrowing the Gap’ agenda for the coming
year. Targeting of intervention to support learning and narrow gaps in attainment in literacy/mathematics.
Address the needs of vulnerable and underperforming groups, drawing on the Narrowing the Gaps materials
for literacy subject leaders.

4

FOURTH QUARTER/YEAR END PERFORMANCE REPORT
Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Page 12

Portfolio

PI
Title
no

2009/201
0
Target

Children’s
Services &
Lifelong
Learning

The Special Educational Needs
NI
(SEN)/non-SEN gap – achieving 5 A*- C
105
GCSE inc. English and Maths

42%
(Lower is
Better)

2009/201 On
0
targe
Actual
t
49.7%

Red

Direction
of travel
Deteriorated

Context: The trend nationally for this indicator indicates an increase from last year.
Corrective Action: The LA will identify the actual Special Educational Needs (SEN) percentage gap in all
schools and target those schools with biggest discrepancies. English and Maths principal managers will look
carefully at performance of SEN pupils at end of the Key Stage and analyse the data across schools as well
as within the school itself. Appropriate targeted interventions that are rigorously evaluated will be agreed to
ensure overall SEN attainment increases for all categories of SEN (i.e. School Action, School Action Plus and
Statemented.) Ensuring that SEN Benchmarking tools are used effectively in all schools to set challenging
end of Key Stage and year-on-year SEN targets which are challenged by School Improvement Partners and
principal managers during their school support activities.

Portfolio

PI
Title
no

2009/201
0
Target

Children’s
Services &
Lifelong
Learning

NI Percentage reduction in the under 18
112 conception rate

-28%
(Lower is
Better)

2009/201 On
0
targe
Actual
t
-21%

Red

Direction
of travel
Improved

Context: Teenage conception rates in Wirral are showing a steady decline; this is against the national and
regional trend. This target and outturn relates to the latest data release from the Office of National Statistics
(ONS) which is 2008 calendar year. There is a reporting lag in reporting conception data due to gestation
period and time frame for registering a child’s birth. Local data is collected and reported more frequently.
Corrective Action: In order to reduce the teenage conception rate further in Wirral, targeted support
interventions will continue to be developed and implemented for the most vulnerable groups.
Recommendations made in the refreshed National Teenage Pregnancy Strategy will also be incorporated
into the Strategic Priority Action Plan to ensure gaps in provision are addressed. Further actions implemented
since the last reporting period include: Rolling programme of sexual health training for Children and Young
People workforce, including further development of training courses for foster carers. 533 staff attended
multi-agency Sex and Relationships training between April 2009 and March 2010. Young Parent’s Advisor
post was extended and is based within Connexions and conducts risk assessments with all pregnant girls
under the age of 19 that access the Young Women’s Antenatal Clinic at Arrowe Park. Alongside the service
offered by the Teenage Pregnancy Midwife the postholder is able to advise pregnant teenagers and their
partners on issues such as housing, finances, education and employment, offending and drug and alcohol
abuse, with a view to reducing high risk behaviours and offering crisis intervention if required. Development
of targeted support programmes for hotspot areas – Virtual Babies Education Programme and Peer
Mentoring Education Programme to run in new academic year. Health Services in Schools implementation
already showing encouraging results, full implementation planned for July 2010. Expansion of Wirral Brook
LARC provision. Further development of the role of Teenage Pregnancy Champions across Wirral. Media
training day conducted with Champions to ensure delivery of consistent messages.

5
FOURTH QUARTER/YEAR END PERFORMANCE REPORT
Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Page 13

Portfolio

PI
Title
no

2009/201
0
Target

Children’s
Services &
Lifelong
Learning

16 to 18 year olds who are not in
NI
education, employment or training
117
(NEET)

7.1%
(Lower is
Better)

2009/201 On
0
targe
Actual
t
8.9%

Red

Direction
of travel
Unchanged

Context: The improved performance (9.1% in 2008/09) has been achieved against a backdrop of the
economic downturn.
Corrective Action: A newly formed TIGER group has been formed to address the issue of NEET with a
particular emphasis on agreeing shared actions in order to meet the required reduction percentage for the
PSA target. This is a further 2% reduction from current position. This is chaired by Mike Potter, the Principal
of Wirral Metropolitan College. The group will meet on a regular basis with a task and finish approach. The
first task is to map available provision against the preferences of the active NEET group. An initial action plan
has been produced with joint accountabilities. Work towards the January Guarantee is well underway. The
eligible cohort (young people of academic age 16 and 17) will be continually tracked and monitored via
performance submissions to DCSF up until the 31st March 2010. As this is the first year of introduction, there
were no targets set or previous year’s benchmarks regarding achievement of the guarantee. Focus also
remains on supporting 18 year olds NEET, an increasing group, helping them to secure places in education,
employment or training if that is the most appropriate option for them. This also comes at a time of significant
new opportunities through Jobcentre Plus with the implementation of the Young Person’s Guarantee and
Future Jobs Fund for 18 year olds. Connexions and Jobcentre Plus advisers are working together to support
18 year olds into an opportunity that best meets their needs.
2009/201 2009/201 On
0
0
targe
Target
Actual
t

Title

Portfolio

PI no

Children’s
Services &
Lifelong
Learning

LOCA
Participation in and outcomes from
L
youth work: Participation
1700a

21%

18%

Red

Direction
of travel
Deteriorate
d

Context: A re-organisation of the Youth Service has been in development in 2009/10.
Corrective Action: Following a period where there has been a vacancy factor and we have been unable to fill
posts the service is now reconfigured and is more attractive to young people with the Hub about to launch.
These 4 "super centres", one in each district of Wirral will offer more services and attract more young people
to engage in positive activity.
2009/201
0
Target

Title

Portfolio

PI no

Children’s
Services &
Lifelong
Learning

LOCA
Participation in and outcomes from
L
youth work: Accredited Outcomes
1700c

25%

2009/201 On
0
targe
Actual
t
21%

Red

Direction
of travel
Deteriorate
d

Context: A re-organisation of the Youth Service has been in development in 2009/10.
Corrective Action: Accredited outcomes are down on target. This could be due to the ‘V’ award not being
taken up since the Youth Federation stopped being the provider. The accreditations will increase with the
reconfigured service and the rolling out of the Duke of Edinburgh award.

6

FOURTH QUARTER/YEAR END PERFORMANCE REPORT
Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Page 14

Portfolio

PI
Title
no

Children’s
Services &
Lifelong
Learning

NI
53

2009/201 2009/201
On
0
0
target
Target
Actual

Prevalence of breast-feeding at 6-8 wks
from birth

29.9%

28%

Amber

Direction
of travel
Unchanged

Context: The end or year forecast figure is an estimate.
Corrective Action: To ensure delivery of the breast feeding target an action plan has been agreed with the
following actions now in place: 1. appointment of two additional Advanced Practitioner/Infant Feeding
Specialists to coordinate/oversee the implementation of the UNICEF Baby Friendly Scheme; 2.
Commissioning a breastfeeding peer support programme to target areas of deprivation and low take up of
breastfeeding.

Portfolio

PI
Title
no

Children’s
Services &
Lifelong
Learning

NI
59

2009/201
0
Target

Percentage of initial assessments for
children's social care carried out within 7
working days of referral.

72%

2009/201
On
0
target
Actual
67.5%
(P)

Amber

Direction
of travel
Deteriorated

Context: This NI has risen from 62.6% in Q3 to 67.5% in Q4; this is against a backdrop of sustained inflated
referrals to Children’s Social Care compared to the same period in the previous year.
Corrective Action: (P) This is a provisional figure. Final data to be published June 2010. There has been a
very slight increase in the percentage of initial assessments completed within the 7 day timescale. New
guidance supporting data inputting into ICS has been issued. Further investment in training on ICS – to be
delivered to all social workers during the first half of new financial year; rolling social work advert continues,
permanent Practice Managers and Advanced Social Work Practitioners now in post in all Assessment
Teams, contact being made with best performing authorities to identify any factors to improve practice; team
and individual social worker plans continue to be reported to fortnightly Contact, Referral and Assessment
Meeting to monitor performance.

Portfolio

PI
Title
no

Children’s
Services &
Lifelong
Learning

NI
60

2009/201 2009/201
On
0
0
target
Target
Actual

Percentage of core assessments for
children's social care that were carried
out within 35 working days of their
commencement

80%

73.6%
(P)

Amber

Direction
of travel
Deteriorated

Context: This NI has improved from 61.1% in Q3 to 73.6% in Q4; this is against a backdrop of sustained
inflated referrals to Children’s Social Care compared to the same period in the previous year.
Corrective Action: (P) This is a provisional figure. Final data to be published June 2010. Corrective action is
the same as that referenced for NI 59 – intensive ICS training to be delivered during the first half of 2010/11,
rolling social work advert monthly, increased managerial oversight through permanent Practice Managers /
Advanced Social Workers in post in all Assessment Teams, contact being made with best performing
authorities to learn lessons, continued oversight though Team and individual plans being monitored at
fortnightly Contact, Referral and Assessment Meeting.

7
FOURTH QUARTER/YEAR END PERFORMANCE REPORT
Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Page 15

Portfolio

PI
Title
no

Children’s
Services &
Lifelong
Learning

NI
66

2009/201 2009/201
On
0
0
target
Target
Actual

Looked after children cases which were
reviewed within required timescales.

100.0%

94.9%
(P)

Amber

Direction
of travel
Unchanged

Context: Performance is rated as “good” by Ofsted.
Corrective Action: (P) This is a provisional figure. Final data to be published June 2010. 575 out of 606
reviews were completed within timescale an audit of cases and reviewing timescales has been carried out
and the findings will be implemented for 2010/11.

Portfolio
Children’s
Services &
Lifelong
Learning

2009/201 2009/201
On
0
0
target
Target
Actual

PI
Title
no

NI
72

Achievement of at least 78 points across
the Early Years Foundation Stage with at
least 6 in each of the scales in Personal
Social and Emotional Development and
Communication, Language and Literacy

57%

52%

Amber

Direction
of travel

Improved

Context:
Corrective Action: Support is in place regarding the use and analysis of data at LA, school and setting levels
to identify children who are at risk of underachieving. Children, classes and schools making less than
expected progress or with weaknesses in provision are identified for early literacy, speaking and listening
support. Individual and collective support is provided for local networks. Practitioners are embedding best
practice in the teaching of early literacy skills to develop the transition from Reception to year 1. The schoolbased leadership of the early literacy agenda is being strengthened in order that schools may build the
capacity to sustain their own improvements. School Improvement Partners (SIPS) are enabled to develop
their brokering role in early literacy improvement.
2009/201 2009/201
On
0
0
target
Target
Actual

Portfolio

PI
Title
no

Children’s
Services &
Lifelong
Learning

NI
Delivery of Sure Start Children’s Centres
109

100%

94%

Amber

Direction
of travel
N/A

Context:
Corrective Action: (P) This is a provisional figure awaiting final publication data. All 16 children's Centres
have been designated by Together for Children (TfC) however, 1 has yet to meet the full core offer. The
timescale is two years from initial designation.
2009/201 2009/201
On
0
0
target
Target
Actual

Title

Portfolio

PI no

Children’s
Services &
Lifelong
Learning

LOCA
L
Number of looked after children
1400

590
(Lower is
Better)

629

Amber

Direction
of travel
Unchanged

Context: The national context is of increased numbers of children in care, post Baby Peter.
Corrective Action: (P) Continued focussed planning is in place to reduce numbers of children in care; where
safe and feasible. Preventative measures include investment in Area Teams and preventative initiatives such as
Multi-systemic Therapy and Family Group Conferencing. There is continued focus on supporting children to

8

FOURTH QUARTER/YEAR END PERFORMANCE REPORT
Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Page 16

achieve permanence through adoption and special guardianship. A project plan is in place to reduce the
numbers of children placed with parents. Principal Team Managers have been recruited to improve tight
tracking of children’s cases, to reduce the likelihood of drift, and a team looked after children tracking tool is in
place.

2.4 Projects

Project/Activity

Implement and sustain improved
processes for contact, referral
and assessment – the ‘front door’
into social care.

2.5

Status

AMBER

Corrective Action

Due to corrective action in quarter 3, the percentage of
referrals going on to initial assessment has improved
although improvements are still required for timeliness of
addressing initial core assessments.

Risks
In quarter four, Phase two of the academies project remains at risk due to outstanding
final decisions regarding the closure of the two existing schools and approval for the
new academy.

3.0 Recommendations:
3.1 That Wirral Children’s Trust Board note the report.

Report Author:
Nancy Clarkson
Head of Planning and Performance

Contact:
Phone: 6664329
Email: nancyclarkson@wirral.gov.uk

Appendices:
Appendix 1 – Performance Indicator Summary

9
FOURTH QUARTER/YEAR END PERFORMANCE REPORT
Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Page 17

Appendix 1
Performance Indicator Summary
For year end a complete summary of indicators is provided:
Direction of Travel Summary
No. of
% PIs
PIs
18.85%
23 Improved by more than 2.5% on previous year's performance
13.93%
17 Deteriorated by more than 2.5% on previous year's performance
13.11%
16 Stayed within +/-2.5% of previous year's performance
50.00%
61 Awaiting data
4.10%
5 Not applicable
100.00%

122

Target Summary
No. of
% PIs
PIs
18.03%
22
4.10%
7
9.02%
9
7.38%
9
50.00%
61
11.48%
14
0.00%
0
100.00%

122

(Note: percentages rounded to 2 decimal places)

Green (within +10/-5% of the target)
Amber (missed target by between 5% and 10%)
Red (missed target by more than 10%)
Over-performing (more than 10% of the target)
Awaiting data
Target not set
Not Applicable
(Note: percentages rounded to 2 decimal places)

A number of indicators with no data have been removed from the summary below. Context
has been provided to indicate why 2009/10 data and targets and are not available.

PI No.

Title

08/09
Actual

09/2010
Actual

09/2010
Target

On Target

Direction of Travel

NI
19

Rate of proven re-offending
by young offenders aged 10- 1.3
17

1.25

Provisional 9 month re-offending
data for 2009/10 data submitted to
the YJB on 30/4/10, final 9 month reoffending data to be published on
02/06/10

NI
43

Young people within the YJS
receiving a conviction in
4.0%
court who are sentenced to
custody

5.0%

Q4 2009/10 data submitted to the
YJB on 30/4/10, final data to be
published on 02/06/10.

NI
44

Ethnic composition of
offenders on Youth Justice
System disposals

0.0%

0.00%

Annual 2009/10 data submitted to
the YJB on 30/4/10, final data to be
published on 02/06/10

NI
44a

Ethnic composition of
offenders on Youth Justice

0.3%

0.0%

Provisional 2009/10 data released
30/4/10, final data published 6 wks

10

FOURTH QUARTER/YEAR END PERFORMANCE REPORT
Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Page 18

PI No.

Title

08/09
Actual

09/2010
Actual

09/2010
Target

System disposals (WHITE)

On Target

Direction of Travel

later

NI
44b

Ethnic composition of
offenders on Youth Justice
System disposals. (MIXED)

NI
44c

Ethnic composition of
offenders on Youth Justice
System disposals. (BLACK
OR BLACK BRITISH)

0.4%

0.0

NI
44d

Ethnic composition of
offenders on Youth Justice
System disposals. (ASIAN
OR ASIAN BRITISH)

-0.3%

0.0

Provisional 2009/10 data released
30/4/10, final data published 6 wks
later

NI
44e

Ethnic composition of
offenders on Youth Justice
System disposals.
(CHINESE/OTHER)

-0.6%

0.0

Provisional 2009/10 data released
30/4/10, final data published 6 wks
later

NI
45

Young offender's
engagement in suitable
education, training and
employment.

82.0%

90.0%

Quarter 4 2009/10 data submitted to
the YJB on 30/4/10, final data to be
published on 02/06/10

NI
46

Young offenders access to
suitable accommodation

98.2%

100.0%

Q4 2009/10 data submitted to the
YJB on 30/4/10, the final year end
data will be published on 02/06/10

NI
50

Emotional health of children

60%

57%

NI
51

Effectiveness of child and
adolescent mental health
(CAMHS) services

16

16 (P)

16

Green

NI
52a

Take up of school lunches primary

40.8%

2009/10 data published July 2010.
Insufficient data to set targets

NI
52b

Take up of school lunches secondary

38.5%

2009/10 data published July 2010.
Insufficient data to set targets

NI
53

Prevalence of breast-feeding
28%
at 6-8 wks from birth

28%

BVPI
54

Provision of Services for
Disabled Children

63%

Baseline year, target setting from
2011/12

NI
55

Obesity in primary school
age children in Reception

9.57%

9.3%
(Lower is 9.37%
Better)

Green

NI
56

Obesity in primary school
age children in Year 6

20.4%
19.11% (Lower is 20.4%
Better)

Green

NI
57

Children and young people’s
participation in high-quality
71%
PE and sport.

2009/10 data to be published
1/10/10. Target setting commences
2010/11

NI
58

Emotional and behavioural
health of looked after
children

2009/10 data to published June
2010. This is a new indicator from
2008/09, no targets were set for
2009/10

0.2%

0.0%

29.9%

15.3

11
FOURTH QUARTER/YEAR END PERFORMANCE REPORT
Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Page 19

Provisional 2009/10 data released
30/4/10, final data published 6 wks
later
Provisional 2009/10 data released
30/4/10, final data published 6 wks
later

Amber

PI No.

Title

08/09
Actual

09/2010
Actual

09/2010
Target

On Target

NI
59

Percentage of initial
assessments for children's
77.4%
social care carried out within
7 working days of referral.

67.5%
(P)

72%

Amber

NI
60

Percentage of core
assessments for children's
social care that were carried 79.1%
out within 35 working days of
their commencement

73.6%
(P)

80%

Amber

NI
61

Timeliness of placements of
looked after children for
adoption following an agency 61.1%
decision that the child should
be placed for adoption

81.8%
(P)

68%

Over
Performing

NI
62

Stability of placements of
looked after children: number 10.2%
of placements

7.3% (P)
(Lower is 10.0%
Better)

Over
Performing

NI
63

Stability of placements of
looked after children: length
of placement

69.9%
(P)

Green

NI
64

Child Protection Plans lasting
4.8%
2 years or more

2.9% (P)
(Lower is 5.0%
Better)

Over
Performing

NI
65

Percentage of children
becoming the subject of
Child Protection Plan for a
second or subsequent time.

11.2%

16.9% (P)
(Lower is 15.0%
Better)

Red

NI
66

Looked after children cases
which were reviewed within
required timescales.

96.3%

94.9%
(P)

100.0%

Amber

NI
67

Percentage of child
protection cases which were
99.2%
reviewed within required
timescales

97.4%
(P)

100.0%

Green

NI
68

Percentage of referrals to
children's social care going
on to initial assessment

71.7%
(P)

72%

Green

NI
69

Children who have
experienced bullying

67.5%

64.3%

70%

Direction of Travel

26.8%

The data for 2009/10 is not directly
comparable to the 2008/09 data due
to changes in the survey collection.
Insufficient data to set targets.

NI
70

Reduce emergency hospital
admissions caused by
unintentional and deliberate 135.6
injuries to children and young
people

122.6
(Lower is 129.8
Better)

Green

NI
71

Children who have run away
from home or care

14

14 (E)

Green

NI
72

Achievement of at least 78
points across the Early Years
Foundation Stage with at
49%
least 6 in each of the scales
in Personal Social and

52%

57%

Amber

45.9%

12

FOURTH QUARTER/YEAR END PERFORMANCE REPORT
Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Page 20

n/a

PI No.

Title

08/09
Actual

09/2010
Actual

09/2010
Target

On Target

Emotional Development and
Communication, Language
and Literacy
NI
73

Achievement at level 4 or
above in both English and
Maths at Key Stage 2

74%

74%

77%

Green

NI
75

Achievement of 5 or more
A*- C grades at GCSE or
equivalent including English
and Maths

50.2%

53.8%

55.2%

Green

NI
76

Reduction in number of
schools where fewer than
55% of pupils achieve level 4 8
or above in both English and
Maths at KS2

11
(Lower is 13
Better)

Over
Performing

NI
78

Reduction in number of
schools where fewer than
30% of pupils achieve 5 or
4
more A*- C grades at GCSE
and equivalent including
GCSEs in English and Maths

4
(Lower is 2
Better)

Red

NI
79

Achievement of a Level 2
74%
qualification by the age of 19

75.7%
(P)

Historical Data has
recently been published;
targets will be set from
2010/11.

NI
80

Achievement of a Level 3
48.0%
qualification by the age of 19

47.0%
(P)

Historical Data has
recently been published;
targets will be set from
2010/11.

NI
81

Inequality gap in the
achievement of a Level 3
32.8%
qualification by the age of 19

Historical Data has
31.8% (P)
recently been published;
(Lower is
targets will be set from
Better)
2010/11.

NI
82

Inequality gap in the
achievement of a Level 2
59.5%
qualification by the age of 19

57.5%
(P)

Historical Data has
recently been published;
targets will be set from
2010/11.

NI
84

Achievement of 2 or more
A*- C grades in Science
GCSEs or equivalent

53.4%

60.5%

58.7%

NI
85a

Post-16 participation in
physical sciences (Physics)

128

133

2008/09 was the baseline
year, insufficient data to
set targets

NI
85b

Post-16 participation in
physical sciences
(Chemistry)

246

270

2008/09 was the baseline
year, insufficient data to
set targets

NI
85c

Post-16 participation in
physical sciences (Maths)

276

306

2008/09 was the baseline
year, insufficient data to
set targets

NI
86

Secondary schools judged
as having good or
outstanding standards of

86%

90.9%

88%

13
FOURTH QUARTER/YEAR END PERFORMANCE REPORT
Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Page 21

Green

Green

Direction of Travel

PI No.

Title

08/09
Actual

09/2010
Actual

09/2010
Target

On Target

Direction of Travel

behaviour
NI
87

Secondary school persistent
4.9%
absence rate

4.5%
(Lower is 6.4%
Better)

Over
Performing

NI
88

Percentage of schools
providing access to extended 65.9%
services

99% (P)

Over
Performing

NI
89a

Reduction of number of
schools judged as requiring
special measures and
0
improvement in time taken to
come out of the category Number of Schools

1
(Lower is 0
Better)

NI
89b

Reduction of number of
schools judged as requiring
special measures and
improvement in time taken to
come out of the category time taken

NI
90

Take up of 14-19 Learning
Diplomas

Learning Diplomas were introduced
into Wirral for Academic Year
2009/10. 2009/10 data published
29/10/10

NI
91

Participation of 17 year-olds
in education or training

There is a data lag with this indicator;
data for 2008/09 will be available in
June 2010. Insufficient data to set
targets

NI
92

Narrowing the gap between
the lowest achieving 20% in
the Early Years Foundation
Stage Profile and the rest

31.9%

31.3%
(Lower is 30.2%
Better)

Green

NI
93

Progression by 2 levels in
English between Key Stage
1 and Key Stage 2

86%

84%

86%

Green

NI
94

Progression by 2 levels in
Maths between Key Stage 1 78%
and Key Stage 2

80%

79%

Green

NI
99

Looked after children
reaching level 4 in English at 62.0%
Key Stage 2

59%

44%

Over
Performing

NI
100

Looked after children
reaching level 4 in maths at
Key Stage 2

62.0%

50%

44%

Over
Performing

NI
101

Looked after children
achieving 5 A*-C GCSEs (or
equivalent) at Key Stage 4
10.5%
(including English and
maths)

7.4%
(P)

7.4%

Green

NI
102a

Achievement gap between
pupils eligible for free school
meals and their peers
21.8%
achieving the expected level
at Key Stages 2

24.5%
(Lower is 21.0%
Better)

85.3%

0

14

FOURTH QUARTER/YEAR END PERFORMANCE REPORT
Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Page 22

Red

Awaiting data from the DCSF

Red

PI No.

Title

08/09
Actual

09/2010
Actual

09/2010
Target

On Target

NI
102b

Achievement gap between
pupils eligible for free school
meals and their peers
37.4
achieving the expected level
at Key Stages 4

36.9
Target setting will take
(Lower is
place from 2010/11
Better)

NI
103a

Percentage of final SEN
statements issued within 26
weeks (Excluding
exceptions).

97.1%

100%

98.0%

Green

NI
103b

Percentage of final SEN
statements issued within 26 90.7%
weeks (Including exceptions)

99.2%

92.0%

Green

NI
104

The Special Educational
Needs SEN/non-SEN gap –
51.2%
achieving Key Stage 2
English and Maths threshold

52.4%
(Lower is 52%
Better)

Green

NI
105

The Special Educational
Needs (SEN)/non-SEN gap –
46.4%
achieving 5 A*- C GCSE inc.
English and Maths

49.7%
(Lower is 42%
Better)

Red

NI
106

Young people from low
income backgrounds
progressing to higher
education

NI
107b

Key Stage 2 attainment for
Black and minority ethnic
groups (Any Other White
Background)

NI
109

Delivery of Sure Start
Children’s Centres

Direction of Travel

The latest data is for 2007/08

%

77.8

71

Green

94% (P)

100%

Amber

n/a

There is insufficient data
to set targets. Target
Setting to commence
2010/11

NI
110

Young people's participation
80.5%
in positive activities

NI
111

First time entrants into the
YJS aged 10 - 17

1578

NI
112

Percentage reduction in the
under 18 conception rate

-6.3%

NI
113

Prevalence of Chlamydia in
under 25 year olds

21%

17%

NI
114

Rate of permanent
exclusions from school

0.08

0.07

NI
115

Substance misuse by young
11.1%
people

NI
116

Proportion of children in
poverty

67.3%

n/a

1570
-21%
(Lower is -28%
Better)

The data for this indicator will be
submitted annually by the YJB using
the Police database PNC
Red

2008/09 data due 30/7/10

There is insufficient data
13.9%
to set targets. Target
(Lower is
Setting to commence
Better)
2010/11
Indicator is calculated by the Department of
Work and Pensions, latest data is for 2007/08
15

FOURTH QUARTER/YEAR END PERFORMANCE REPORT
Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Page 23

PI No.

Title

08/09
Actual

09/2010
Actual

09/2010
Target

On Target

Direction of Travel

NI
117

16 to 18 year olds who are
not in education,
employment or training
(NEET)

NI
118

Take up of formal childcare
by low-income working
families

NI
147

Care leavers in suitable
accommodation

91.4%

95%

NI
148

Care leavers in education,
employment or training

55.2%

2009/10 data due 30/9/2010. Historical data
recently published, targets to be set from
2010/11

NI
161

Number of Level 1
qualifications in literacy
(including ESOL) achieved

1767

There is a data lag with this indicator. Latest
data available is from 2008/09. There is
insufficient data to set targets

NI
162

Number of Entry Level
qualifications in numeracy
achieved

240

There is a data lag with this indicator. Latest
data available is from 2008/09. There is
insufficient data to set targets

NI
199

Children and young people’s
satisfaction with parks and
49.2%
play areas

52.5%

There is insufficient data
to set targets

Percentage of schools
LOCAL achieving healthy school
100%
1268
status in the National Healthy
School Programme

100%

100%

LOCAL Number of looked after
1400
children

626

629
(Lower is 590
Better)

Amber

Percentage of referrals
LOCAL
progressed to CIN
1401
assessment (NI 68 proxy)

67.6%

77%

72%

Green

Participation in and
LOCAL
outcomes from youth work:
1700a
Participation

21%

18%

21%

Red

Participation in and
LOCAL
outcomes from youth work:
1700b
Recorded Outcomes

72%

73%

63%

Over
Performing

Participation in and
LOCAL
outcomes from youth work:
1700c
Accredited Outcomes

23%

21%

25%

Red

9.1%

8.9%
(Lower is 7.1%
Better)

Red

Due to data lag with this indicator, data for
2008/09 will be available May 2010. Insufficient
data to set targets

16

FOURTH QUARTER/YEAR END PERFORMANCE REPORT
Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Page 24

2009/10 data due 30/09/10

Green

Agenda Item 6
WIRRAL CHILDREN’S TRUST BOARD – 28th May 2010
LOCAL AREA AGREEMENT 2009/10 - QUARTER 4

1.0 Background
Wirral’s Local Area Agreement (LAA) is monitored by the Local Strategic Partnership (LSP).
Wirral Children’s Trust represents the Children’s Block of the LSP and is responsible for the
delivery of LAA targets related to children and young people. Quarterly reports related to the
LAA targets are presented to the Board for scrutiny.
This report provides an update on progress towards targets, in addition information is
provided to supply context to the indicators and to highlight any issues with reporting.

2.0 Recommendations:
2.1 That Wirral Children’s Trust Board note the report.

Report Author:
Nancy Clarkson
Head of Planning and Performance

Contact:
Phone: 6664329
Email: nancyclarkson@wirral.gov.uk

Appendices:
Appendix 1 Local Area Agreement 2009/10 Quarter 4 Position

Page 25

Quarter 4: January - March

2009/10

Wirral Children's Trust - Local Area Agreement Report

Page 26

9.25

9.3

9.35

9.4

9.45

9.5

9.55

9.6

9.65

9.3

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

2005/06

9.37

9.6

9.37

2006/07

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10
9.4
9.3
-

2009/10

2010/11
9.5

2010/11

England

2008/09
9.2
9.6
10.5
9.6
Wirral Actual

2007/08
9.6
11.0
9.1

Target

9.37

Quarter 4

Actual

Stats Neighbour

2006/07
9.1
11.2
9.9

Target

Quarter 3

Actual

Wirral Target

2005/06
-

Target

Quarter 2

Actual

9.3

Improvement Direction:
Up
Quarter 3
Quarter 4
Actual
Target
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 55: Obesity in Reception

9.3

Quarter 2
Actual
Target

Target

Quarter 1

Actual

Wirral Target
Wirral Actual
Stats Neighbour
England

9.15

9.2

9.37

Quarter 1
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 55: Obesity in Reception

Howard Cooper
CYPD and Health
Children and Young People's Department

NI 55: Obesity in Reception

Life Chances for Children and Young People

Green

Green

Green

NHS Wirral has been involved in research with the Department of Health about how we share our NCMP data.

20/05/10

A pilot will take place to engage with targeted families and provide further support for children. Six schools have been identified based on their child obesity levels to be part of a
pilot Active Lifestyles Project led by the School Sport Partnerships. These schools will offer additional activities on healthy eating and physical activity to children and their families.
One member of staff from each of the schools has attended one day awareness training on obesity.

The National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP) recommenced in January 2010 for this academic year of reception and year 6 school children. Once again, all parents
whose child is measured will receive a letter informing them of their child’s weight.

Quarter Four

0

Quarter Three

0

Quarter Two

The School Nurse Support Team have been carrying out the weighing and measuring of the children since Easter and will continue to do so up to the school holidays which will
complete the measuring phase. For the first time this year, the School Nurse Support Team have been delivering sessions and fun activities alongside the weighing and
measuring which reinforce the healthy weight messages. The initial feedback from the children and school staff has been very positive and these sessions have been well
received. Also this year, parents have received a feedback letter informing them of their child’s weight. The School Nursing Service has received to date approximately 50-60
complaints in response to these letters and these issues are being recorded and answered. This feedback is being reported to the Department of Health. On 9th July at the
regional National Child Measurement Programme workshop, Wirral will be presenting and feeding back our experiences of the routine feedback to parents as well as the new
developments that we have added to this programme. We have received the resources which have been specifically designed to support this programme and individual
workbooks have been designed for Reception and Year 6 school children as well as for parents.

RAG
Green

Positions Statement
Quarter One

Estimates are based on previous school year's annual data and lower figures are better.
Free weekly physical activity sessions for children under 5 years old are being set up predominately in Children Centres which are located in the higher areas of childhood obesity
for Wirral.

Context

Wirral Children's Trust - Local Area Agreement Report 2009/10

LAA Improvement Priority
Performance Indicator
Sponsor
Lead Organisation
Service Area

Page 27

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

44.6

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

2005/06

60.9

72

Quarter 2
Actual
Target

64.7

72

2006/07

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10
72.0
71.7
-

2009/10

2010/11
75.0

2010/11

England

2008/09
71.0
64.3
60.9
64.0
Wirral Actual

2007/08
66.0
63.1
59.4

72

Target

Quarter 4

Actual

Stats Neighbour

2006/07
40.5
64.1
56.0

Target

Quarter 3

Actual

Wirral Target

2005/06
42.4
62.4
52.7

Target

Quarter 2

Actual

71.7

Improvement Direction:
Up
Quarter 3
Quarter 4
Actual
Target
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 68: Referrals to Initial Assessment

Target

Quarter 1

Actual

Wirral Target
Wirral Actual
Stats Neighbour
England

0

10

72

Quarter 1
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 68: Referrals to Initial Assessment

Howard Cooper
Children's Social Care
Children and Young People's Department

NI 68: Referrals to Initial Assessment

Safely Reducing the Number of Children Looked After

Red

RAG

Red

Red

(P) This is a provisional figure. Final data to be published June 2010.

Quarter Four

20/05/10

Green

This NI has risen from 60.9% in Q2 to 64.7% in Q3, this is against a backdrop of sustained inflated referrals to Children's Social Care compared to the same period in the previous
year. Single Central Advice and Duty Team (CADT) Manager is now in post to provide increased consistency, in addition, increased Area Team Leader capacity will commence
from February 2010 to increase support for agencies undertaking Common Assessment Framework (CAF) and Team around the Child (TAC) meetings. Partnership work is
ongoing to clarify domestic violence referrals, improved guidance in place at CADT. A number of new social workers have been in place since October and interviewing for the new
Social Care structure is ongoing, the majority of posts are expected to be filled by March 2010. Further action in progress includes, embedding multiagency teams, ongoing scrutiny
by LSCB of consistent threshold application and consistent Social Care decision making and timely data input. The continued impact of an increased numbers of social workers
and the embedding of the new structure is expected to increase this figure further by the end of March. However, it is expected that the year end outturn will fall short of the year en

Quarter Three

There remains an increase in the level of referrals that are coming into Children's Social Care. More initial assessments are being completed than in the same period last year. As
the ICS training is embedded the quality of data recording is increasing with a increase of almost 20% in this NI since Q1. A further increase is expected over the next quarter.
Improved referral pathways are in place to ensure a more appropriate workflow between Central Advice and Duty Team (CADT) and area teams.

Quarter Two

A full audit of the use of the ICS system has taken place by the newly appointed ICS project manager. As a result of this a revised training schedule has been developed. The ICS
project plan has also been agreed for implementation. Systematic error reports will be in place from mid July and resources are in place to target support to those teams where it is
most needed.

Quarter One

Positions Statement

Safely reducing the number of looked after children is a key priority for all partners delivering services to children across Wirral. The cost of supporting so many children within the
system is high. By reducing the numbers in care it is anticipated that resources can be used to increase family support and early intervention. Children who are LAC do not achieve
as well academically as those that are not LAC. By reducing the numbers in care and improving attainment children can develop socially and economically, which will enable them
to enter into work and in turn will benefit the Borough.
Partners are committed to using the Child Concern Model to enable early identification of children experiencing problems. When this model is operating fully Social Care staff will
focus on prevention and support of families before they get into difficulties and the disruption caused by taking a child into care. Inevitably some cases are severe and, where a
child is at risk, care proceedings will be implemented.
This priority also appears the Children and Young People’s Plan and has been identified as an area for improvement by OfSTED and GONW.

Context

Wirral Children's Trust - Local Area Agreement Report 2009/10

LAA Improvement Priority
Performance Indicator
Sponsor
Lead Organisation
Service Area

Page 28

10

20

30

40

50

60

-

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

57

2005/06

Target

52

57

52

Target

2006/07

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10

2010/11
58.0

2010/11

England

2009/10
57.0
52.0
51.2
52.0
Wirral Actual

2008/09
54.0
49.0
50.1
49.0

Target

Quarter 4

Actual

Stats Neighbour

2007/08
46.0
48.6
46.0

Quarter 3

Actual

57

Improvement Direction:
Up
Quarter 3
Quarter 4
Actual
Target
Actual
Target

Wirral Target

2006/07
45.0
46.7
45.0

Quarter 2

Actual

2005/06
52.0
49.3
48.0

Target

Quarter 1

Actual

Wirral Target
Wirral Actual
Stats Neighbour
England

0

51.7

Quarter 2
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 72: At Least 78 points across Foundation Stage

-

Quarter 1
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 72: At Least 78 points across Foun

Howard Cooper
Learning & Achievement
Children and Young People's Department

NI 72: At Least 78 points across Foundation Stage

Life Chances for Children and Young People

RAG

Amber

Amber

Amber

Amber

20/05/10

Support is in place regarding the use and analysis of data at LA, school and setting levels to identify children who are at risk of underachieving. Children, classes and schools
making less than expected progress or with weaknesses in provision are identified for early literacy, speaking and listening support. Individual and collective support is provided for
local networks. Practitioners are embedding best practice in the teaching of early literacy skills to develop the transition from Reception to year 1. The school-based leadership of
the early literacy agenda is being strengthened in order that schools may build the capacity to sustain their own improvements. School Improvement Partners (SIPS) are enabled to
develop their brokering role in early literacy improvement.

Quarter Four

0

Quarter Three

0

Quarter Two

0

Quarter One

Positions Statement

0

Context

Wirral Children's Trust - Local Area Agreement Report 2009/10

LAA Improvement Priority
Performance Indicator
Sponsor
Lead Organisation
Service Area

Page 29

74

74.5

75

75.5

76

76.5

77

77.5

74

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

2005/06

74

77

Quarter 2
Actual
Target

74

77

Target

Target

2006/07

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10

2010/11
78.0

2010/11

England

2009/10
77.0
74.0
74.7
72.0
Wirral Actual

2008/09
74.0
74.9
73.0

77

Target

Quarter 4

Actual

Stats Neighbour

2007/08
72.0
73.0
71.0

Quarter 3

Actual

Wirral Target

2006/07
72.0
72.1
70.0

Quarter 2

Actual

2005/06
71.0
71.9
69.0

Target

74

Improvement Direction: Same
Quarter 3
Quarter 4
Actual
Target
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 73: Level 4+ in KS2 English and maths

Quarter 1

Actual

Wirral Target
Wirral Actual
Stats Neighbour
England

72.5

73

73.5

77

Quarter 1
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 73: Level 4+ in KS2 English and m

Howard Cooper
Learning & Achievement
Children and Young People's Department

NI 73: Level 4+ in KS2 English and maths

Life Chances for Children and Young People

Green

Green

Green

20/05/10

School Improvement Teams analyse the attainment data both at LA, school and subject level. With a particular focus where results have been markedly different from school
predictions. Through this the teams identify schools where there is evidence of underperformance and target them for detailed monitoring, challenge, intervention and support.
Targeting of intensive consultant support, to ensure there is accelerated progress in English and maths is in place. English and mathematics teams have projects and training
plans to target schools. There is ongoing National Strategies training that we expect schools to engage with. School Improvement Partners will discuss with head teachers reasons
for underperformance and what corrective action is needed at a school level. SIPS (and Consultants in our Intensive Support Programme schools) are discussing with Head
Teachers and Senior Leadership Teams progress in Y4 to ascertain the percentage of pupils on track with 1 level progress, and what action is planned for those children not on
track. In particular there is a focus on identifying children on track for L4+ in either English or maths but not both and again what action is planned. Where there are specific concern

Quarter Four

This data release is still provisional and therefore subject to change at a future date. There are number of schools sending English scripts back for remarking. School Improvement
Teams will analyse the attainment data both at LA, school and subject level. In particular they will be analyzing data in especially where results have been markedly different from
school predictions. Through this the teams will identify schools where there is evidence of underperformance and target them for detailed monitoring, challenge, intervention and
support. There will be targeting of intensive consultant support to schools, to ensure there is accelerated progress in English and maths. English and mathematics teams have
projects and training plans for next academic year to target schools. There is ongoing National Strategies training that we expect schools to engage with. School Improvement
Partners will discuss with head teachers reasons for underperformance and what corrective action is needed at a school level. SIPS (and Consultants in our Intensive Support
Programme schools) are being asked to have discussions with Head Teacher and Senior Leadership Team about progress in Y4 to ascertain the percentage of pupils on track with

Quarter Three

This data release is still provisional and therefore subject to change at a future date. There are number of schools sending English scripts back for remarking. School Improvement
Teams will analyse the attainment data both at LA, school and subject level. In particular they will be analyzing data in especially where results have been markedly different from
school predictions. Through this the teams will identify schools where there is evidence of underperformance and target them for detailed monitoring, challenge, intervention and
support. There will be targeting of intensive consultant support to schools, to ensure there is accelerated progress in English and maths. English and mathematics teams have
projects and training plans for next academic year to target schools. There is ongoing National Strategies training that we expect schools to engage with. School Improvement
Partners will discuss with head teachers reasons for underperformance and what corrective action is needed at a school level. SIPS (and Consultants in our Intensive Support
Programme schools) are being asked to have discussions with Head Teacher and Senior Leadership Team about progress in Y4 to ascertain the percentage of pupils on track with

Quarter Two

This data release is still provisional and therefore subject to change at a future date. There are number of schools sending English scripts back for remarking. School Improvement
Teams will analyse the attainment data both at LA, school and subject level. In particular they will be analyzing data in especially where results have been markedly different from
school predictions. Through this the teams will identify schools where there is evidence of underperformance and target them for detailed monitoring, challenge, intervention and
support. There will be targeting of intensive consultant support to schools, to ensure there is accelerated progress in English and maths. English and mathematics teams have
projects and training plans for next academic year to target schools. There is ongoing National Strategies training that we expect schools to engage with. School Improvement
Partners will discuss with head teachers reasons for underperformance and what corrective action is needed at a school level. SIPS (and Consultants in our Intensive Support
Programme schools) are being asked to have discussions with Head Teacher and Senior Leadership Team about progress in Y4 to ascertain the percentage of pupils on track with

RAG
Green

Positions Statement
Quarter One

0

Context

Wirral Children's Trust - Local Area Agreement Report 2009/10

LAA Improvement Priority
Performance Indicator
Sponsor
Lead Organisation
Service Area

Page 30

10

20

30

40

50

60

-

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

55.2

2005/06

Target

-

-

53.8

Target

2006/07

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10

2010/11
57.0

2010/11

England

2009/10
55.2
53.8
49.8
49.8
Wirral Actual

2008/09
52.0
50.2
48.0
47.6

Target

Quarter 4

Actual

Stats Neighbour

2007/08
48.4
44.5
46.3

Quarter 3

Actual

55.2

Improvement Direction:
Up
Quarter 3
Quarter 4
Actual
Target
Actual
Target

Wirral Target

2006/07
46.3
41.4
45.6

Quarter 2

Actual

2005/06
45.4
40.6
44.7

Target

Quarter 1

Actual

Wirral Target
Wirral Actual
Stats Neighbour
England

0

53.2

Quarter 2
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 75: 5+ A* - C or equivalent at GCSE including English and
maths

-

Quarter 1
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 75: 5+ A* - C or equivalent at GCSE

Howard Cooper
Learning & Achievement
Children and Young People's Department

NI 75: 5+ A* - C or equivalent at GCSE including English and maths

Life Chances for Children and Young People

0

Quarter Four

0

Quarter Three

0

Quarter Two

0

20/05/10

Green

Green

Green

RAG
Green

Positions Statement
Quarter One

0

Context

Wirral Children's Trust - Local Area Agreement Report 2009/10

LAA Improvement Priority
Performance Indicator
Sponsor
Lead Organisation
Service Area

Page 31

2

3

4

5

6

7

-

Target

Quarter 1

Actual

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

8.0

9.0

2005/06

-

-

Quarter 2
Actual
Target

-

-

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10
6.4
4.5
4.9
4.9

2009/10

2010/11
5.5

2010/11

England

2008/09
4.9
5.6
5.6
Wirral Actual

2007/08
7.1
7.2
6.7

6.4

Target

Quarter 4

Actual

Stats Neighbour

2006/07
8.0
8.2
7.1

Target

Quarter 3

Actual

Wirral Target

2005/06
-

2006/07

Target

Quarter 2

Actual

4.5

Improvement Direction:
Up
Quarter 3
Quarter 4
Actual
Target
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 87: Secondary school persistent absence

Wirral Target
Wirral Actual
Stats Neighbour
England

0

1

-

Quarter 1
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 87: Secondary school persistent a

Howard Cooper
Learning & Achievement
Children and Young People's Department

NI 87: Secondary school persistent absence

Life Chances for Children and Young People

Strategies have been implemented very effectively in priority secondary schools. Good practice is now being shared across all secondary schools.

Quarter Four

0

Quarter Three

0

Quarter Two

0

20/05/10

Green

Green

Green

RAG
Green

Positions Statement
Quarter One

A lower figure in this indicator represents better performance.

Context

Wirral Children's Trust - Local Area Agreement Report 2009/10

LAA Improvement Priority
Performance Indicator
Sponsor
Lead Organisation
Service Area

Page 32

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

-

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

40.0

45.0

30.2

2005/06

Target

-

-

31.3

Target

2006/07

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10

2010/11
28.9

2010/11

England

2009/10
30.2
31.3
33.5
33.9
Wirral Actual

2008/09
31.5
31.9
33.6
35.6

Target

Quarter 4

Actual

Stats Neighbour

2007/08
34.3
35.8
37.2

Quarter 3

Actual

30.2

Improvement Direction: Same
Quarter 3
Quarter 4
Actual
Target
Actual
Target

Wirral Target

2006/07
37.4
36.3
38.3

Quarter 2

Actual

2005/06
37.9
36.4
38.9

Target

Quarter 1

Actual

31.4

Quarter 2
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 92: Narrowing the gap at Foundation Stage

Wirral Target
Wirral Actual
Stats Neighbour
England

0

-

Quarter 1
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 92: Narrowing the gap at Foundati

Howard Cooper
Learning & Achievement
Children and Young People's Department

NI 92: Narrowing the gap at Foundation Stage

Life Chances for Children and Young People

Green

Green

Green

20/05/10

The gap between the lowest performing 20% and the rest is continuing to reduce year on year. However improving literacy skills particularly with boys, continues to remain a focus
for the LA. There are now 27 schools participating ion the National Strategies “Communication Language and Literacy Development” (CLLD) project. High profile has been given to
training in relation to boys learning and development through specific projects. The LA is now looking to support schools embed this in day to day practice by linking all training to
focus on boys including the Every Child a Talker (ECAT) project and the Social and Emotional Aspects of Development (SEAD) materials. The Every Child a Talker project has a
unique multi agency approach with health and schools and there is strong links with the CLLD project through a joint consultant.

Quarter Four

0

Quarter Three

0

Quarter Two

0

RAG
Green

Positions Statement
Quarter One

A lower figure in this indicator represents better performance.

Context

Wirral Children's Trust - Local Area Agreement Report 2009/10

LAA Improvement Priority
Performance Indicator
Sponsor
Lead Organisation
Service Area

Page 33

81

82

83

84

85

86

87

81.6

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

100.0

86

2005/06

Target

81.6

86

84

Target

2006/07

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10

2010/11
87.0

2010/11

England

2009/10
86.0
84.0
82.0
Wirral Actual

2008/09
86.0
82.0

Target

Quarter 4

Actual

Stats Neighbour

2007/08
83.8
84.0

Quarter 3

Actual

86

Improvement Direction: Same
Quarter 3
Quarter 4
Actual
Target
Actual
Target

Wirral Target

2006/07
80.5
81.0

Quarter 2

Actual

2005/06
78.5
77.9
78.0

Target

Quarter 1

Actual

Wirral Target
Wirral Actual
Stats Neighbour
England

79

80

81.6

Quarter 2
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 93: Two levels progress in English KS1 to KS2

86

Quarter 1
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 93: Two levels progress in English

Howard Cooper
Learning & Achievement
Children and Young People's Department

NI 93: Two levels progress in English KS1 to KS2

Life Chances for Children and Young People

Green

Green

Green

20/05/10

Develop effective guided work, with improved guidance and alignment to Assessing Pupils’ Progress (APP), as a key component in strengthening fit-for-purpose pedagogy in
literacy. Strengthen and embed teachers’ subject knowledge and understanding of progression in literacy, both inside and across year boundaries, particularly in writing. Implement
Every Child a Writer Programme including the development of leading teachers. Promote Speaking and Listening APP process and support curriculum provision. Address the
needs of vulnerable and underperforming groups, drawing on the Narrowing the Gaps materials for literacy subject leaders. Ensure that Reading Recovery teachers are sufficiently
influencing the development of quality first teaching in early reading, writing.

Quarter Four

0

Quarter Three

This data release is still provisional and therefore subject to change at a future date. There are number of schools sending English scripts back for remarking. School Improvement
Teams will analyse the attainment data both at LA, school and subject level. In particular they will be analyzing data in especially where results have been markedly different from
school predictions. Through this the teams will identify schools where there is evidence of underperformance and target them for detailed monitoring, challenge, intervention and
support. There will be targeting of intensive consultant support to schools, to ensure there is accelerated progress in English and maths. English and mathematics teams have
projects and training plans for next academic year to target schools. There is ongoing National Strategies training that we expect schools to engage with. School Improvement
Partners will discuss with head teachers reasons for underperformance and what corrective action is needed at a school level. SIPS (and Consultants in our Intensive Support
Programme schools) are being asked to have discussions with Head Teacher and Senior Leadership Team about progress in Y4 to ascertain the percentage of pupils on track with

Quarter Two

0

RAG
Green

Positions Statement
Quarter One

0

Context

Wirral Children's Trust - Local Area Agreement Report 2009/10

LAA Improvement Priority
Performance Indicator
Sponsor
Lead Organisation
Service Area

Page 34

77

77.5

78

78.5

79

79.5

80

80.5

77.8

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

79

2005/06

Target

77.8

79

80

Target

2006/07

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10

2010/11
82.0

2010/11

England

2009/10
79.0
80.0
81.0
Wirral Actual

2008/09
78.0
78.0

Target

Quarter 4

Actual

Stats Neighbour

2007/08
74.8
76.0

Quarter 3

Actual

79

Improvement Direction:
Up
Quarter 3
Quarter 4
Actual
Target
Actual
Target

Wirral Target

2006/07
73.7
74.0

Quarter 2

Actual

2005/06
71.2
74.1
73.3

Target

Quarter 1

Actual

Wirral Target
Wirral Actual
Stats Neighbour
England

76.5

77.8

Quarter 2
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 94: Two levels progress in maths KS1 to KS2

79

Quarter 1
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 94: Two levels progress in maths K

Howard Cooper
Learning & Achievement
Children and Young People's Department

NI 94: Two levels progress in maths KS1 to KS2

Life Chances for Children and Young People

Green

0

Quarter Four

0

Quarter Three

20/05/10

Green

Green

This data release is still provisional and therefore subject to change at a future date. There are number of schools sending English scripts back for remarking. School Improvement
Teams will analyse the attainment data both at LA, school and subject level. In particular they will be analyzing data in especially where results have been markedly different from
school predictions. Through this the teams will identify schools where there is evidence of underperformance and target them for detailed monitoring, challenge, intervention and
support. There will be targeting of intensive consultant support to schools, to ensure there is accelerated progress in English and maths. English and mathematics teams have
projects and training plans for next academic year to target schools. There is ongoing National Strategies training that we expect schools to engage with. School Improvement
Partners will discuss with head teachers reasons for underperformance and what corrective action is needed at a school level. SIPS (and Consultants in our Intensive Support
Programme schools) are being asked to have discussions with Head Teacher and Senior Leadership Team about progress in Y4 to ascertain the percentage of pupils on track with

Quarter Two

0

RAG
Green

Positions Statement
Quarter One

0

Context

Wirral Children's Trust - Local Area Agreement Report 2009/10

LAA Improvement Priority
Performance Indicator
Sponsor
Lead Organisation
Service Area

Page 35

20

30

40

50

60

70

-

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

2005/06

-

Target

-

-

Target

2006/07

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10

2010/11
53.1

2010/11

England

2009/10
44.0
59.0
46.0
Wirral Actual

2008/09
62.0
56.8
46.0

44

Target

Quarter 4

Actual

Stats Neighbour

2007/08
41.0
47.8
46.0

Quarter 3

Actual

59

Improvement Direction: Down
Quarter 3
Quarter 4
Actual
Target
Actual
Target

Wirral Target

2006/07
35.7
47.1
43.0

Quarter 2

Actual

2005/06
48.6
48.5
42.0

Target

Quarter 1

Actual

-

Quarter 2
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 99: LAC reaching Level 4 English at KS2

Wirral Target
Wirral Actual
Stats Neighbour
England

0

10

-

Quarter 1
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 99: LAC reaching Level 4 English a

Howard Cooper
Learning & Achievement
Children and Young People's Department

NI 99: LAC reaching Level 4 English at KS2

Life Chances for Children and Young People

0

Quarter Four

0

Quarter Three

0

Quarter Two

0

20/05/10

Green

Green

Green

RAG
Green

Positions Statement
Quarter One

0

Context

Wirral Children's Trust - Local Area Agreement Report 2009/10

LAA Improvement Priority
Performance Indicator
Sponsor
Lead Organisation
Service Area

Page 36

10

20

30

40

50

60

-

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

2005/06

44

Target

-

-

Target

2006/07

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10

2010/11
56.3

2010/11

England

2009/10
44.0
50.0
46.0
Wirral Actual

2008/09
62.0
51.3
44.0

44

Target

Quarter 4

Actual

Stats Neighbour

2007/08
52.0
47.0
43.0

Quarter 3

Actual

50

Improvement Direction: Down
Quarter 3
Quarter 4
Actual
Target
Actual
Target

Wirral Target

2006/07
35.7
42.5
41.0

Quarter 2

Actual

2005/06
32.4
49.8
38.0

Target

Quarter 1

Actual

52

Quarter 2
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 100: LAC reaching Level 4 Maths at KS2

Wirral Target
Wirral Actual
Stats Neighbour
England

0

-

Quarter 1
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 100: LAC reaching Level 4 Maths a

Howard Cooper
Learning & Achievement
Children and Young People's Department

NI 100: LAC reaching Level 4 Maths at KS2

Life Chances for Children and Young People

0

Quarter Four

0

Quarter Three

0

Quarter Two

0

20/05/10

Green

Green

Green

RAG
Green

Positions Statement
Quarter One

0

Context

Wirral Children's Trust - Local Area Agreement Report 2009/10

LAA Improvement Priority
Performance Indicator
Sponsor
Lead Organisation
Service Area

Page 37

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

-

Target

Quarter 1

Actual

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

8.0

9.0

2005/06

Wirral Target
Wirral Actual
Stats Neighbour
England

0

1

7.3

7.4

Quarter 2
Actual
Target

-

-

7.4

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10
7.4
7.4
-

2009/10

2010/11
6.3

2010/11

England

2008/09
7.9
Wirral Actual

2007/08
-

Target

Quarter 4

Actual

Stats Neighbour

2006/07
-

Target

Quarter 3

Actual

Wirral Target

2005/06
-

2006/07

Target

Quarter 2

Actual

7.4

Improvement Direction: Down
Quarter 3
Quarter 4
Actual
Target
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 101: Children in care gaining 5+ A* - C at GCSE Including
English and maths

-

Quarter 1
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 101: Children in care gaining 5+ A*

Howard Cooper
Learning & Achievement
Children and Young People's Department

NI 101: Children in care gaining 5+ A* - C at GCSE Including English a

Life Chances for Children and Young People

(P) Provisional 2009/10 local data, published data is not available.

Quarter Four

0

Quarter Three

0

Quarter Two

0

20/05/10

Green

Green

Green

RAG
Green

Positions Statement
Quarter One

0

Context

Wirral Children's Trust - Local Area Agreement Report 2009/10

LAA Improvement Priority
Performance Indicator
Sponsor
Lead Organisation
Service Area

Page 38

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.9

1

-

0.0

500.0

1000.0

1500.0

2000.0

2500.0

2005/06

-

-

-

2006/07

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10
1570.0
0.0
-

2009/10

2010/11
1500.0

2010/11

England

2008/09
1370.0
1562.0
1472.0
Wirral Actual

2007/08
1620.0
2064.0
1857.0

0

Target

Quarter 4

Actual

Stats Neighbour

2006/07
1440.0
2173.0
2039.0

Target

Quarter 3

Actual

Wirral Target

2005/06
1170.0
2137.0
1966.0

Target

Quarter 2

Actual

0

Improvement Direction:
N/A
Quarter 3
Quarter 4
Actual
Target
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 111: First time entrants

-

Quarter 2
Actual
Target

Target

Quarter 1

Actual

Wirral Target
Wirral Actual
Stats Neighbour
England

0

0.1

-

Quarter 1
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 111: First time entrants

Howard Cooper
Youth Offending Service
Children and Young People's Department

NI 111: First time entrants

Life Chances for Children and Young People

This data will be published as a local data set on 2 June 2010.

Quarter Four

0

Quarter Three

0

Quarter Two

0

Quarter One

Positions Statement

0

Context

Wirral Children's Trust - Local Area Agreement Report 2009/10

LAA Improvement Priority
Performance Indicator
Sponsor
Lead Organisation
Service Area

Page 39

20/05/10

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

RAG

-10

-5

0

5

10

15

9.7

-60.0

-50.0

-40.0

-30.0

-20.0

-10.0

0.0

2005/06

Wirral Target
Wirral Actual
Stats Neighbour
England

-30

-25

-20

-15

-

-15.8

-

2006/07

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10
-39.0
-21.0
-

2009/10

2010/11
-50.0

2010/11

England

2008/09
-28.0
-6.3
Wirral Actual

2007/08
-5.5
-

-28

Target

Quarter 4

Actual

Stats Neighbour

2006/07
-6.5
-8.7
-13.3

Target

Quarter 3

Actual

Wirral Target

2005/06
-9.9
-7.1
-11.6

Target

Quarter 2

Actual

-21

Improvement Direction:
Up
Quarter 3
Quarter 4
Actual
Target
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 112: Teenage Conceptions

*-10.34

Quarter 2
Actual
Target

Target

Quarter 1

Actual

-

Quarter 1
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 112: Teenage Conceptions

Julia Hassall
Children's Social Care
Children and Young People's Department

NI 112: Teenage Conceptions

Reduction in Teenage Conceptions

Red

RAG

Red

Red

Red

20/05/10

In order to reduce the teenage conception rate further in Wirral, targeted support interventions will continue to be developed and implemented for the most vulnerable groups.
Recommendations made in the refreshed National Teenage Pregnancy Strategy will also be incorporated into the Strategic Priority Action Plan to ensure gaps in provision are
addressed. Further actions implemented since the last reporting period include:
Rolling programme of sexual health training for Children and Young People workforce, including further development of training courses for foster carers. 533 staff attended multiagency Sex and Relationships training between April 2009 and March 2010.
Young Parent’s Advisor post was extended and is based within Connexions and conducts risk assessments with all pregnant girls under the age of 19 that access the Young
Women’s Antenatal Clinic at Arrowe Park. Alongside the service offered by the Teenage Pregnancy Midwife the postholder is able to advise pregnant teenagers and their partners
on issues such as housing, finances, education and employment, offending and drug and alcohol abuse, with a view to reducing high risk behaviours and offering crisis intervention
Development of targeted support programmes for hotspot areas – Virtual Babies Education Programme and Peer Mentoring Education Programme to run in new academic year.
Health Services in Schools implementation already showing encouraging results, full implementation planned for July 2010. Expansion of Wirral Brook LARC provision. Further de

Quarter Four

New Teenage Pregnancy Strategy Coordinator in post from 7th December 2009 to drive forward Teenage Pregnancy Strategic Action Plan following temporary cover this vacancy.
Teenage conception rates for Wirral are showing a steady decline. This is against the national and regional trend. Current performance (Oct 2007- Sept 2008) is 42.6 compared
with 47.2 in 2007. Continued commitment by partners is required to implement the initiatives within the Teenage Pregnancy Strategic Action Plan to deliver this challenging target.
All sections of the Teenage Pregnancy Strategic Action Plan are being progressed. Teenage Pregnancy Media campaign was launched on September 14, 2009 and was repeated
in December 2009 for a further month. First phase of Health Services in Schools were launched in the first 12 schools from November 2009 with further schools to follow by the
end of March 2010.

Quarter Three

*The data reported is for calendar year 2008 (-10.34%) The Teenage Pregnancy Strategy Coordinator post has been covered on a temporary basis but a permanent post holder
will begin work shortly. The latest data continues to show a slight drop in the rate of teenage conceptions. In addition there has been a significant fall in the number of terminations
which is often linked to teenage conceptions.

Quarter Two

The Teenage Pregnancy Strategy Coordinator post has been vacant since the end of April 2009 and will be advertised July 2009, with interviews held early in September 2009.
The Project Officer post will be advertised in August 2009. Both posts have been covered on a temporary basis. Quarterly figure is for Jan-Mar 2008, as per the definition

Quarter One

Positions Statement

Reducing teenage pregnancy is a key strategic objective for partners. Young parenthood remains an acceptable lifestyle choice in the most deprived wards where there is a lack of
economic opportunity and a high number of young people are disengaged from education or employment. Wards with a high level of deprivation persistantly exhibit rates that are
near to or twice the national average. Young women in these wards are more likely to get pregnant and continue with their pregnancy. However, it is also important to note that
terminations occuring in more affluent wards of West Wirral are also contrubuting to the over conception rate.This priority also appears the Children and Young People’s Plan and
has been identified as an area for improvement by OfSTED and Government Office North West.

Context

Wirral Children's Trust - Local Area Agreement Report 2009/10

LAA Improvement Priority
Performance Indicator
Sponsor
Lead Organisation
Service Area

Page 40

2

4

6

8

10

12

10.4

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

2005/06

8.2

8.7

7.1

Target

Target

2006/07

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10

2010/11
6.9

2010/11

England

2009/10
7.1
8.9
Wirral Actual

2008/09
7.4
9.1
8.7
6.7

7.1

Target

Quarter 4

Actual

Stats Neighbour

2007/08
9.5
8.6
6.7

Quarter 3

Actual

Wirral Target

2006/07
10.0
8.9
7.7

Quarter 2

Actual

8.9

Improvement Direction: Same
Quarter 3
Quarter 4
Actual
Target
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 117: Percentage NEET

9.8

Quarter 2
Actual
Target

2005/06
9.7
9.5
10.9

Target

Quarter 1

Actual

Wirral Target
Wirral Actual
Stats Neighbour
England

0

8.3

Quarter 1
Actual
Target

2009/10 - NI 117: Percentage NEET

Sheila Lynch
Connexions
Children and Young People's Department

NI 117: Percentage NEET

Reduction in the numbers of NEETs

Red

RAG

Red

Red

Red

20/05/10

A newly formed TIGER group has been formed to address the issue of NEET with a particular emphasis on agreeing shared actions in order to meet the required reduction
percentage for the PSA target. This is a further 2% reduction from current position. This is chaired by Mike Potter, the Principal of Wirral Metropolitan College. The group will meet
on a regular basis with a task and finish approach. The first task is to map available provision against the preferences of the active NEET group. An initial action plan has been
produced with joint accountabilities. Work towards the January Guarantee is well underway. The eligible cohort (young people of academic age 16 and 17) will be continually
tracked and monitored via performance submissions to DCSF up until the 31st March 2010. As this is the first year of introduction, there were no targets set or previous year’s
benchmarks regarding achievement of the guarantee. Focus also remains on supporting 18 year olds NEET, an increasing group, helping them to secure places in education,
employment or training if that is the most appropriate option for them. This also comes at a time of significant new opportunities through Jobcentre Plus with the implementation of t

Quarter Four

EET and In Learning rates continue to improve for young people in Wirral and during November there were 90 leavers from NEET who moved into EET destinations. In terms of
NEET ‘churn’, the leavers exceeded joiners by 11 young people. This is not necessarily the case across the GM region. In conclusion NEET rates are continuing to decrease in
Wirral in a relatively consistent manner across the area.Of the 16-18yr NEET cohort, 48.74% are 18 year olds. This is a trend reflected across GM region but in Wirral this figure
has shown a decrease within the last two months and could be linked to: Following its’ successful pilot in Bebington, Wirral is making excellent progress in terms of developing joint
working practices between Core PAs and Adult Next Step Advisers. Innovative approaches are being developed to ensure maximum coverage and the close working relationships
that exist with Job Centre Plus are enhancing this. A clear strategy is now in place for supporting 18 and 19 year olds which is beginning to have an impact on the contact rates
and tracking in order to be able to best support this cohort. Integrated operational and performance management processes have been agreed to maximise the provision and oppo

Quarter Three

The 16-18 NEET rate in Wirral at the end of September 2009 of 9.79% (against a target of 8.18%) is an improvement to that at the end of September 08 which was 10.23%. This
decrease comes despite the economic downturn and contracting employment opportunities available to young people in certain areas. The Wirral Apprentice (the pledge of 100
Apprenticeship opportunities for young people) is beginning to bear fruit with appointment processes well underway. Beneath the headline figures there are significant variances
between communities and wards across the borough and the 16-18 NEET group is also now predominantly in the older age range with over 50% of 16-18 year old NEETs being
18. The use of advanced GIS mapping capability is being used to inform targeted interventions and resource planning to meet need.

Quarter Two

The advent of the ‘Wirral Apprentice’ programme will provide a range of opportunities for NEET young people to enter into sustainable learning.

The extension of the September Guarantee to include all 17 year olds who finished statutory education in 2008 means that intensive tracking and support is being put in place to
ensure that an offer of a place in learning is an entitlement for the eligible cohort. Combined with the focus on 2009 leavers, this should have a positive impact on re-engaging
young people into learning and/or appropriate provision. The focussed activity will help to identify any specific provision issues/gaps which can in turn be raised with the LSC.

There are a variety of factors contributing to the current rise in the number of young people who are NEET. The economic downturn has seen an increase in the number of young
people who are leaving employment, particularly with no qualifications up to Level 2. Connexions, LSC and Work Based Learning federation are working closely to ensure that
provision is being made available and accessible for young people particularly in relation to ensuring appropriate E2E provision. Additional provision is now in place until the end of
contract year and it is anticipated that 2009 leavers should also receive sufficient places.

Quarter One

Positions Statement

Significant progress has been made in reducing the numbers of 16 -18 year olds who are not in employment, education or training. Although higher than average numbers of
young people continue in learning after year 11, the proportion of young people NEET is above similar councils. More recently the recession has seen an increase in the number of
young people who are leaving employment, particularly with no qualifications up to Level 2.
The number of young people NEET is higher than at 16 and there is still much work to be done to remove barriers to participation in learning or employment, particularly for the
vulnerable groups of young people i.e. those who are looked after, those with learning disabilities and difficulties, those with substance misuse issues, teenage parents and young
offenders.
In response to consultation young people expressed views regarding the information that they needed if they were to make a successful transition to the labour market. Concerns
about finance were significant in relation to fees, benefits, EMA and how to avoid getting into debt. The ability to become financially independent and have the means to access
suitable housing was also a worry; these concerns have been addressed in the improvement strategy.
This priority also appears the Children and Young People’s Plan and has been identified as an area for improvement by OfSTED and GONW.

Context

Wirral Children's Trust - Local Area Agreement Report 2009/10

LAA Improvement Priority
Performance Indicator
Sponsor
Lead Organisation
Service Area

Page 41

200

300

400

500

600

700

617

0.0

100.0

200.0

300.0

400.0

500.0

600.0

700.0

800.0

2005/06

-

615

-

2006/07

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10
590.0
629.0
-

2009/10

2010/11
565.0

2010/11

England

2008/09
590.0
626.0
Wirral Actual

2007/08
607.0
-

590

Target

Quarter 4

Actual

Stats Neighbour

2006/07
681.0
-

Target

Quarter 3

Actual

Wirral Target

2005/06
685.0
-

Target

Quarter 2

Actual

629

Improvement Direction: Same
Quarter 3
Quarter 4
Actual
Target
Actual
Target

2009/10 - Local 1400: Number of LAC

616

Quarter 2
Actual
Target

Target

Quarter 1

Actual

Wirral Target
Wirral Actual
Stats Neighbour
England

0

100

-

Quarter 1
Actual
Target

2009/10 - Local 1400: Number of LAC

Julia Hassall
Children's Social Care
Children and Young People's Department

Local 1400: Number of LAC

Safely Reducing the Number of Children Looked After

RAG

Amber

20/05/10

(P) Continued focussed planning is in place to reduce numbers of children in care; where safe and feasible. Preventative measures include investment in Area Teams and
preventative initiatives such as Multi-systemic Therapy and Family Group Conferencing. There is continued focus on supporting children to achieve permanence through adoption
and special guardianship. A project plan is in place to reduce the numbers of children placed with parents. Principal Team Managers have been recruited to improve tight tracking
of children’s cases, to reduce the likelihood of drift, and a team looked after children tracking tool is in place.

Quarter Four

Targets are not set for numbers of Children in Care.The department continues to embed preventative services to reduce the number of children meeting the thresholds for
becoming looked after. Concern and focus is on children safely leaving the care system, while ensuring that children are kept safe from significant harm.

Quarter Three

0

Quarter Two

The department continues to embed preventative services to reduce the number of children meeting the thresholds for becoming looked after. Concern and focus is on children
safely leaving the care system, there is an element of delay here due to the low prioritisation of guardians to discharging care order proceedings.

Quarter One

Positions Statement

Safely reducing the number of looked after children is a key priority for all partners delivering services to children across Wirral. The cost of supporting so many children within the
system is high. By reducing the numbers in care it is anticipated that resources can be used to increase family support and early intervention. Children who are LAC do not achieve
as well academically as those that are not LAC. By reducing the numbers in care and improving attainment children can develop socially and economically, which will enable them
to enter into work and in turn will benefit the Borough.
Partners are committed to using the Child Concern Model to enable early identification of children experiencing problems. When this model is operating fully Social Care staff will
focus on prevention and support of families before they get into difficulties and the disruption caused by taking a child into care. Inevitably some cases are severe and, where a
child is at risk, care proceedings will be implemented.
This priority also appears the Children and Young People’s Plan and has been identified as an area for improvement by OfSTED and GONW.

Context

Wirral Children's Trust - Local Area Agreement Report 2009/10

LAA Improvement Priority
Performance Indicator
Sponsor
Lead Organisation
Service Area

Page 42

5

10

15

20

25

-

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

-

Target

-

-

Target

2006/07

2007/08

2008/09

2009/10

2010/11
-

2010/11

England

2009/10
21.0
18.0
Wirral Actual

2008/09
21.0
-

21

Target

Quarter 4

Actual

Stats Neighbour

2007/08
20.0
-

Quarter 3

Actual

18

Improvement Direction: Down
Quarter 3
Quarter 4
Actual
Target
Actual
Target

Wirral Target

2006/07
24.0
-

Quarter 2

Actual

2005/06
18.0
-

Target

2005/06

-

Quarter 2
Actual
Target

2009/10 - Local 1700a: Participation in youth work

Quarter 1

Actual

Wirral Target
Wirral Actual
Stats Neighbour
England

0

-

Quarter 1
Actual
Target

2009/10 - Local 1700a: Participation in youth w

Peter Edmondson
Participation and Inclusion
Children and Young People's Department

Local 1700a: Participation in youth work

Life Chances for Children and Young People

Red

Red

Red

Red

RAG

20/05/10

Following a period where there has been a vacancy factor and we have been unable to fill posts the service is now reconfigured and is more attractive to young people with the
Hub about to launch. These 4 "super centres", one in each district of Wirral will offer more services and attract more young people to engage in positive activity.

Quarter Four

0

Quarter Three

0

Quarter Two

0

Quarter One

Positions Statement

0

Context

Wirral Children's Trust - Local Area Agreement Report 2009/10

LAA Improvement Priority
Performance Indicator
Sponsor
Lead Organisation
Service Area

Page 43

Report: Wirral's Partnership Local Area Agreement Performance Report 2009/2010
Period: Full Year
Report Date: 20/05/2010
Theme: Life chances for children and young people
Direction of Travel Summary
No. of
% PIs
PIs
Improved by more than 2.5% on previous year's
41.18%
7
performance
Deteriorated by more than 2.5% on previous year's
23.53%
4
performance
29.41%
5 Stayed within +/-2.5% of previous year's performance
5.88%
1 Awaiting data
0.00%
0 Not applicable
100.00%

17

Target Summary
No. of
% PIs
PIs
47.06%
8
11.76%
2
17.65%
3
17.65%
3
5.88%
1
0.00%
0
0.00%
0
100.00%

PI No.

17

(Note: percentages rounded to 2 decimal places)

Green (within +10/-5% of the target)
Amber (missed target by between 5% and 10%)
Red (missed target by more than 10%)
Over-performing (more than 10% of the target)
Awaiting data
Target not set
Not Applicable
(Note: percentages rounded to 2 decimal places)

09/2010
Target

Title

09/2010
Actual

On Target

9.3%
(Lower is Green
Better)

NI
55

Obesity in primary school age children in Reception

NI
68

Percentage of referrals to children's social care going
72%
on to initial assessment

71.7%

Green

NI
72

Achievement of at least 78 points across the Early
Years Foundation Stage with at least 6 in each of the
scales in Personal Social and Emotional
57%
Development and Communication, Language and
Literacy

52%

Amber

NI
73

Achievement at level 4 or above in both English and
Maths at Key Stage 2

77%

74%

Green

NI
75

Achievement of 5 or more A*- C grades at GCSE or
equivalent including English and Maths

55.2%

53.8%

Green

Page 44

9.37%

Direction
of Travel

4.5%
Over
(Lower is
Performing
Better)

NI
87

Secondary school persistent absence rate

NI
92

Narrowing the gap between the lowest achieving
20% in the Early Years Foundation Stage Profile and 30.2%
the rest

31.3%
(Lower is Green
Better)

NI
93

Progression by 2 levels in English between Key
Stage 1 and Key Stage 2

86%

84%

Green

NI
94

Progression by 2 levels in Maths between Key Stage
79%
1 and Key Stage 2

80%

Green

NI
99

Looked after children reaching level 4 in English at
Key Stage 2

44%

59%

Over
Performing

NI
100

Looked after children reaching level 4 in maths at
Key Stage 2

44%

50%

Over
Performing

NI
101

Looked after children achieving 5 A*-C GCSEs (or
equivalent) at Key Stage 4 (including English and
maths)

7.4%

7.4%

Green

NI
111

First time entrants into the YJS aged 10 - 17

1570

Awaiting Data

NI
112

Percentage reduction in the under 18 conception rate -28%

-21%
(Lower is Red
Better)

NI
117

16 to 18 year olds who are not in education,
employment or training (NEET)

7.1%

8.9%
(Lower is Red
Better)

LOCAL
Number of looked after children
1400

590

629
(Lower is Amber
Better)

LOCAL Participation in and outcomes from youth work:
1700a Participation

21%

18%

6.4%

Page 45

Red

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 46

Agenda Item 7
WIRRAL CHILDREN’S TRUST BOARD – 28th May 2010
WIRRAL CHILDREN’S TRUST MEMBERSHIP ANNUAL REVIEW

1.0 Background
As defined in the Wirral Children’s Trust Memorandum of Understanding the membership of
the Board is reviewed on an annual basis. This report outlines amendments to the
membership for the Board to consider.

2.0 Statutory Guidance
Legislation in the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act (ASCLA) 2009 built on
the Children Act 2004 and strengthened Children’s Trusts by placing them on a statutory
footing from 1 April 2010. Guidance relating to Children’s Trusts was published in March
2010.
The guidance outlines partner agencies to be included in Children’s Trust arrangements.
There are two categories of partner, some partners having a statutory ‘duty to co-operate’
and others not. The nature of the engagement of non-statutory partners will vary depending
on local circumstances.
The Local Authority has specific responsibility for establishing the Children’s Trust Board.
Other statutory ‘relevant partners’ include Primary Care Trusts (PCTs); Strategic Health
Authorities (not required to be represented on the Board); Probation; Police; Youth Offending
Teams; Schools; Pupil Referral Units; Further Education and Sixth Form Colleges;
JobCentre Plus; Connexions.
Non-statutory partners are those which are not legally required but may add value to the
local partnerships and can be brought formally into the Children’s Trust partnership at the
discretion of the LA and on to the Children’s Trust Board after consulting its other partners.
Although the ‘relevant partners’ should be regarded as the minimum core membership of the
board, non-statutory members should be included and they are no less important than the
statutory partners. They include the Third Sector, the Private Sector, General Practitioners,
providers of health care, housing sector, adult services, school sector, Sure Start Children’s
Centres, Further Education and work-based learning sectors, youth custodial establishments,
the family justice system.

3.0 Membership
To be effective the Children’s Trust Board will have an optimum size which ensures the full
range of interests are covered whilst the board remains a workable size. To facilitate this, the
guidance allows shared representation: one person representing more than one partner. In
this case the representative should have a clear mandate which allows them to speak and
act for all the organisations they are representing with authority and to feed back information.
On review, two additional members are proposed to strengthen the board.

Page 47

The Chair of the Wirral Governor Forum is proposed to strengthen the school sector
representation. The current chair is Jane Owens.
A Probation representative is proposed to strengthen the youth justice sector representation.
Within the Children’s Trust, partners particularly the police, the Youth Offending Team and
probation have a key role in commissioning services to help prevent offending and reoffending, and to help children and young people in the youth justice system gain access to
the full range of support services they need. The Merseyside Probation Trust has been
approached and Sue Brown, Assistant Chief Officer of the Wirral Local Delivery Team has
been proposed as the representative.
Two further changes are noted:
A replacement will be sought for Sue Drew, Deputy Director of Public Health who has moved
to a new post in Knowsley.
The retirement of Alan Stennard the Director of Regeneration reduces the membership of the
board by one.

4.0 Recommendation:
4.1 That Wirral Children’s Trust Board approve the addition of two additional members to the
Board.

Report Author:
Nancy Clarkson
Head of Planning and Performance

Contact:
Phone: 6664329
Email: nancyclarkson@wirral.gov.uk

Page 48

Wirral Children’s Trust

Agenda Item 8

Local Safeguarding Children Board

Protocol Between Wirral Children’s Trust and Wirral Local Safeguarding Children Board
1.0

Aim

1.1

The aim of the protocol is to ensure complete clarity about local accountabilities underpinned
by effective local challenge.

2.0

Roles

2.1

Wirral Children’s Trust (WCT) and Wirral Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) have
important but distinctive roles in keeping children safe. It is not a hierarchical relationship.
WCT is accountable for overseeing the delivery of the Children and Young People’s Plan
(CYPP). In progressing this plan the Trust is accountable for ensuring services deliver
improved outcomes for Children and Young People.

2.2

LSCB is responsible for challenging each relevant partner of WCT, through the WCT Board,
on their success in ensuring that children and young people are kept safe in the Borough.

2.3

In order to ensure the complementary roles of the two bodies and the necessary challenge
the two bodies are chaired by different people.

2.4

The Director of Children’s Services (DCS) and the Lead Member for Children’s Services
have central roles. The DCS has lead responsibility for improving outcomes for children in
the Borough. The Lead Member is politically accountable for ensuring that the Local
Authority (LA) fulfils its legal responsibilities for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of
children and young people. The Lead Member should provide the political leadership needed
for the effective co-ordination of work with other relevant agencies with safeguarding
responsibilities. The Lead Member will also take steps to assure themselves that effective
quality assurance systems for safeguarding are in place and functioning effectively across
services areas and levels of need.

2.5

The DCS is a member of both WCT and LSCB. The Lead Member is Chair of WCT and is a
‘participant observer’ of LSCB as described by statutory guidance Working Together (2010).

2.6

The LA Chief Executive and Council Leader also have critical roles to play. The Chief
Executive is responsible for satisfying himself that the DCS is fulfilling their managerial
responsibilities for safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children and young people. In
particular by ensuring that the relationship between the CTB and the LSCB is working
effectively; that clear responsibility has been assigned within the LA and among WCT
partners for improving services and outcomes; and that targets for improving safeguarding
and progress against them are reported to the Local Strategic Partnership (LSP).

2.7

The wider public has an important role to play: keeping children safe is everyone’s
responsibility. WCT has actively sought the views of the local community and consulted
children young people and their families when drawing up the CYPP.

2.8

From April 2010 LSCB arrangements will be opened up to wider public scrutiny through the
appointment of two lay members drawn from the local community to the LSCB. This will
support stronger public engagement in, and understanding of children’s safety issues. The
voice and experiences of young people will also affirm the work of LSCB by ensuring that
one of the lay persons position is taken up by a member of the Children in Care Council.

Page 49

Wirral Children’s Trust

Local Safeguarding Children Board

3.0

LSCB Responsibilities

3.1

The LSCB is the decision making body for multi-agency safeguarding activity within Wirral. It
is a statutory partnership and its work is directed by statutory guidance which dictates its
functions. The DCS has a statutory responsibility for ensuring that an effective Safeguarding
Children Board is in place for the local area.

3.2

The work of the LSCB falls into three broad areas, all of which aim to safeguard children and
promote their welfare by:
• Protecting children from maltreatment;
• Preventing impairment of children’s health or development;
• Ensuring that children grow up in circumstances consistent with the provision of safe
and effective care.

3.3

The LSCB is well positioned through its various quality assurance processes to advise, and
where appropriate, challenge WCT arrangements. For example learning from Serious Case
Reviews, Child Death Overview Panels, section 11 self assessments and multi-agency
critical incident reviews.

3.4

From April 2011 the LSCB will publish an Annual report on the effectiveness of arrangements
locally, and the contribution and activities of each local partner for keeping children safe as
outlined in Working Together Guidance March 2010.

3.5

The LSCB will report on its safeguarding performance information on a quarterly basis to the
WCT and LSCB. It will make recommendations from the monitoring and evaluation of
safeguarding arrangements during the year.

4.0

Children’s Trust Responsibilities

4.1

WCT is the statutory local partnership brings together organisations responsible for
children’s services. It is a thematic group of the Local Strategic Partnership (LSP).

4.2

It has responsibility for developing and publishing a Children and Young People’s Plan
(CYPP). The plan sets out how CT partners co-operate to improve the well-being of children
in the local area and will monitor how partners act in accordance with the plan.

4.3

WCT must ensure the work of all the strategy groups takes into account the safeguarding
needs of children in the development of the CYPP.

4.4

WCT as part of its CYPP Annual Review will make an assessment of the effectiveness of
partnership arrangements in supporting the best possible standards for safeguarding children
And in its response WCT will ensure that any refresh to the plan include priorities identified
by the LSCB.

4.5

WCT will seek approval from LSCB regarding any proposed commissioning arrangements
which are linked to the factors which impact on safeguarding children, including
compromised parenting.

5.0

Operational Arrangements

5.1

WCT and LSCB will jointly hold an annual event to meet with frontline staff which will explore
the effectiveness of safeguarding at all levels of need.

Page 50

Wirral Children’s Trust

Local Safeguarding Children Board

5.2

The LSCB will report to the CT each quarter on the arrangements for local safeguarding by
monitoring and scrutinising activity and offer robust challenge to partners and the Trust on its
activity. It will provide an annual report setting out the assessment of local safeguarding and
its findings and make recommendations for improvement. The LSCB will also reflect within
the annual report priorities for commissioning of safeguarding activity

5.3

The following people are members of both WCT and LSCB Boards. This will ensure clear
lines of communication:
• Lead Member for Children’s Services
• Director of Children’s Services
• Director of Strategic Partnerships, Wirral Primary Care Trust.

5.4

Once agreed by WCT Board and the LSCB this protocol will be embedded in Wirral
Children’s Trust Memorandum of Understanding and will be reviewed annually with the
Memorandum.

6.0

Resolution Process

6.1

LSCB will request evidence from WCT as to it’s rigour in commissioning or developing
Safeguarding services. LSCB will call member of the Children’s Trust to account should it
have evidence that children are not being adequately safeguarded by one or more relevant
partners. The resolution will require a formal response/ action from WCT within a specific
timeframe which will be agreed mutually.

Page 51

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 52

Agenda Item 10
WIRRAL CHILDREN’S TRUST BOARD – 27th May 2010
DEVELOPING COMMISSIONING UPDATE:

1.0 Background
On 19th March 2010 the Children’s Trust Board discussed a paper regarding developing
the commissioning role of the Children’s Trust. The paper made a number of
recommendations about actions related to developing the commissioning role and function
of the Children’s Trust that were supported by the Trust Board:
a) That the newly established Children’s’ Trust Executive is not changed and that
further development of its executive role is explored.
b) That the Board does not seek pooling of all budgets at this stage, rather that piloting
of budgets in no more than three key priority areas is taken forward.
c) That partners provide details and clarity on how appropriate separation of
commissioning and provider responsibilities is managed and maintained.
d) Lead commissioners and associated commissioning officers are identified for all
areas of commissioning across the Children’s Trust.
e) The Council and NHS Wirral appoint to the currently vacant Joint Commissioning
Manager post. The postholder on appointment should map resources across both
organisations and develop proposals for coordinating these resources as a virtual
commissioning support team.
The Board also resolved to receive updates on developments re: commissioning at each
of its meetings.
2.0 Progress
Significant progress of these developments is predicated on the appointment of the post
described above. Draft job details have been prepared and further discussions need to
take place to finalise these. Specifically with the Head of Branch Planning and Resources
as it is emerging that this will be the home department for this post within the Council,
although full consideration of the relevant merits etc. of how this post is hosted have not
taken place.
The Children’s Trust Executive has met in-between Board meetings. There is continuing
focus on developing the executive role and clarity over items that should be discussed at
the executive. The draft project plan for preparing a new Children’s and Young People’s
Plan (CYPP) has been discussed and is being developed very much from a
commissioning angle.
The ongoing Financial Summit workstream being overseen by the Director of Children
Services on behalf of the Wirral Health & Leadership Group is progressing work on three
key service areas where efficiencies could be generated through better joint working – this
will provide opportunities to explore pooled budgets. A toolkit is currently being reviewed
to support the identification of what efficiencies could be achieved.

Page 53

1

Discussions with The Commissioning Support Programme (CSP) are talking place to
agree a final support plan for the coming year. Commissioned by the then Department of
Children, Schools and Families, CSP will offer Wirral a number of days of consultancy
support to develop the Children’s Trust Commissioning. Two areas that support is being
considered to be assisted by this support are a facilitated workshop for Speech and
Language Therapies and mapping of resources to support the development of the new
CYPP.
3.0 Recommendations
Wirral Children’s Trust Board is asked to note recent progress re: developing
commissioning.

Report Authors:
Peter Wong

Lead Contact:
Peter.wong@wirral.nhs.uk
0151 6513987

Page 54

2

Agenda Item 11
WIRRAL CHILDREN’S TRUST BOARD – 28 MAY 2010
ACTIVITY FUND PLUS COMMISSIONING REPORT

Introduction
This report outlines to the Children’s Trust the recommendations from the Commissioning
Panel for the commissioning of youth activities commissioned from the Positive Activity
Fund element of the Area Based Grant. The Trust Board are asked to approve the
recommendations as outlined at the end of the report.
1.

Background
As part of the Aiming High Proposals, additional funding has been made available
to local authorities under Positive Activities for Young People (PAYP) an Area
Based Grant. This funding previously routed through Connexions was used to
provide a number of support packages for young people at risk of truanting,
offending, negative peer group pressure and associated health risks. Specific
activities were commissioned to engage the young people during school holidays, in
2008-09 the funding available was £339K, and in 2009-10 this is increased by
£243K to £582K and by £417K to £756K in 2010/11. Guidance produced by the
DCSF makes clear that this uplift in funding is to support targeted and universal
week-end diversionary activities for young people. At its meeting on 11 September
2009, The Trust Board approved the first round of commissioning; this report seeks
to conclude that process.

1.2

At the meeting on 23rd April 2009, Cabinet approved the criteria to be applied when
commissioning organisations to provide universal and week-end activities see
section 1.5. In addition, cabinet approved the organisations/ departments from
which representatives for the commissioning panel could be drawn. These were as
follows:
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!

1.3

Police/ Community Safety
Fire & Rescue
Link Forum
14-19 Partnership/LSC
PCT- Strategic Lead
Neighbourhood Pathfinder Organisation
Children and Young People’s Department
Representative from Transport
Members of the Executive Youth Board
Extended Schools link
Member of staff from Asset Management Department

The organisations and departments listed reflect the range of stakeholders involved
in delivering the youth agenda. Representation from Asset management was to
ensure any decisions made had taken account of the Council’s Strategic Asset
Review.

Page 55

1.4

Key to the process was the focussing of resources to ensure a better Youth Offer in
each of the districts. Young people had already been consulted at the Youth Voice
Conference and through Youth Forums on the type of activities and places they
would like to have commissioned. Tendering organisations were asked to
demonstrate how they would work in partnership to enhance the current provision
and meet the diverse needs of Wirral’s young people. Although all the organisations
could demonstrate partnership links, the tender from the Youth & Play Service and
Partners detailed how partnership working would be planned and monitored by
newly formed district planning groups. The Children’s Trust Board approved the
criteria for the commissioning process detailed below.
Organisations had to demonstrate the following criteria if they were to be short
listed:
Understanding of the requirements:
!
!
!

!

!
!

Young people influencing the planning, delivery and evaluation of services.
Successfully meet the requirements of the Pre Qualifying Questionnaire
Method Statement (PQQ)
Demonstrate value for money in provision of universal/ targeted youth work.
This is to include open youth work and an agreed number of planned group
work sessions which will be linked to local policy issues such as teenage
pregnancy and the Respect agenda.
Recording systems of attendances by young people at different projects. –
This system to be compliant with local authority requirements regarding
unique individuals.
Provision accessible to public transport routes.
Provision of youth services that ensure outputs linked to national Key
Performance Indicators underpinning Targeted Youth Support, Integrated
Youth Support and Participation indicators.

Track Record:
!
!
!
!

Evidence of programme planning to meet local /district needs
Experience of successful external funding applications.
Experience of partnership working across organisations to further develop
youth services for young people.
Evidence of consortium approaches to planning and delivery of services.

Delivery Concept
!
!
!
!

Young people influencing the planning, delivery and evaluation of services.
Be fully accessible for young people who are Looked After or who have
learning Difficulties and Disabilities.
Provision that is supporting the Integrated Youth Support Strategy
Demonstrate value for money in provision of universal/ targeted youth work.

Page 56

1.5.

The Commissioning Process

1.6

The Commissioning criteria are detailed in section 1.5. The Commissioning Panel
for this round had representation from the following:
!
!
!
!
!
!

The Link Forum
Asset management Department
14-19 Team
Children & Young People’s Department
Police/ Community Safety
Primary Care Trust (PCT) strategic Lead

1.7

In response to feedback from the previous commissioning process, some changes
were made to the process for the Activity Fund Plus Commissioning. Specifically
this resulted in the process being done in two stages; with organisations completing
the Pre Qualifying Questionnaire (PQQ) for stage one. Organisations that had been
successful in the earlier commissioning of the Activity Fund were only required to
register an Expression of Interest. All organisations that met the PQQ criteria were
invited to submit a Method Statement and in line with the Compact agreement with
the Link Forum, were given eight weeks to complete the Method Statement. All
organisations including those that had registered an Expression of Interest were
required to complete the Method Statement. Following consultation with the Link
Forum the questions in the Method Statement were reduced from nineteen to eight.
The Method Statement also detailed the presentation requirements, thereby
ensuring all organisations had time to prepare. The interview process consisted of
a ten minute presentation and time for follow up questions plus each organisation
was asked the same set questions. Six organisations were invited to prepare a
Method Statement; Activate Arts, Blossom, Involve Northwest, RDPO Enterprises,
Youth and Play Service and Partners and the Youth Federation. Five Method
Statements were returned and table A records the total scores achieved by each of
the organisations.

1.8

The following is a summary of the commissioning process:
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!

1.9

Tender advertised 11 November 2009
Procurement Workshop 25 November
Desktop evaluation 8/02/2010 – 12/02/2010
Validation Panel and short listing 12 February
Short listed organisations notified 12 February
Method Statements submitted 14 April
Interviews 26 April
Evaluation Matrix signed off by panel 30 April
Report to Cabinet 27 May
Report to Wirral’s Children’s Trust – 28 May 2010
Contract Awarded 1st July

Please see Appendix A for interview questions and presentation requirements.

Page 57

1.10

In this round of commissioning, the panel were commissioning units of activity to
complement the current Youth Offer. Units included Big Nights, Sit Offs, Specialist
Youth Support and Specialist activity providers. Please see Appendix C for the
descriptors of the different units. Although all areas were considered for this round,
a priority was to increase provision in South and West Wirral as in the previous
rounds these areas were undersubscribed. Below are two tables. Table A details
the scores for each organisation that applied and Table B indicates the successful
organisations and the amounts that are being recommended for allocation. The
detail of the units purchased from each organisation can be found in Appendix B.

Table A
Organisation
RDPO Enterprises
Youth and Play Service and Partners
Activate Arts
Youth Federation
Blossom

Scores (Including the weighting)
212
196
155
147
146

Table B
Organisation

Amount allocated

Amount
Requested
RDPO Enterprises
£68,656
Youth and Play service £59230
and Partners

£63,386
£45,114

District or Wirral
Wide
Wirral Wide
Wirral Wide

1.11

The amount allocated to both organisations is less than that requested. In the case
of RDPO Enterprises this will mean there will be two outside activities as opposed
to 4. As appropriate venues have to be identified, the outside activities will be
subject to planning permission, consultation with the Police and other stakeholders,
statutory approval and they will not take place until all requirements have been met
and will be subject to a further report to Cabinet. The amount allocated to the
Youth and Play Service, is approximately 30% less than requested.
Commissioners will agree with the Youth and Play Service and Partners what units
will be provided. The discussions will also look at how to increase the number of
activities available in South and Wirral West.

1.12

There are some risks attached to entering into a contract with any new provider.
Identified risks have been addressed through the pre qualifying assessment
undertaken as part of the procurement process or mitigated through other actions.
In the event that the supplier could cease trading, any financial loss will be
minimised by paying invoices only on completion of agreed activities. Risks
presented by possible objections to venues will be minimised by the involvement of
staff from Licensing, Technical services, Cultural Services, Asset Management and
officers from Merseyside Police in the planning stages. In addition, consultation
with community groups will be undertaken as part of the planning process.

Page 58

2.

Financial Implications

2.1

The cost of commissioned services will be met from the PAYP budget. The
activities will be Commissioned until 31 March 2011

3.

Staffing Implications

3.1

There are no staffing implications arising from this report.

4.

Equal Opportunities Implications/Health Impact Assessment

4.1

The activities commissioned are universal with open access, equal opportunities is
one of the underpinning factors considered as part of the commissioning process
and by activity providers. The activities are aimed at improving the emotional health
and well being of young people who take part.

5.

Community Safety Implications

5.1

The activities commissioned are intended to have greater engagement by young
people who are at risk of getting into trouble within their neighbourhoods.

6.

Local Agenda 21 Implications

6.1

Consultation will take place with relevant stakeholders regarding the RDPO
programme to ensure compliance.

7.

Planning Implications

7.1

There are none arising from this report.

8.

Anti-poverty Implications

8.1

The activities commissioned aim to raise aspirations in young people and also to
provide informal learning opportunities.

9.

Social Inclusion Implications

9.1
are

The aim of these activities is to enhance social inclusion and ensure young people
engaging in positive activities at the weekend.

10.

Local Member Support Implications

10.1

This report affects all wards.

11.

Background Papers

11.1

Aiming High – A Ten Year Strategy for Positive Activities

Page 59

RECOMMENATIONS:
That
(1) The Wirral Children’s Trust Board approve the allocations as outlined in section 1.10
and awards the following:
RDPO Enterprises - £63,386
Youth and Play service and partners - £45,114
(2) That Wirral Children’s Trust Board receive a further report in June following
consultation setting out the RDPO programme.
(3) Discussions take place with the Youth and Play Service and Partners to increase the
youth activities available in South and West Wirral

Report Author:

Maureen McDaid

Contact: 0151-666 4508

Page 60

Page 61

Big nights
Innovative, different,
exciting, creative
Young people’s input,
suggestions and
requirements
Partnership and
collaborative working
Activities happening in
evenings, particularly Friday
and Saturday evenings
Risk assessment and
safeguarding
Community involvement and
consultation
Outcomes against indicators
Effective and efficient
monitoring
Value for money/cost
effective

Notes/ Comments

Score 0-1-2-3-4-5

K:\Nancy\Childrens!Trusts\CT!Board!Meetings\2010_05_28_BoardMeeting\Reports\M!McDaid\28.05.10!Appendix!A!Activity!Fund!Plus!Commissioning!!Presentation!and!Interview!questions.doc!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

Possible Key Words

The 4 “Ws” In order to attract and retain our service users, provision has to be innovative and exciting. In your presentation we
are looking for you to describe WHAT you intend to provide, WHY you are proposing the activities, WHERE and WHEN you intend
to carry the provision out, and how you will make it innovative and exciting.

Appendix A :Presentation Topic

!

Page 62

Use of website when
available
Promotional visits to other
organisations
Advertising the service
opportunities through
appropriate support
agencies
Promote via schools
Promote opportunities via
outreach workers

Possible Key words
Notes/Comments
Positive new experiences
User surveys carried out to
identify gaps.
Big Nights
Availability of Information,.
Activities that represent fun
Diversions from risk taking
or antisocial behaviour
Joint planning
Agreed referral processes
Named partners
Discussion in progress

Score 0/1/2/3/4/5

K:\Nancy\Childrens!Trusts\CT!Board!Meetings\2010_05_28_BoardMeeting\Reports\M!McDaid\28.05.10!Appendix!A!Activity!Fund!Plus!Commissioning!!Presentation!and!Interview!questions.doc!

3. How do you intend to
promote your offer and
draw in the users of this
provision, particularly
with respect to those
from diverse cultures,
backgrounds and
groups?
How will you ensure that
young people are not
excluded by virtue of

2. Tell us how you intend
to work in partnerships
within your local Wirral
districts.
(Wallasey, Birkenhead,
South Wirral, West
Wirral)

Question
1. How will your
organisation meet the
needs of young people
and what will the
provision bring to the
youth offer?

Activity Fund Plus Commissioning questions

!
!

!

Page 63

Young people’s
evaluations on any existing
provision.
User surveys
Support for young people.
Regular and ongoing
evaluations by young
people of the programme,
both formal and informal
Set targets of attendance
are met.
Quality assurance
procedures
Retention figures

Register of unique
individuals to capture
diversity information
Anonymise individuals for
attendance purposes
Submit attendance sheets

5. How will you
determine that you are
being successful?

6. How do you intend to
monitor effectively in
order to ensure that you
are reaching a broad
group of young people?
How will you assess the

K:\Nancy\Childrens!Trusts\CT!Board!Meetings\2010_05_28_BoardMeeting\Reports\M!McDaid\28.05.10!Appendix!A!Activity!Fund!Plus!Commissioning!!Presentation!and!Interview!questions.doc!

Location of facilities with
relation to links to public
transport.
Health and safety policies
Risk assessments
Discussions with
locals/neighbourhood
forums

4. Where will you operate
from and how do you
intend to ensure the
safety of the service user
particularly with respect
to travel to and from the
venues?

cost?

!

Page 64

regularly
Collate information
Observation of practise
Joint monitoring meeting
Agreed operational
standards
Agreed outcomes
Impact on staffing levels.
Number of sessions that
could be offered.
(not a scoring question but
for clarification.)

K:\Nancy\Childrens!Trusts\CT!Board!Meetings\2010_05_28_BoardMeeting\Reports\M!McDaid\28.05.10!Appendix!A!Activity!Fund!Plus!Commissioning!!Presentation!and!Interview!questions.doc!

7. As you will be aware,
this process is about
commissioning units of
activities, the panel may
not be able to purchase
all you have offered. If
this were the case what
would be the implications
for your organisation?

impact and monitor the
youth offer

!

Appendix B - Activity Fund plus - Summary RDPO and Youth Service and
partners Requests
Provider!
!
T2!RDPO!
Enterprises!
!

!

!

!
!

Area!
!
Wirral!Wide!

!

!
!
T4!Youth!and!
Play!service!
!

!
!
Birkenhead!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

T4!cont.!Youth!
and!Play!

Wallasey!

!

!

Offer!
!
Big!Nights!
38!units!
11!units!

Pricing!
!
£33,516!
(1!unit!=!£882)!
£12,540!
(1!unit!=!£1,140)!
4!units!
£10,540!
(1!unit!=!£2635)!
Cultural/specialist! £12,060!
134!units!
(1!unit!=!£90)!
Total!
£68,656!
!
!
Sit!Off!
£700!
10!units!
(1!unit!=!£70)!
Specialist!youth!
£4,506.60!
support!
(1!unit!=!£12.95)!
348!units!
£3,195.51!
Cultural!
(1!unit!=!
/specialist!
£110.19)!
29!units!
13!units!!
£3,307.46!
(1!unit!=!
£254.42)!
40!units!
£2,554!
(1!unit!=!£63.85)!
Response!to!local! £3,800!
(1!unit!=!£190)!
needs!
20!units!
9!units!
£605.88!
(1!unit!=!£67.32)!
28!units!
£4,641.56!
(1!unit!=£165.77)!
10!units!!
£2,541.70!
(1!unit!=£68.50)!
52!units!
£8,684!
(1!unit!=!£167)!
Total!
£32,680.01!
£34,314.01!
+!5%!
management!fee!
!
!
£2,701.92!
Specialist!youth!
(1!unit!=!£12.99)!
support!
208!units!
!
Cultural!specialist! £2,313.99!
21!units!
(1!unit!=!
£110.19)!

Page 65

Comment!
!
Uone8!
Wirral’s!got!young!
talent!
Outside!activities!
Event!management!
committee!
!
!
Prenton!High!
School/Albany!Hall!
Response!

Wirral!Youth!Theatre

Urban!Adventure!

Charing!X!YC!music!
project!
Hot!spot!sporting!
activities!
Kontactabus/MUGAs
Viking!YC!Friday!
evening!dancing!
Courtney!Park!
Grange!Baptist!
!
!

Response!

Wirral!Youth!Theatre
Birkenhead!Youth!
hub???!

!

!

52!units!

!

!

10!units!

!

!

!

!

Response!to!local!
needs!
15!units!
20!units!!

!
!

!
!

!

South!Wirral!

!
!

!
!

!

West!Wirral!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

Total!
+!5%!
management!fee!
Cultural/specialist!
6!units!
Total!
+!5%!
management!fee!
Cultural/specialist!
6!units!
Total!
+!5%!
management!fee!
!
!

!

Page 66

£8,925.80!
(1!unit!=!
£171.65)!
£2,541.70!
(1!unit!=£254.17)!
£2,850!
(1!unit!=£190)!

Wallasey!YMCA!
Body!Zone!
Urban!Adventure!
Hot!Spots!sporting!
activity!

£1,346.40!
(1!unit!=£67.32)!
£20,679.81!
£21,713.80!

Kontactabus/MUGAs

£1,525.02!
(1!unit!=!254.17)!
£1,525.02!
£1,601.27!

Urban!Adventure!!

£1,525.02!
(1!unit!=!254.17)!
£1,525.02!
£1,601.27!
!
Total!request!
RDPO!
Total!request!
Youth!&!Play!
service!and!
partners!
!
!
Total!Request!

!
!

!
!
Urban!Adventure!
!
!
!
£68,656!
!
!
£59,230.35!
!
!
!
!
£127,886.35!
!
!

Appendix C Unit Description

Core Activities
Listed below are a number of core activities which the Children & Young
People’s Department is seeking to deliver within each District.

Big Nights
Two large events in each District each month, to take place at the week-ends
e.g. band nights, discos, large youth arts events or other appropriate
diversionary activities.

Sit Off’s
This will be a Friday evening service. Three hours per night (7.00pm –
10.00pm) to be held at two separate venues within each District.
The provision of attractive comfortable venues, which may be a local Youth
Club, Café Bar, or dedicated access by young people to other types of
venues, where young people can meet, spend the evening and purchase
affordable food and refreshments.

Specialist Youth Support
This is support which can be commissioned from specialist youth support
organisations or, specialist youth support organisations can submit their own
tender. The purpose of this fund is to ensure that barriers to engagement by
vulnerable young people are addressed to ensure greater take up from these
groups.

Participation Worker
Participation Workers will have to support the implementation of the Council’s
programme of participation activities including young people’s involvement at
Youth Club/ Project Level, involvement by young people at the District Board,
Youth Forums, Youth Voice Conference and Youth Parliament.

Additional Activities
As well as the Core Activities listed above the Children & Young People’s
Department is also seeking to deliver a number of additional youth services,
namely:-

Cultural / Specialist Provision
Specialist provision can be buying in specific activities such as wall climbing,
cycling, canoeing, youth arts, DJ activities etc.

Page 67

Response to Local Needs
This money can be used to pay for additional activities which will be planned
to respond to locally identified need.

Page 68

Agenda Item 12
WIRRAL CHILDREN’S TRUST BOARD – 28th May 2010
EXTERNAL MONITORING OF THE ACTIVITY FUND REPORT

1.0 Background
This report has been prepared following the monitoring of the commissioned activities funded
through the Positive Activities element of the Area Based Grant. The report identifies areas
of good practice and makes recommendations for future development.

2.0 Recommendations:
2.1 That Wirral Children’s Trust Board note the report.

Report Author:
Contact:
Eileen Newman
Senior Lecturer Liverpool John Moores University
Email: e.t.newman@ljmu.ac.uk

Page 69

External Monitoring
of the Activity Fund

A Report to Wirral Children’s Trust

Report compiled by
Eileen Newman
Senior Lecturer in Childhood and Adolescence Studies
Liverpool John Moores University
March 2010

Page 70

Contents
1. Background.

2. Executive Summary.

3. Wirral’s Local Response to National Agenda.

4. Creating a Participative Evaluation Process
through External Monitoring.

5. Findings of the External Monitoring Process.

6. Strengths of Programmes funded by the
Activity Fund.

7. Recommendations.

Page 71

1. Background Information

According to section 507B of the Education Act 1996, amended by the
Education and Inspection Act of 2007, local authorities have a statutory duty
to secure access for young people to a sufficient local offer of positive
activities.

In 2009 Wirral Council invited eligible organisations to tender for funding from
the ‘Activity Fund’ to provide activities in order to respond to the needs of
young people who are vulnerable or at risk, at times when they would most
benefit from these activities.
This initiative was intended to;

!

support the implementation of the Integrated Youth Strategy through
developing multi-agency or partnership approaches.

!

work within and contribute to the ‘Every Child Matters Framework’ by
targeting at risk or vulnerable young people.

!

assist other services in meeting the key priorities of ‘Wirral Children
and Young People’s Plan i.e. Teenage Pregnancy; risk taking
behaviour; to reducing the numbers of NEET young people; to support
young people at risk of becoming homeless or at risk of offending.

Commissioned activities are intended to increase partnership collaboration,
identify new providers and extend the range of opportunities within the
districts.
They are an enhancement of the current Youth Offer in respect of:
!

providing activities at weekends on Fridays and Saturdays.

Page 72

!

financially supporting collaboration with arts, sports and cultural
organisations thus increasing participation in those organisations and
extending the range of opportunities in the Youth Offer.

Three organisations were successful in their tenders and accepted as
approved providers for activities:
-

Birkenhead Youth Club.

-

Blossom Inspiration.

-

Wirral Youth and Play Service and Partners.

Together they have been commissioned to set up a range of activities which
would be responsive to local need; address strategic issues in Wirral and be
attractive enough to encourage sustained participation and involvement by
young people.
Activities funded by the Activity Fund include:

1.2

!

Two Big Nights in each district e.g. band nights, disco’s large youth
arts/sports evenings. These events can attract young people from a
wider area and break down territorial barriers.

!

Two Sit Off Nights per district to provide attractive meeting places for
young people where they will feel safe, meet others and engage in
social and emotional skill development.

!

Specialist Youth Support to work in collaboration with a range of
agencies to provide support for the most vulnerable or at risk and break
down barriers to engagement.

!

Participation Worker to work alongside other partners in support of the
implementation of the Council’s programme of participation activities at
club/project, district and Council levels.

!

Cultural/Specialist Provision. Collaborative projects which will attract
young people to achieving success in specific activities e.g. youth arts,
D.J activities, canoeing, outdoor education.

The external monitoring report and the monitoring process on which the report
is based has ;
!

applied the Framework for Assessment of Commissioned Youth Services
to information gained from monitoring visits to provide information to drive
forward improvements.

Page 73

1.3

!

highlighted the strengths of activity programmes identifying factors that
contribute to effectiveness for wider dissemination.

!

identified areas for development for providers which might have
implications for resource allocation and form part of an action plan to
improve delivery.

!

developed further the monitoring process for 2010/11.

Using the Framework for Assessment of Commissioned Youth Services the
monitoring process has paid particular attention to the extent to which
Providers have produced evidence of:

!

strategic planning to contribute to the Integrated Youth Support Strategy.

!

involvement in area forums and collaboration with district partners in
identifying unmet needs at local level.

!

involving young people in the design and delivery of programmes.

!

making provision at weekends from 7-11pm and weekdays from 7-10pm.

!

the provision of stimulating programmes across a range of activities which
attract and ensure young people’s participation, active engagement and
provide positive outcomes e.g. new skills, accreditation.

In addition, monitoring visits have checked that Providers are complying with
Wirral’s regulations in; ensuring the Safeguarding of Children and Young
People; ensuring all staff have current enhanced CRB checks; that Risk
Assessment and Health and Safety procedures are adhered to in the delivery
of services.

2

Executive Summary

2.1

All providers visited demonstrated a clear understanding of the underpinning
legal requirements for the delivery of services. Procedures about
Safeguarding Children and Young People, Risk Assessments, Health and
Safety requirements and enhanced CRB checks were understood and
adhered to by all staff. Across the range of provision visited, effective
administration and communication of these procedures was demonstrated.
Evidence from monitoring suggests that Wirral is already meeting Standard 6
of the new Standards for Positive Activities.

Page 74

2.2

Providers were able to demonstrate how the activities provided fitted with
strategic issues in Wirral. Those commonly mentioned were, social inclusion,
avoidance of risk taking or anti-social behaviour, offering opportunities for fun
and participation and making young people feel valued. This corresponds well
with the target groups for the Activity Fund being young people who are
vulnerable and at risk.

2.3

The provision commissioned and monitored by the Activity Fund related
directly to local needs. This was evidenced by the feedback from young
people attending the activities and from the reactions of local people e.g. In a
Hip Hop activity in a voluntary youth club neighbours came to commend the
workers on how well they were running the activity in conjunction with Police
activities in the park. In a field on a social housing estate a multi-agency team
including sports development, youth service and participation workers had set
up sports activities and community members had noticed that there was less
trouble from the young people in the area. Of particular interest was the
involvement of small voluntary community organisations in larger collaborative
bids. These small community and voluntary organisations are located in areas
where there is little other provision. The organisations are often established in
response to local needs and are very well attended.

2.4

Integrated working was viewed very positively by all staff involved in
commissioned activities. Staff felt that by working together they could provide
more attractive and diverse activities which more fully met the needs of
vulnerable and at risk young people. A church youth club was able to combine
with the Youth Theatre to provide a very exciting ‘band night’ which they could
not offer on their own. A voluntary youth centre was able to bring in advice
and guidance activities to help with personal and social issues amongst young
men and women. Attractive planned provision to meet both local needs and
Wirral’s strategic aims had forged new partnerships and engaged staff interest
in working together to develop more multi-agency projects.

2.5

The Framework for the Assessment of Commissioned Activities provides
good evidence that the commissioning process is improving the quality and
range of Wirral’s Youth Offer more equitably across districts. Organisations
have been required to consider Wirral’s strategic issues, and assess needs
and gaps at the local level in consultation with young people, the community
and other agencies. In drawing up plans they have had to consider who they
need to build partnerships with and what roles each agency will perform within
the partnerships. This has led to more effective planning and delivery of the
new activities which has led to an improvement in the range and quality of the
provision, particularly in relation to more sports, cultural and skill activities.

Page 75

3.

Wirral’s local response to National Agenda.
The forward to the DCSF document ‘Positive Activities’, Good Practice Guide’
(2010) stresses the importance of how young people’s participation in Positive
Activities can help to ;
!

Develop their social and emotional skills.

!

Reduce their involvement in anti-social behaviour as victims or
perpetrators.

!

Impact positively on their resilience and outcomes in later life.

!

Improve relationships between young people and the adults in their
communities.

‘Aiming High for Young People’- three years on (DCSF.2010) provides
evidence of how participation in Positive Activities can produce beneficial
outcomes in social and emotional skills, previously called non cognitive skills,
that provide the foundations to remain engaged in learning and which are
beneficial for good adult outcomes or active citizenship. These social and
emotional skills include:
!

Social skills e.g. interpersonal skills, empathy, tact, building rapport.

!

Self regulation e.g. developing a personal locus of control in relation to
emotions, aspiration and motivation.

!

Self efficacy e.g. ability to carry out actions to achieve personal goals;
application and persistence.

These are skills that employers are increasingly demanding from labour
market entrants. These skills are also understood to support the
development of cognitive skills and to discourage participation in risky
behaviours.
In the development of the Principles of Operation of the Activity Fund,
Wirral has put these social and emotional outcomes at the centre of their
requirements of Provider’s of Activity Programmes. A focus on these
outcomes for young people was noted by the External Monitoring as being
evident within their observation of young people and staff and volunteer’s
behaviour during monitoring visits.

4.

Creating a Participative Evaluation Process through External
Monitoring.

Page 76

The aim of the external monitoring process was to design with partners a
robust, transparent and user friendly quality assurance system to monitor
programmes of activity commissioned by the Children’s Trust through the
Activity Fund.
The monitoring process had a particular focus on the fact that the purpose of
the Activity Fund was to enhance Wirral’s existing Youth Offer, in order to
respond more effectively to the needs of young people who are vulnerable, at
risk or in communities or social groups where access to activities has been
limited.
In line with Wirral’s commitment to Partnership working and involving young
people in decision making, a participative evaluation method was devised and
facilitated by the External Monitor. This process ensured that data and
feedback was collected from all those involved in designing, delivering and
participating in activities supported by the Activity Fund i.e.
!

Commissioning Officers.

!

The Link Forum.

!

Partners providing activities.

!

Young People.

The interactions of these partners in the design and implementation of the
monitoring procedures ensured all partners were able to learn from the
process and to apply their learning in relation to collaborative working,
strategic planning, assessment of local needs and involving young people in
the design and delivery to make continued improvements to the enhanced
Youth Offer in Wirral.

4.2

Process.

4.2.1 Meeting of the Collaborative External Monitoring Group to consider and agree
procedures and schedules for monitoring visits e.g. sample visits in each
district; timetable of visits; assessment tools recording processes.
This meeting also planned for incorporating young people’s views in the
monitoring process and made plans for an open consultation meeting with
Partners to engage their trust and confidence through openness and
transparency.

Page 77

4.2.2 Meeting of Collaborative External Monitoring Group with Partners in open
consultations on all matters relating to the monitoring process. Partners were
able to ask questions, raise issues and develop a shared understanding of the
aims and methods of the monitoring process were established.
4.2.3 A schedule of monitoring visits were carried out by joint teams of external
monitors. External monitors ensured that baseline regulatory procedures were
in place. Discussions were held with staff from different agencies involved in
the project about how needs were assessed; what were the intended
outcomes for young people; how young people were involved in the design
and delivery of the project and what opportunities there were for young
people’s acquisition of skills, progression and accreditation.
Joint monitors consulted young people about their involvement in planning,
opportunities for new experiences and what they valued about their particular
projects.
From the evidence collected, the joint external monitors gave feedback to staff
and young people together, highlighting good practice, issues to address and
opportunities for further development.
This, on the spot reporting back system was very much appreciated by
Partners staff and young people involved in the project. Partners in particular
felt it confirmed the transparency of the monitoring process promised at their
briefing session. Young people reported that they felt valued and engaged in
the process and this encouraged them to take on more responsibility within
their projects.
It was also noted that by using this process Wirral is already largely complying
with Standard 4 of the new Quality Standards for Positive Activities (DCSF
2010).

5.

Findings of the External Monitoring Process.

5.1

Evaluation Measures.
Joint teams of external monitors agreed a schedule of visits with Providers
that would provide evidence across a range of activities, geographical districts
and types of organisation e.g. voluntary and statutory.

Page 78

Visits were conducted using the Framework for Assessment of Commissioned
Youth Services applying a Red, Amber, Green visual measure to the
evaluation of each project. Results of this evaluation were given with feedback
to Providers, Staff and young people at the end of each visit of the twenty two
Activities visited.

5.2

!

20 were awarded the green measure having satisfied all the criteria
and demonstrating good practice that could be incorporated into the
Integrated Youth Support Strategy.

!

2 were awarded the red measure because they had not been able to
attract young people to the activities they provided or because they did
not have the full organisational capacity to implement their plans.
Discussions are already taking place with these organisations.

Examples of Good Practice.

5.2.1 Big Nights.
One Big Night was planned for each district. This is a major event that would
attract and involve young people from across a district and contribute to the
menu of opportunities available at club, project and area level.
The Big Night visited as part of the monitoring process was a Talent Contest
in West Wirral. ‘West Wirral’s Got Talent’ was the finale of the contest which
had its auditions in each of the districts of West Wirral over a number of
months. The whole process had been operated along the lines of ‘Britain’s
Got Talent’ with large numbers of young people, their families and supporters
attending the audition stage in each of the districts.
The Finale was sophisticated and highly impressive. The building had been
transformed into a theatre with professional lighting and sound mixing
together with excellent organisation of the programme for the evening. The
atmosphere was electric as the acts put on their performances with their
supporters roaring support. A very mixed audience attended the event but
many more young people had been involved in making all 4 events a
resounding success. The joint monitoring team felt wider dissemination
amongst the wider Integrated Youth Support Team would stimulate and
encourage more exciting and creative events to attract the engagement of
young people on the Wirral.
5.2.2 Sit Offs.
This provision is intended to offer safe space for young people to develop
social skills and social competence by mixing with their peer groups on
Fridays and Saturdays. Funding was offered to rent or make available
attractive places where young people would feel comfortable. There was

Page 79

some evidence that Providers were not sure how to use this idea and were
using their normal youth club provision of providing a place to meet but on
Friday and Saturday. There is some merit in this in offering services when
young people need them but joint monitoring would assert that engaging
young people more fully in their plans may stimulate more exciting
opportunities.
An example of good practice in developing Sit Offs was a voluntary youth
project in South Wirral which developed a Sit Off night for young women on a
Saturday night alongside its horticultural project. The young women planned
and prepared food for the evening and then set down for a meal together
discussing issues, concerns and having a good time together. The agenda for
the Saturday night Sit Offs was developed by the young women and
attendances were growing as members brought along their friends. On each
Saturday night activities were reviewed and plans made for the following
week. Members are developing plans for expansion of the project.
5.2.3 Cultural, Sport and Specialist Activities.
This category of activity opened up a range of new opportunities for young
people that had not been available before e.g. fishing; Hip Hop D.J. activities;
music technology and performance,; motor bike maintenance; art work; sports
development and training in a range of sports; urban adventure; dance and
advice and guidance.
This category of activity also stimulated the largest amount of collaborative
projects where experts in the specialism worked with voluntary and statutory
youth services, participation workers and of specialist youth workers to meet
the needs of those most at risk. These collaborative arrangements promoted
both the acquisition of skills and involvement of those young people whose
behaviour is not always able to be catered for within a single provision.
Examples of good practice in this category:
!

A voluntary organisation working with a Further Education tutor to
provide motor bike skills and maintenance in an old warehouse on an
industrial estate in Birkenhead. Monitors noted members interest and
skill development, the value they attached to their tutor’s knowledge;
being involved in an activity that was professionally organised even
down to wearing overalls and having formal break times. Young people
said they felt valued and this was a really interesting way to spend their
time, “where they were learning stuff and able to look after their bikes”.

!

A voluntary church youth club offering inclusive activities in Birkenhead
worked with tutors from the Youth Theatre to provide band and
performance nights. This became a very inclusive project where those

Page 80

who had their skills developed assisted other young people with
learning difficulties to have a part in the performances on Saturday
nights. The young people were very involved in the organisation of the
events and had lots of ideas for future development.
!

Advice and guidance in a voluntary club focussed primarily on sports
activities. The female guidance staff worked through dance and
performance activities to build relationships with young people which
then led to personal and social development ‘Talk in’ session. Again
young people particularly valued the expertise and positive
relationships with the workers.

!

In a collaborative sports development project, on a field in the middle of
a disadvantaged social housing estate, Monitors noted the sports
workers developing the skills of young people who might not normally
be engaged in sport in school. Two of the young people progressed to
league teams. Specialist support and participation workers supported
the initiative by engaging and building relationships with young people
who ‘hung around the activity’. Monitors noted the good practice of a
sports worker taking time with a young person to look at self regulation
of his emotions and behaviour which were currently a barrier to the
young person’s achievement.

5.2.4 Contribution by small voluntary and community organisations.
The tender by Wirral Youth and Play Services and partners is an example of
good practice in collaborative integrated work. It is a very complex bid in
attempting to integrate the work of statutory youth support services and
recognise the contribution of local voluntary and community organisations to
personal and social development. In doing so, this bid has enabled the Trust
to meet one of its targets i.e. that of identifying new providers that make a
significant contribution to responding to local needs. These organisations
were characterised by:
!

direct response to observed local needs of the communities of which
they were a member.

!

a strong focus on community engagement and identity with young
people in the community and with the community as a resource e.g.
fundraising and volunteering.

!

creating a sense of ‘belonging in communities’ in line with the DCSF
Standards for Positive Activities (DCSF 2010).

!

building warm, satisfying relationships with young people from a shared
history and identity as community members.

Page 81

Examples of good practice in this category include:
!

A church youth club where the vicar had been concerned about lack of
opportunity and behaviour of young people in the community. In
response he opened up the Church Hall on Saturday nights and now
has an attendance of approximately 120 young people. A very small
amount of funding from the Activity Fund has enabled him to offer a
more interesting and varied programme and secure support from
voluntary helpers/parents in the community. Monitors noted the
liveliness and engagement of members in the club. Young people
reported that they felt safe, valued and that ‘there was always
something going on’.

!

A community organisation that runs a trampolining club for young
people of different age groups, in a very disadvantaged area of the
Wirral. This club was buzzing with activity and engagement by young
people. Apart from the opportunity to gain skills in trampolining, a
number of young people acted as volunteers and there were lots of
other activities and trips they were able to engage in. Young people
noted the warmth of the relationships with the volunteers, ‘they’re
always there for you’. ‘There’s always something going on here’. ‘The
staff don’t take any nonsense but they are there for you’. Monitors
spoke to a young woman with a life threatening illness who came here
because it was safe and she could get out ‘and be with her mates’.

!

A small voluntary youth club that had used funding for a Hip Hop DJ
night that was very well attended. This organisation had worked closely
with police and the local community to address anti-social behaviour in
the nearby park. In their feedback young people were very positive
about their relationships with the staff and their ability to be involved in
planning activities and events. “ The staff are great, they really care”;
“There’s always something going on”; “I’ve been involved in the Hip
Hop and been to see Hip Hop bands – we’re going to do an event for
other young people”.

6.

Strengths of Programmes funded by the Activity Fund.

6.1

The provision of often very small amounts of funding appeared to trigger a
‘can do’ optimism amongst staff about their work.

Page 82

6.2

Having the extra funding encouraged staff from different sectors of the Youth
Support Service to pool their resources, expertise and budgets to enhance
benefits from the new funding. This means that a small investment makes a
larger pool of resources available to meet the needs of young people.

6.3

Working in an integrated way with other services requires more detailed
needs assessment, planning and organisation. This was a challenge to staff
and volunteers but they reported greater job satisfaction in seeing those
planned events coming to fruition.

6.4

Involving young people in the planning and delivery of activities was a
requirement of the funding and often started with support workers consulting
with young people. However in the best practices this moved to collaborative
ongoing planning by staff and volunteers with young people.

6.5

Social and emotional needs were high on the agenda of young people. In all
visits monitors observed meaningful and rewarding relationships with adults.
Across all activity programmes, that were awarded a green measure, young
people’s feedback was about ‘feeling safe’, ‘the staff really understand you’, ’I
get into trouble sometimes but they sit down and talk to you about it’, ‘You can
go and talk to the staff about anything here’.
This feedback from young people is in keeping with the recent report ‘Aiming
Higher – Three years on’ (DCSF 2010), which provides evidence from
research that it not activities in themselves that build the blocks for
engagement by young people, rather it is the opportunities for social,
emotional and personal development incorporated within the total experience
of engagement in activities that become the building blocks for future
engagement and progression.

7.

Recommendations.
!

Disseminate findings from the External Monitoring to assist future
planning.

!

The Activity Fund programme has been successful in identifying some
new providers. An audit of faith-based and community organisation
support for young people could be undertaken to identify a wider range
of providers available within Wirral’s Youth Offer who may wish to cooperate in collaborative projects.

!

The Link forum are able to offer training and support to faith and
community based organisations to help them comply with Wirral
regulatory procedures.

Page 83

!

!

Develop and publicise a user-friendly core offer to young people and
parents on three levels:

Wirral Wide

- Big Events.

District

- Big Events and Specialist/Cultural sports
activities linked to Hub structure

Neighbourhood

- Mix of integrated support services and local faith
based and community organisations interacting
with district hub structure.

Social and emotional development and progression as a result of engagement
is an outcome of the Activities programme according to feedback from young
people and through observation by External Monitors on the visits. All
Monitors reported a real sense of excitement in seeing young people fully
engaged, confident and developing greater competence evidenced by the
ease with which they were able to communicate with the monitors. The
Children’s Trust may find it worthwhile to consider this outcome as part of the
core of the Youth Offer within the Integrated Youth Support Services.
Supporting young people to achieve this state of choice or learning readiness
enables them to make more effective use of the specialist expertise of the
diverse agencies involved in the Integrated Youth Support Services.

Page 84

Agenda Item 14
WIRRAL CHILDREN’S TRUST BOARD – 28 MAY 2010
FINAL REPORT - SCRUTINY REVIEW OF LITERACY LEVELS AT KEY STAGE 2

1.0 Background
At the meeting of Children’s Services & Lifelong Learning Overview and Scrutiny
Committee held on 16th September 2008, the Work Programme for the Committee was
agreed. One item on the programme was Literacy levels at the time of the children leaving
primary schools (end of Key Stage 2).
At the meeting of Children’s Services & Lifelong Learning Overview and Scrutiny
Committee held on 11th November 2008, the Scope Document for the review was agreed.
The three spokespersons, Councillors Sheila Clarke, Frank Doyle and Tony Smith were
appointed as the members of the Literacy Level Scrutiny Panel.
2.0 Focus for the Review
The main issues for the review were identified in the Scope document as:
! the review will include both reading and writing.
! why are levels of achievement so much lower in writing than in reading?
! why are there a number of primary schools below the national average for
the percentage of children reaching Level 4 for reading at Key Stage 2?
! why are there a larger number of primary schools below the national average
for the percentage of children reaching Level 4 for writing at Key Stage 2?
! what interventions are in place in schools where a significant number of
children do not reach Level 4?
! what interventions are in place in schools where only one or two children do
not normally reach Level 4?
! are schools satisfied with the support that is available?
! is there a gender issue regarding attainment levels?
! how do deprivation levels affect the attainment levels of children?
The Panel used a number of methods to gather evidence for the review:
School visits
School questionnaire
Individual meetings with key officers
Written evidence
The contents and twenty-four recommendations of the Literacy Level Scrutiny Review
were supported by the Children’s & Young People O&S committee on 21st January 2010.
It was further agreed that the Panel’s report be presented to the next appropriate Cabinet
meeting.
Recommendations:
That Wirral Children’s Trust Board note the report.
Appendix 1 – Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 – Final Report
Cover Report Author:
A Mountney – Scrutiny Support

Contact:
691 8652

Page 85

Wirral

SCRUTINY REVIEW
of
LITERACY LEVELS AT KEY STAGE 2

A REPORT PRODUCED BY
THE CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

FINAL REPORT

JANUARY 2010

Page 86

WIRRAL BOROUGH COUNCIL
‘LITERACY LEVELS AT KEY STAGE 2’
SCRUTINY REVIEW
FINAL REPORT
Page

1

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY & KEY RECOMMENDATIONS ........................................................3

2

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS..........................................................................................................6

3

PANEL MEMBERSHIP..............................................................................................................7

4

BACKGROUND AND ORIGINAL BRIEF..................................................................................8

5

METHODOLOGY FOR THE REVIEW.......................................................................................9

6

EVIDENCE AND RECOMMENDATIONS
6.1
6.2
6.3

6.4
6.5

6.6

Introduction - Wirral in the National Context ..................................................................11
Integrated Services – The Early Years and the role of Children’s Centres ...................14
Learning Strategies – Foundation Stage to Key Stage 2...............................................17
6.3.1 One-to-One Support .............................................................................................18
6.3.2 Moderation............................................................................................................19
6.3.3 Quality First Teaching...........................................................................................19
6.3.4 Speaking and Listening ........................................................................................19
6.3.5 Phonics .................................................................................................................20
6.3.6 Extended Services................................................................................................20
Social Issues (and Engagement with Parents) ..............................................................21
Targeted Services ..........................................................................................................23
6.5.1 Special Educational Needs (SEN)........................................................................23
6.5.2 Speech and Language Therapy ...........................................................................25
6.5.3 The Gender Issue.................................................................................................27
6.5.4 Looked After Children...........................................................................................29
6.5.5 English as an Additional Language (EAL)............................................................29
Resources ......................................................................................................................30

APPENDICES
1
2
3
4

Scope Document ...............................................................................................................32
Questionnaire issued to schools........................................................................................35
Reference list of recommendations ...................................................................................37
List of tables.......................................................................................................................39

Page 2 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 87

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Over a number of years, councillors have recognised the concern regarding the number of young
people who start secondary school without the apparent literacy skills to adequately further their
learning. Anecdotal evidence from the secondary school community suggested a significant and
stubborn percentage of young people who fail to reach the expected level. This anecdotal
evidence was substantiated by the Borough’s SATs results which consistently show almost 20%
of children not attaining Level 4 in literacy at Key Stage 2. It was, therefore, decided that further
scrutiny work should take place to identify the key issues affecting literacy levels of children
during their years in primary education.
The bulk of the evidence for the review was gathered from visits to five schools in the Borough
plus a questionnaire which was sent to the head teachers of all remaining primary and junior
schools in the Borough. The schools are identified in Section 5, ‘Methodology for the Review’,
page 9. The evidence from the schools was supplemented by meetings with key officers and by
written submissions / reports.
The initial brief for the Scrutiny Review was to review literacy levels at Key Stage 2. However, it
very quickly became apparent to the Panel members that key issues arise not only when a child is
in Years 5 or 6 but much earlier in their development. This drove the review towards an
investigation of issues from babyhood to Early Years to Foundation Stage to Key Stage 1 and
finally to Key Stage 2.
As a point of principle, the Panel believes that the needs of the child should be paramount. This
principle should be incorporated into future decision-making processes, which must be based on
the assessment of the child’s needs. The recommendations incorporate this underlying principle.
During this Review, the visits to schools highlighted excellent work being done by both schools
and the Local Authority to raise standards in literacy. The Panel members acknowledge that head
teachers of primary schools see this as one of their priorities. The Panel would like to place on
record their appreciation to staff in all schools in Wirral and the Local Authority officers who are
dedicated to raising the standards in literacy. The Panel members recognise that much has
already been achieved and that the Key Stage 2 results for pupils in Wirral are above the national
average. However, the Panel members remain concerned regarding the tail of underachievement
that affects approximately 20% of Key Stage 2 pupils.
The Scrutiny Panel has made a total of 24 recommendations in this Report, all of which are listed
in Appendix 3. However, the Panel consider that the following recommendations are those which
should be given the highest priority.

Page 3 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 88

KEY RECOMMENDATIONS RELATING TO THE FOLLOWING AREAS:

A. Measuring the effectiveness of interventions
The Local Authority and schools are jointly encouraged to provide further evidence regarding the
success of specific intervention techniques by greater use of objective criteria.
(Reference Recommendation 23, Section 6.6, page 31)

B. The statementing process for Special Educational Needs
A review of the statementing process should take place with a view to the system becoming more
flexible and quicker, whilst maintaining integrity. There is a need to identify children at a younger
age. Consideration should be given to the development of guidelines which would enable children
to be allocated places at Orrets Meadow without having to go through the full statementing
process.
(Reference Recommendation 13, Section 6.5.1, page 24)

C. Looked After Children and Literacy
Among Foster Carers, Social Workers and in Residential Homes, a higher priority should be given
to literacy. Taking into account the Councillors’ role as a Corporate Parent, the Panel members
urge that the Child’s Annual LAC (Looked After Children) review should emphasise the
importance of literacy progress.
(Reference Recommendation 19, Section 6.5.4, page 29)
D. Refresher training for teachers
Greater access to refresher training for established teachers in speaking, listening and reading
skills should be provided. Particular support could also be given to newly qualified teachers and
Teaching Assistants. This additional training could be provided through twilight sessions
organised in School Cluster Groups.
(Reference Recommendation 22, Section 6.6, page 31)

E. Community Involvement in one-to-one reading support for children
The Local Authority should provide guidance and support to schools who would like to encourage
greater involvement of parents, businesses and older people in providing one-to-one reading
support in schools. In return, schools are encouraged to participate in the scheme.
(Reference Recommendation 5, Section 6.3.1, page 19 )
F. Inclusion of Literacy activities in Extended Services
Extended Services should be encouraged to give a higher priority to literacy-based activities.
(Reference Recommendation 9, Section 6.3.6, page 21)

Continued…

Page 4 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 89

KEY RECOMMENDATIONS RELATING TO THE FOLLOWING AREAS (CONTINUED):

G. The Speech and Language Therapy Service
The Panel welcomes the current review of the Speech and Language Therapy Service and
encourages greater use of therapists in training and consultancy roles.
(Reference Recommendation 16, Section 6.5.2, page 26)
The Panel strongly supports the principle of the Speech and Language Service being available
either in Children’s Centres or School Cluster Groups, whichever is most appropriate.
(Reference Recommendation 17, Section 6.5.2, page 26)
Consideration should be given to joint funding (between Wirral NHS and Children and Young
People Department of Wirral Borough Council) of the specialist Children’s Speech and Language
Therapists. The day-to-day management of the Speech and Language Therapists should be
within the Children and Young People Department of Wirral Borough Council.
(Reference Recommendation 18, Section 6.5.2, page 26)

H. Improved multi-agency working
The Council is encouraged to promote more multi-agency working, specifically by improving
protocols for the sharing of information between health, social care and education professionals.
This should apply particularly to ‘hard to reach’ families.
(Reference Recommendation 12, Section 6.4, page 23)
I.

The relationship between Health Visitors and Children’s Centres
Health Visitors are a key contact for many families with young children. Wirral NHS and Wirral
Borough Council are encouraged to enhance the role of Health Visitors in providing early
identification of ‘hard to reach’ families and subsequent signposting to other services, particularly
in Children’s Centres. The delivery of the ‘Healthy Child Programme’ in Wirral provides an
opportunity for agencies to work together.
(Reference Recommendation 3, Section 6.2, page 17)

Page 5 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 90

2. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
The main objective behind this Scrutiny Review was to ensure that as many children as possible leave
primary school with adequate reading and writing skills. Evidence has been sought from both Council
officers and the wider school community in order to guide the deliberations of the Panel members. The
Panel hopes that this Scrutiny Review has, in a small way, enabled some of the views of those involved
in the education of the Borough’s children to be heard and to be reflected in future decision-making.
The aspirations for our children and their literacy standards are demonstrated by the following quote
from one head teacher:

“We understand that we have a duty to improve the life chances of all, especially those who are unable
(or unwilling) to help themselves. This has to be the priority”.

The Panel would like to thank all those people who willingly agreed to contribute and to provide
information to this Review. A special ‘thank you’ is extended to those officers of both Wirral Borough
Council and Wirral NHS who contributed positively to the Review, attended interviews or provided
information in other ways. In particular, the Panel members record their thanks to all the head teachers,
staff, governors and pupils at the five schools which were visited during the course of the Review:
•
•
•
•
•

Cathcart Street Primary School, Birkenhead - head teacher: Rosemarie Bishop
Higher Bebington Junior School, Higher Bebington - head teacher: Rick Austin
Hillside Primary School, Prenton - head teacher: Margaret Steele
Orrets Meadow School, Moreton - head teacher: Sandra Blythe
Rock Ferry Primary School, Rock Ferry - head teacher: Jan Lambeth

In addition, the head teachers of 22 schools took the time to complete a questionnaire during the
course of the Review. The Panel members have endeavoured to take those views into account during
the writing of this Report. The involvement of all of the schools was important as they brought a “noncouncil” perspective to the Review.
Thank you to all for your participation and contributions to this Review.

Councillor Sheila Clarke (Chair)
5th January 2010

Page 6 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 91

3. PANEL MEMBERSHIP
The Literacy Level Scrutiny Panel was appointed by the (now decommissioned) Children’s Services
and Lifelong Learning Overview and Scrutiny Committee in September 2008. The purpose of the Panel
is to carry out a Scrutiny Review of literacy levels at Key Stage 2 in Wirral and make any relevant
recommendations for improvements.
The members of the Panel are:

Councillor Tony Smith

Councillor Sheila Clarke (Chair)

Councillor Frank Doyle

Page 7 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 92

4. BACKGROUND AND ORIGINAL BRIEF
For some time, councillors have received officer reports explaining the issues relating to school
performance at Key Stages 1 and 2. Throughout that time, the Borough’s SATs results have
consistently shown almost 20% of children not attaining Level 4 (or better) in literacy at Key Stage 2. It
was, therefore, decided that further scrutiny work should take place to identify the key issues affecting
literacy levels of children during their years in primary education.
At the meeting of the, now decommissioned, Children’s Services & Lifelong Learning Overview and
Scrutiny Committee held on 16th September 2008, the Work Programme for the Committee was
agreed. One item on the programme was Literacy levels at the time of the children leaving primary
schools (end of Key Stage 2). It was recognised that the 2008 Key Stage 2 SATs results for English
(including Reading and Writing) in Wirral were above the national average. Clearly, there were many
examples of good practice in Wirral, which is contributing to the attainment of these results. However,
there remained a number of children who do not achieve the ‘expected’ minimum standard of Level 4 in
reading and writing.
At the meeting of the Children’s Services & Lifelong Learning Overview and Scrutiny Committee held
th
on 11 November 2008, the Scope Document for the Review was agreed. A copy of the Scope
Document is attached as Appendix 1 to this Report. The three party spokespersons (Councillors
Sheila Clarke, Frank Doyle and Tony Smith) were also appointed as the members of the Literacy Level
Scrutiny Panel.
Among the key issues that members chose to investigate were the following:
• the review will include both reading and writing.
• why are levels of achievement so much lower in writing than in reading?
• why are there a number of primary schools below the national average for the
percentage of children reaching Level 4 for reading at Key Stage 2?
• why are there a larger number of primary schools below the national average for the
percentage of children reaching Level 4 for writing at Key Stage 2?
• what interventions are in place in schools where a significant number of children
do not reach Level 4?
• what interventions are in place in schools where only one or two children
do not normally reach Level 4?
• are schools satisfied with the support that is available?
• is there a gender issue regarding attainment levels?
• how do deprivation levels affect the attainment levels of children?
The Panel commenced work in attempting to find answers to these questions.

Page 8 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 93

5. METHODOLOGY FOR THE REVIEW
The Panel has employed a number of methods to gather evidence:
5.1 Visits to Schools
The following schools were visited:
• Cathcart Street Primary School, Birkenhead
• Higher Bebington Junior School, Higher Bebington
• Hillside Primary School, Prenton
• Orrets Meadow School, Moreton
• Rock Ferry Primary School, Rock Ferry
During these visits, issues have been discussed with head teachers, teachers, school governors and
school councils. Each of the visits took half a day. All of the visits were very constructive and
highlighted issues relevant to the Review.
5.2 ‘Questionnaire’ responses from Schools
Panel members wanted to enable other schools to have an input into the Review. Therefore, a short
questionnaire was sent to the head teachers of all remaining primary and junior schools in the Borough.
A copy of the questionnaire is attached as Appendix 2 to this Report. In total, responses were received
from the following 22 schools:

Barnston Primary
Bedford Drive Primary
Black Horse Hill Junior
Cole Street Primary
Dawpool C E Aided Primary
Devonshire Park Primary
Fender Primary
Grove Street Primary
Irby Primary
Mendell Primary
New Brighton Primary

Our Lady of Pity Catholic Primary
Pensby Primary
St Albans Catholic Primary
St Peter’s Catholic Primary
Saints Peter & Pauls Catholic Primary
St Werburgh’s Catholic Primary
Sandbrook Primary
Thingwall Primary
West Kirby Primary
Woodchurch Road Primary
Woodlands Primary

5.3 Meetings with Officers
A series of individual meetings has taken place at which the Panel members could discuss relevant
issues with key officers from within the Children’s Services Department of Wirral Borough Council and
Wirral NHS. Prior to the meeting, each officer prepared a short briefing paper.
Meetings were held with the following officers:
• Pauline Cunningham, Communications Language & Literacy Development for Early Years,
Wirral Borough Council
• Rosemary Curtis, Head of Integrated Children’s Services, NHS Wirral
• Sarah Howarth, Manager of Wirral Lifelong and Family Learning Service,
Wirral Borough Council
• Catherine Kerr, Principal Manager for Early Years, Wirral Borough Council
• Ann Kotwal, Curriculum Leader for Family Learning, Wirral Lifelong and Family Learning Service,
Wirral Borough Council
• Sue Lang, Study Support, Wirral Borough Council
• Marie Lawrence, Early Years & Primary Education Strategic Service Manager,
Wirral Borough Council
• Jennie Richmond, English Consultant for Key Stage 1 and 2, Wirral Borough Council
• Bridie Sharkey, Principal Manager for English 0–19, Wirral Borough Council
• Deirdre Smith, Principal Manager, Study Support, Wirral Borough Council
Page 9 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 94

5.4

Written Evidence

Written evidence was received from a variety of sources including the following:
National evidence
The Rose Report – Independent Review of the Primary Curriculum: Final Report
A World First for West Dunbartonshire – The Elimination of Reading Failure: Tom Burkard
Raising attainment at Key Stage Two – Medway Council Scrutiny Review
Influences and leverages on low levels of attainment: A Review of Literature and Policy Initiatives
(DCSF Research Brief, April 2009)
Wirral Evidence
‘Early Years Provision in Wirral’ - Report of the Director of Children’s Services to the Children’s
th
Services and Lifelong Learning Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 16 March 2009
Wirral Parenting and Family Support Strategy 2008-2011
Wirral Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, Wirral NHS, September 2008
th

Annual Performance Assessment of Wirral Borough Council by Ofsted,17 December 2008
One-to-One Tuition, Report to School standards Sub-Committee, Wirral Borough Council, July 2009
Wirral Borough Council Website – Various pages

Statistical Evidence
Information Section, Children and Young People Department, Wirral Borough Council (data regarding
Key Stage attainment relevant to Wirral, Statistical and Geographical Neighbours and England)
Asset Management Team, Children and Young People Department, Wirral Borough Council (data
regarding Orrets Meadow attendees)

Page 10 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 95

6. EVIDENCE AND RECOMMENDATIONS
6.1 Introduction – Wirral in the National Context
The most recent Annual Performance Assessment of Wirral Borough Council’s service for children and
young people, issued by OFSTED on 17 December 2008, awarded an accreditation of Grade 3 (‘Good’)
for ‘Enjoying and achieving’. The letter includes the comment that:
“Good outcomes have been maintained in the area of enjoying and achieving and educational
outcomes at Key Stages 2, 3 and 4 remain above those of similar councils”.
Further comments include:
“Results at Key Stage 2 have (also) improved, particularly in English and Science”.
“The Council has maintained the steady improvement of educational results in Key Stage 2,3
and 4…..”.
However the report also notes that:
“Key Stage 1 results in reading, writing and mathematics declined in 2007 but at a faster rate
than nationally”.
A key indicator is the number of children achieving the ‘expected’ level of 4 at Key Stage 2. Table 1
shows the percentage of children achieving Level 4 (or better) in English, Reading and Writing. (In
SATs results, the English result is a combination of the Reading and Writing results). The table
compares statistics for Wirral with the national average as well as the performance of a number of
statistical neighbours and geographical neighbours.
Table 1: Statistical Neighbours and Geographical Neighbours, Key Stage 2, English,
Level 4 and above
All pupils
2007

English %L4+
2008
2009
(provisional)

National

80

81

80

Wirral

82

84

83

Statistical Neighbours
Bury
Darlington
Halton
Lancashire
Leeds
Sefton
St Helens
Stockton-on-Tees
Tameside
Telford and Wrekin

83
79
82
81
81
85
81
81
81
78

85
80
84
82
81
86
84
84
83
77

84
84
80
81
78
83
83
81
81
77

Geographical Neighbours
Halton
Knowsley
Liverpool
Sefton
St Helens
Wigan

82
77
77
85
81
81

84
80
80
86
84
83

80
79
78
83
83
81

Source: Information Section, Children and Young People Department, Wirral Borough Council

On this evidence, Wirral is not the top achiever, but is significantly above average.

Page 11 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 96

Table 2 (below) shows the percentage of children attaining each level at Key Stage 2. This data reports
the provisional results for 2009. Again, the Wirral scores are above the national average for each of the
English, Reading and Writing classifications. However, it should be noted that the table highlights the
differential in attainment in both Wirral and at a national level in reading as opposed to writing.
The lower half of Table 2 also shows a gender split for Wirral children and highlights the difference in
the attainment of boys and girls; the differential being higher in writing than in reading. The relative
performance of girls and boys is discussed in further detail in Section 6.5.3 (page 27) of this report –
‘The Gender Issue’. It should be noted that the percentage of Wirral girls achieving Level 4 at Key
Stage 2 for reading is 6.4% higher than for boys. The differential for writing is even larger at 13.7%.
Table 2: Percentage of pupils achieving each Level, Key Stage 2, English, Reading and Writing,
2009 (provisional) data, National and Wirral comparison
Wirral
2009 (provisional) data
All pupils Wirral
English
Reading
Writing

A

D

N

Percentage
B
L2

L3

L4

L5

Percentage
L4+
L5+

0.7
0.7
0.6

0.1
0.1
0.1

0.5
1.9
0.6

3.2
3.2
3.2

0.5
0.0
0.0

12.0
6.8
24.2

49.0
36.6
46.9

34.0
50.8
24.4

83.0
87.4
71.4

34.0
50.8
24.4

1
1
0

N/A
N/A
N/A

1
3
1

4
4
4

1
0
0

14
7
27

51
38
48

29
47
19

80
86
67

29
47
19

English
Reading
Writing

0.7
0.7
0.6

0.1
0.1
0.1

0.7
2.4
0.8

4.1
4.1
4.1

0.7
0.0
0.0

15.5
8.4
29.8

50.9
38.9
45.8

27.4
45.4
18.9

78.4
84.3
64.7

27.4
45.4
18.9

English
Reading
Writing

0.7
0.6
0.7

0.1
0.1
0.1

0.3
1.3
0.4

2.3
2.3
2.3

0.3
0.0
0.0

8.4
5.0
18.2

47.0
34.2
48.1

41.0
56.5
30.3

87.9
90.7
78.4

41.0
56.5
30.3

All pupils National
English
Reading
Writing

Boys Wirral

Girls Wirral

Source: Information Section, Children and Young People Department, Wirral Borough Council

Key to columns:
A
pupils who were absent
D
pupils disapplied from teacher assessment
N
pupils who took the tests but failed to register a level
B
pupils who were working below the level of the test
L2–5
pupils attaining those Levels in the test
L4+
pupils attaining Level 4 or better
L5+
pupils attaining Level 5 or better

The performance of Wirral’s children can be put into further perspective by Table 3, which shows the
absolute numbers of children achieving each Level. The table compares statistics for 2008 and the
provisional results for 2009. It is worth noting that, of the total cohort of 3,534 in 2009, 2,934 children
achieved the ‘expected’ level (or better) in English. For those children and their schools, this is a
considerable achievement. However, it should also be noticed that, for a variety of reasons, 600
children did not reach this level. Indeed, this worrying aspect is more pronounced in writing where 1,012
children did not achieve the ‘expected’ level in 2009. In this respect, 2009 is little different from previous
years. It is for this reason that much of the deliberations of the Panel and the focus for the
remainder of this Report seeks to identify why the number achieving Level 4 is not higher and
what can be done to boost this number in the future.

Page 12 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 97

Table 3: Numbers of pupils achieving each Level, Key Stage 2, 2008 and 2009 (provisional) data
All Wirral Pupils

Pupil Numbers
L2
L3

A

D

N

B

English
Reading
Writing

35
29
23

2
2
2

25
71
60

100
100
100

15
0
0

English
Reading
Writing

25
24
22

2
2
2

17
67
21

113
113
113

18
0
0

L4

L5

L4+

424
214
899

1909
1403
1754

1199
1886
867

3108
3289
2621

425
239
854

1731
1294
1658

1203
1795
864

2934
3089
2522

2008

2009
(provisional)

Source: Information Section, Children and Young People Department, Wirral Borough Council

Key to columns:
A
pupils who were absent
D
pupils disapplied from teacher assessment
N
pupils who took the tests but failed to register a level
B
pupils who were working below the level of the test
L2–5
pupils attaining those Levels in the test
L4+
pupils attaining Level 4 or better
L5+
pupils attaining Level 5 or better

An historical perspective of the Key Stage 2 results is displayed in Table 4. The percentages achieving
each Level are shown for English, Reading and Writing over the previous six years (2004 to 2009).
The results show a consistent improvement until the provisional 2009 results which show a decline in
the percentage of pupils achieving Level 4 or better in English for the first time since 2005.
Table 4: Percentage of pupils achieving each Level, Key Stage 2, English, Reading and Writing,
Wirral, Historical comparison (2004-2009)
All Wirral pupils

Percentage
L2
L3

A

D

N

B

L4

L5

L4+

L5+

English
Reading
Writing

0.7
0.7
0.6

0.1
0.1
0.1

0.5
1.9
0.6

3.2
3.2
3.2

0.5
0.0
0.0

12.0
6.8
24.2

49.0
36.6
46.9

34.0
50.8
24.4

83.0
87.4
71.4

34.0
50.8
24.4

English
Reading
Writing

0.9
0.9
0.7

0.1
0.1
0.1

0.6
1.9
0.9

2.7
2.7
2.7

0.4
0.0
0.0

10.9
5.7
23.6

50.7
37.8
47.8

33.7
51.0
24.3

84.4
88.8
72.0

33.7
51.0
24.3

English
Reading
Writing

0.7
0.6
0.5

0.1
0.1
0.1

0.6
2.5
1.1

3.6
3.6
3.6

0.5
0.0
0.0

12.7
7.5
26.8

48.2
36.1
48.8

33.6
49.6
19.1

81.8
85.7
67.9

33.6
49.6
19.1

English
Reading
Writing

0.7
0.6
0.6

0.1
0.1
0.1

1.2
2.9
2.2

2.4
2.4
2.4

0.7
0.0
0.0

13.7
9.1
24.8

46.5
35.6
52.0

34.7
49.3
17.8

81.2
84.9
69.8

34.7
49.3
17.8

English
Reading
Writing

0.8
0.6
0.7

0.0
0.0
0.0

1.7
3.7
2.6

2.5
2.5
2.5

0.7
0.0
0.0

13.3
7.0
29.6

51.5
40.6
47.9

29.3
45.6
16.6

80.9
86.2
64.5

29.3
45.6
16.6

English
Reading
Writing

1.0
0.8
0.8

0.1
0.1
0.1

1.3
2.6
2.5

2.6
2.6
2.6

0.8
0.0
0.0

12.3
7.0
23.8

50.4
43.4
49.0

31.5
43.4
21.2

81.8
86.8
70.2

31.5
43.4
21.2

2009 (provisional)

2008

2007

2006

2005

2004

Source: Information Section, Children and Young People Department, Wirral Borough Council

Key to columns:
A
pupils who were absent
D
pupils disapplied from teacher assessment
N
pupils who took the tests but failed to register a level
B
pupils who were working below the level of the test
L2–5
pupils attaining those Levels in the test
L4+
pupils attaining Level 4 or better
L5+
pupils attaining Level 5 or better

Page 13 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 98

While the percentage of children attainting Level 4 (or better) is a key target, the percentage achieving
lower than Level 3 is of concern. Government statistics show that, every year, around 6-7% of eleven
year olds in England leave primary school with very poor literacy skills (below Level 3 in English). This
represents a literacy level equivalent to that of the average seven or eight year old.
The proportion of children leaving primary school with very poor literacy skills has remained largely
static over time, although the results in Wirral have been better than the national average. This is
supported by Table 5 below:
Table 5: Percentage of pupils achieving below Level 3, Key Stage 2, English, Historical
Comparison (2004-2009), England and Wirral comparison
English below Level 3
2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009
(prov)

England

Percentage

7.0

7.0

6.0

6.0

6.0

6.0

Wirral

Percentage

4.8

4.9

4.3

4.8

3.7

4.2

Source: Information Section, Children and Young People Department, Wirral Borough Council

Note:

‘Below Level 3’ equates to a combination of Levels 2, B and N, where:
B pupils who were working below the level of the test
N pupils who took the tests but failed to register a level

Information on the profile of these very low-attaining children is available from an analysis of national
data conducted by the Primary National Strategy:
• a very high proportion (68%) of the children with very poor literacy skills are boys. This overrepresentation is much greater for literacy than for mathematics, where only 55% of the very low
achievers are boys.
• more of the children than would be expected from total population figures are summer-born – 40% in
the low attaining group compared to 34% of the total cohort.
• the children are much more likely to be living in poverty than their better-reading peers. 38% of those
attaining below Level 3 in English are eligible for free school meals, compared to 17% of all children.
• they are more likely to be learning English as an Additional Language (EAL) than the population as a
whole (15% compared to 10%).
In the national context, the Rose Report, ’Independent Review of the Primary Curriculum’, published in
April 2009, is likely to set the context for primary education in years to come. In addition, the
announcement by the Secretary of State for Children, Schools and Families that the policy of national
strategies for schools will come to an end, will force further change. The new vision foresees the
establishment of new networks of school-to-school support whereby neighbouring schools can procure
their own advisers to help them drive up teaching standards and examination results. The forthcoming
General Election, due by June 2010, adds further uncertainty to the national picture.
In the local context, one head teacher commented to the Panel that:
“When assessing the success of a school regarding literacy levels, it is important to look at the bigger
picture; not just at curriculum, intervention strategies, and so on. The ethos of the school is far more
important than a reading or writing scheme”.
It is the case that every school is different with its own practices and culture. However, every school in
each community has a variety of different challenges. The Report will now explore some of those
challenges and will investigate some of the reasons why greater numbers of children are not reaching
the ‘expected’ Level 4 at Key Stage 2.
6.2 Integrated Services – The Early Years and the role of Children’s Centres
This Scrutiny Review started by investigating literacy levels
in primary schools. However, it quickly became clear from
the evidence that a child starts to develop literacy skills in
Early Years and pre-school.
Page 14 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 99

“Many children have an
impoverishment of
language at Foundation
Stage”.
Head teacher

One professional commented that:
“Literacy is an issue that needs to be looked at from babyhood onwards”.
Another officer commented that:
“Good verbal communication and listening skills are essential to children being able to develop good
literacy skills – if you are unable to express yourself well verbally, you are unlikely to be able to express
yourself well in writing”.
While another added:
“If children are not confident communicators, they will not be confident readers and writers”.
One of the fundamental issues identified during the school visits is the concern relating to the quality of
language skills of many children on entry to Foundation Stage. One head teacher commented that:
”Most of the children are below the expected floor level at Foundation Stage, especially with respect to
language. Many children have an impoverishment of language at Foundation Stage”.
This was a comment also echoed in the Rose Report:
“The perception of primary schools visited by the review (The Rose Review) is that more children are
entering primary schools with impoverished language and poor social development. This issue was also
highlighted in the Bercow Report”.
The responses from schools in the questionnaire provided further evidence. When asked ‘What are the
key issues affecting literacy development in your school?’, a significant number of head teachers
responded with comments such as:
“Children entering school well below the age-expected development in speaking and listening.”
“Weak speaking and listening skills.”
“Below par language skills prior to attending Foundation 1.”
“Language acquisition levels on entry to school.”
“Low levels on entry. Pre-school experience in story and language is limited.”
“Entering school with low levels of ability.”
“Some children enter Foundation Stage 2 with poor language skills.”
“On entry to Foundation Stage 2 pupils’ average development levels are often below national
averages.”
“Low level of speaking and listening for many children on entry.”
“Increasing levels of children entering school with speech and language delays or difficulties.”

This evidence from professional staff and from head teachers convinced the Panel members that the
quality of Early Years education does have an impact on later literacy skills. The same head teachers
often referred to a lack of parental involvement and support at home for the child. For many children,
though not all, there is a common thread. This is clearly an important issue for many schools.
The advent of SureStart and the growth in the number of Children’s Centres has widened the
opportunity for pre-school provision to be offered to a larger number of children. The number of
Children’s Centres in Wirral has now risen to 18, with a further eight satellite centres. It is appreciated
that the development of Children’s Centres is an ongoing programme and progress to date is
welcomed. However, there is little available evidence to prove that the service is reaching all of the
target groups. For instance, the Panel members have been unable to obtain attendance figures for the
Children's Centres and the profile of those attendees.

Page 15 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 100

A consistent issue for those schools in the more deprived areas of the Borough was the difficulty in
connecting with the ‘hard to reach’ families in their community. The same families are less likely to
make use of the Children’s Centres. Whilst it is acknowledged that great effort is made to achieve this
objective and that attendance at Children’s Centres is not statutory, more needs to be done. One
professional commented that:
“Further work needs to be done to get more families in to the Children’s Centres”.
A number of issues were raised with respect to access to services in the Children’s Centres:
• Level of provision
There are different levels of provision in the Children’s Centres. The level of provision differs
depending upon whether the centre provides the ‘full core offer’ or is a satellite centre. Some of the
centres have joint managers, which also affects the level of provision. Therefore, there is a variety of
effectiveness in provision. In the future, it would be useful to look at the uniformity of provision and at
the relationship with the school where the centre is on a shared site.
• Organisational teams
In some areas, the Children’s Centre teams do not coincide geographically with the Area teams. One
senior officer suggested that there may be some mileage in bringing those boundaries together. This
will support cohesion in the communities.
• Distance to some centres within the cluster
The distance from some ‘target’ communities to the nearest Children’s Centre can be significant in
some cases where public transport does not make the journey easy.
• Website information
The Panel members are pleased to acknowledge that, during the course of the Review, information
regarding more Children’s Centres has become available on the Council website. (All of this
information had not been available in August 2009). However, the information on the website does
not give specific details of the facilities / sessions available at each Children’s Centre.
• Publicity
Some evidence has been found of residents finding it difficult to find information regarding the
facilities at their nearest Children’s Centre.
• Summer opening hours
The opening hours at some Centres appeared to reduce during the summer holidays at a time when
families may need additional support.
“Children’s Centres are not just a
building; it is services”.
Officer

“Money is not the key issue. It’s
the service – re-design it”.
Officer referring to the Early Years
Service

A future challenge for the Children’s Centres is the increased hours of free provision that have been
announced by the Government. In the future, three and four-year old children will be entitled to 15
hours (rather than 12.5) free education per week. This may well create capacity issues for some
Children’s Centres.
It has already been suggested at an earlier meeting of the Children and Young People Overview and
Scrutiny Committee that the operation Children’s Centres in Wirral would be a suitable topic for an indepth scrutiny review in the future. The Panel members fully endorse that view.

Recommendation 1 – The evidence gathered shows that successful interventions in the Early Years
do impact on literacy skills. A Children and Young People Departmental review should be carried
out to ensure that easy access and an appropriate offer of service is provided in all Children’s
Centres.

Recommendation 2 – In order to ensure that more families engage with Children’s Centres,
information available through websites should be improved and be timely. There should be better
promotion of specific activities, including pre-reading programmes, available at each Centre.
Publicity could also be improved through a variety of outlets such as GP surgeries, local
organisations and community groups.
Page 16 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 101

An issue relevant to both Early Years and to Schools were the perceived limitations in joined-up or
multi-agency working. Recognition of improvements since the creation of the Children and Young
People Department was apparent. However, again, more needs to be done. As previously said, the
service offering in Children’s Centres is varied. Some centres offer a wider service, the delivery of
which requires greater joined-up working between the agencies. It was apparent that some centres
have been more successful in developing a close working relationship with Health Visitors. In turn, this
has enabled the Health Visitors to provide early identification of families, who otherwise, may have
been reticent to make use of Children’s Centre facilities. However, as one professional commented:
“With reference to the involvement of Health Visitors in Children’s Centres, there is nothing formally in
place. Some Centres seem to do their own thing.”
Nevertheless, in some cases, due to the longstanding close working relationship between Health
Visitors and some of the Sure Start Local Programmes, the Health Visitors promote the Children’s
Centre and make lots of referrals. As a result, in some areas there are fewer vulnerable families who
are not included, but too much depends on the individual Health Visitor. From the perspective of the
family, the Health Visitor provides a very accessible service. There is no stigma attached to a visit from
the Health Visitor. As the ‘Healthy Child Programme’ is developed and implemented by NHS Wirral,
further opportunities will arise for the identification of more vulnerable families and children. It is
important that integrated working enables these children to gain maximum access to the Children’s
Centres.
In addition, the programme launched from September 2009, to offer free nursery places to 142 of the
most disadvantaged two year olds in the Borough offers a real opportunity for integrated working
between the Health Visitors and the Children’s Centres. The Health Visitors will help to identify the
children and then to ensure that, along with a family support worker, wrap-around support is provided to
ensure good quality play and learning experience. Indeed, the progress that has already been made on
schemes such as this provides evidence that some good joined-up work is taking place.
Nevertheless, one education professional commented:
“We talk about joined-up thinking; but we need joined-up action.”
Further examples where more integrated working would be beneficial are explored in greater detail in
other sections of this Report. Reference is made to social workers in Section 6.4 (‘Social Issues and
engagement with parents’); while the Speech and Language Therapy Service is covered in Section
6.5.2 (‘Speech and Language Therapy’).
In general, a strong case can be made for as many services as feasible being provided in one building.
A ‘One Stop’ provision for children’s services would undoubtedly improve the accessibility of those
services to many families. This is in line with the reference in the Executive Summary that “As a point of
principle, the panel believes that the needs of the child should be paramount”. In terms of breaking
down perceived barriers between organisations and departments, joint training sessions may help to
remove obstacles.
Recommendation 3 – Health Visitors are a key contact for many families with young children. Wirral
NHS and Wirral Borough Council are encouraged to enhance the role of Health Visitors in providing
early identification of ‘hard to reach’ families and subsequent signposting to other services,
particularly in Children’s Centres. The delivery of the ‘Healthy Child Programme’ in Wirral provides
an opportunity for agencies to work together.

Recommendation 4 – Professional barriers need to be broken down. Multi-agency services should
be provided via Children’s Centres, for example, Health Visitors, Social Workers, Dental Service,
Speech and Language Therapists, School Nurse, Hearing and Sight Specialists, Paediatricians,
Early Years Specialists, and so on.

6.3 Learning Strategies – Foundation Stage to Key Stage 2

“Literacy is in all subjects”.
Head teacher

The Panel members were struck by one particular comment
by a head teacher:
“Endless hours are spent on maintaining data systems. However, although that is important, it is not as
important as the impact of teaching”.
Page 17 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 102

In describing the basic pre-requisites for successful reading as basic skills, confidence and motivation,
an officer reflected that:
“Many children can get by, but by Year 8 when asked to do research, they can’t do it”.
There are a number of reasons for some children not progressing as well as they might, including:
• not skilled in phonics strategies;
• not confident in reading / writing;
• not enough practice.
The visits to the schools and the questionnaire responses provided many examples of good teaching
and initiatives regarded by the Panel members as good practice. These included the use of peer
mentors / peer readers, reading champions in schools, topic learning, personalised learning and the
extensive use in many schools of the ‘Big Write’ which engaged many young people very effectively.
Many schools have successfully adapted the concept of the ‘Big Write’ to meet the requirements of their
locality. Indeed, the suggestion has been made that the Council could develop a Local Authority
Writing Week to build on the experiences of the ‘Big Write’. With respect to personalised learning, some
interesting examples were identified where the pupil’s writing book includes a detailed assessment of
their written work. Therefore, children can see what they are doing well and what they need to improve.
In one case, a school had developed a personal laminated book marker which identified similar
information with respect to the pupil’s reading progress and providing individual targets.

6.3.1 One-to-One Support
The impact of One-to-One learning is an interesting development.
When asked ‘What other support would you like for the challenges that face your school?’, one
head teacher responded:
“More of the 1:1 tuition schemes and other funding streams to allow schools to personalise
learning”.
While another commented that:
“1:1 tuition has a positive impact on lower attainers”.
Another requested:
“More 1:1 tutoring for boys out of and within school time”.
And another commented that a barrier to learning was:
“Need more individual support on a 1 to 1 basis for some children”.
The Panel welcomes the forthcoming evaluation of the initiative to provide one-to-one tuition
being carried out in Wirral through the ‘Making Good Progress’ Pilot. Early indications from
schools would suggest that the scheme is providing positive results. It is envisaged that by
2010-11, 300,000 pupils a year, nationally, will receive one-to-one tuition in English. The support
is aimed at those pupils who are deemed to be capable of achieving Level 4 in Key Stage 2 but
need additional support to do so.
In addition, the use of one-to-one support in schools, using evidence from such schemes as the
‘Successful Reading Partnership’, has shown an encouraging impact on both the children and the
parents / grandparents who deliver the support. Such programmes can encourage the deliverers
to improve their skills and improve their confidence in working with children.
While the ‘Successful Reading Partnership’ is a specific scheme aimed at boosting pupils who
are just below average, the principle of schools using outside help in order to boost their activities
is applauded. Interesting projects, such as the Reading Buddies scheme in Peterborough and the
Ablaze project in Bristol have engaged businesses in supporting primary children to read on a
one-to-one basis. While this support is clearly not an alternative to trained teachers, it could
enable some schools, particularly those who struggle to engage parents in school activities, to
give pupils additional one-to-one reading time. In addition, it may be possible to involve groups
such as the Older People’s Parliament in helping to organise a scheme. Indeed, a recent scheme
in Chester aimed to promote intergenerational understanding by encouraging older people to
become more involved in school life.
Page 18 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 103

Recommendation 5 – The Local Authority should provide guidance and support to schools who
would like to encourage greater involvement of parents, businesses and older people in providing
one-to-one reading support in schools. In return, schools are encouraged to participate in the
scheme.
6.3.2 Moderation
As discussed in Section 6.2, there is considerable concern regarding the level of language skills
at the time of entry to Foundation Stage. The accurate assessment of children at significant time
points is essential in order to measure progress. The Panel appreciates that the Local Authority
has done a lot of work on moderation and progress has been made. However, this issue
continues to be highlighted as an issue by schools and, therefore, more work needs to be done.
Procedures to support consistent assessment procedures for Key Stage 1 to Key Stage 2 are
essential. This is a particular issue where children change schools, especially where Infant
schools feed into Junior schools. One head teacher responded to the Panel with the comment:
“The school’s base line assessment highlights a mismatch with the Key Stage 1 SATs results,
which is nothing short of dramatic”.
Referring to the intake from Infant schools, another head teacher commented that:
“The number of children reaching Level 3 at Key Stage 1 has now halved over recent years. This
is not because the children are performing any worse; it is due to more rigorous marking of the
tests by the teachers. As a result, the marking of Key Stage 1 has got more realistic”.
A further head teacher added:
“The school has suffered greatly from inaccurate teacher assessment for a number of years.
However, it is now much more accurate”.
While further work is required for Key Stage 1 to Key Stage 2, a similar focus also needs to be
applied to the transition from Foundation Stage to Key Stage 1. Indeed, some head teachers
commented that stronger emphasis should be placed on speaking and listening skills throughout
the assessment processes.
Recommendation 6 – The Local Authority is encouraged to build on the moderation work that has
already been carried out at the transition from Key Stage 1 to Key Stage 2. This consistent approach
should also be applied to the transition from Foundation Stage to Key Stage 1. Schools are
encouraged to work with each other and with the Local Authority to deliver the consistent approach.

6.3.3 Quality First Teaching
The Rose Report observes that:
“Nowhere is an entitlement to ‘quality first teaching’ more necessary or important than in
equipping every child with a command of reading and writing skills”.
A Wirral officer also commented that:
“A lot of time and money is invested in one-to-one interventions. However, there has also to be an
emphasis on ‘Quality First Teaching’ in order to minimise the number of children who need further
help”.
The maximum use of high quality trained practitioners working in low ratios is a goal to be aimed
for.
6.3.4 Speaking and Listening
A major strand of the Rose Report is the emphasis on speaking and listening. Recommendation 9
of the Rose Report reads:
“Primary schools should make sure that children’s spoken communication is developed
intensively within all subjects and for learning across the curriculum. In so doing, schools should
capitalise on the powerful contributions of the performing and visual arts, especially role play and
drama”.
Page 19 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 104

The Rose Report continues:
“For the purposes of this review literacy is regarded as covering speaking, listening, reading and
writing. Discussion of reading and writing in primary education sometimes fails to recognise the
central importance of developing children’s spoken communication”.
Followed by:
“Better progress is being made in this respect through government-funded initiatives such as
Time for Talk and Every Child a Talker. However, schools would do well to take stock of how
effectively they provide opportunities, for example, for children to enlarge their vocabulary, listen
attentively and talk confidently and intensively about their work and experiences across all
aspects of the curriculum to a range of audiences”.
In the local context, one officer commented that:
“With regard to the Rose report, listening and speaking are central, which is very heartening”.
While another added that:
“The Rose review has emphasised ‘speaking and listening’ and the importance of children having
word recognition. Weak communication skills have been identified as a major issue”.
It is welcome that Wirral has become a funded authority for the ‘Every Child a Talker’ programme,
the focus of which is to encourage children to start talking earlier. Although an Early Years
Programme, it is in this context that the Communications, Language and Literacy Development
(CLLD) programme seems to be particularly important. Although a relatively new programme
which has been rolled out progressively into targeted Children’s centres / schools, it is essential
that a comprehensive evaluation of that programme takes place and, if deemed successful,
adequate long-term funding should be identified.
Recommendation 7 – The Local Authority should evaluate the success of the Communications,
Language and Literacy Development (CLLD) programme and plan ahead to embed good practice in
schools currently involved in the programme and promote that good practice to other schools.
6.3.5 Phonics
The Rose Report makes the following argument:
“….the main obstacles have been long-standing systematic confusion and conflicting views,
especially about the teaching of phonics. As more research and practice now converge in strong
support of high-quality, systematic phonic work, schools can be confident that their investment in
good-quality phonics training for teachers and in good systematic phonic programmes, whether
commercial or provided by the national strategies, will yield high returns for children”.
This was certainly a view supported in the local context by officers who were encouraging the
greater availability of training for teachers in phonological awareness. In this perspective, perhaps
the detailed working knowledge and application of phonics at Orrets Meadow could be used as a
source of trainers which can be more widely utilised across the Borough.
Recommendation 8 – The Local Authority is encouraged to provide further in-school training in
phonological awareness and schools are encouraged to fully participate in the training
opportunities.
6.3.6 Extended Services
Extended Services has now established a more prominent role in the relationship with schools. It
is important that these out-of-school activities give as high a priority as possible to literacy. A
2009 Wirral Council report on Extended Services comments that:
“As a result of the lead for Extended Services being within the Learning and Achievement Branch,
the Extended Services work is being linked with a whole range of other activities, especially:
• School improvement and raising standards work
• Early Years and Children’s Centres work
• Family and Lifelong Learning work
• Narrowing the Gap work”.
Page 20 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 105

Inclusion of literacy activities should, therefore, be extended where possible. However, it should
be recognised that as Extended Services are expected to be self-funding, charging for services
may act as an inhibitor. This may impact on the take-up among some of the ‘target’ groups. In
order to combat the ‘hard to reach’ issue, at least one Extended School cluster has allocated
funding towards the cost of transport. This is specifically aimed at trying to involve those young
people who otherwise would be less likely to participate.
Recommendation 9 – Extended Services should be encouraged to give a higher priority to literacybased activities.

6.4 Social Issues (and Engagement with Parents)
For some schools in the more deprived areas in the
Borough, the biggest barriers to learning are the social
problems and issues faced within the community. At one
school that was visited by the Panel members, the head
teacher spent eight hours during the previous week
dealing with social issues directly affecting pupils at the
school. One head teacher commented that:
“I feel that I am an advocate for the children.”

“The biggest problem is the
inconsistency in children’s lives
that impact on their learning”.
Head teacher

While another said that:
“As a school, we understand the barriers of social deprivation but we do not see it as an excuse”.
And another added that:
“The children are greatly impacted by the aggression that they see outside of school”.
Meanwhile an education officer commented that:
We can’t influence deprivation but we can influence parental attitude towards education”.
A snapshot on the impact of deprivation on literacy levels can be provided by Table 6. This shows by
District and Area in Wirral, the percentage of pupils receiving free school meals and the percentage of
pupils achieving Level 4 (or better) in English at Key Stage 2. As would be expected, a broad
correlation can be noted. The statistics suggest that an area with a lower percentage of free school
meals is more likely to achieve higher Key Stage results.
Table 6: Comparison of pupils receiving Free School Meals and pupils achieving Level 4 or
above, Key Stage 2, English, 2009 (provisional) data, by District and Area in Wirral
District / Area

Number
of pupils

% Free
School Meals

English, %
Level 4+, 2009
(provisional)

Birkenhead District
Bidston & St James / Claughton
Prenton / Oxton
Birkenhead and Tranmere / Rock Ferry
Wallasey District
Liscard / Seacombe
New Brighton / Wallasey
Leasowe & Moreton East / Moreton West &
Saughall Massie
Wirral South District
Clatterbridge / Bebington
Bromborough / Eastham
Wirral West District
Pensby & Thingwall / Heswall
Hoylake & Meols / West Kirby & Thurstaston
Greasby, Frankby & Irby / Upton

997
382
250
365
1001
362
349
290

43.2
51.0
15.2
54.2
34.6
43.9
24.9
34.5

76.5
77.7
85.6
69.0
81.4
78.7
83.7
82.1

627
310
317
861
277
252
332

17.4
11.0
23.7
13.6
7.6
8.3
22.6

86.3
89.0
83.6
90.2
91.7
95.2
85.2

Source: Information Section, Children and Young People Department, Wirral Borough Council

A key issue for a significant number of schools is how to engage more effectively with parents
especially the hard-to-reach?
Page 21 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 106

Involvement of parents in supporting their children through
school is patchy and some have low aspirations and live
dysfunctional lives. As a consequence, there is an outcome
of children facing a poverty of experience outside school.
The problem can often be compounded by there being a
significant number of young parents who have never moved
off particular estates. Their parenting skills mirror those with
which they were brought up. Therefore, early intervention is
vital to support parenting skills. Wirral’s Parenting Strategy
is an impressive document. The difficulty comes in its
application on the ground.

“Many of our children
live in dysfunctional
homes”.
Head teacher

The Family Learning Service “offers parents, carers and children the chance to improve the literacy,
language and numeracy skills in safe, welcoming environments”. The fun activities, such as ‘Literacy
through Sport’, which is aimed at dads and children, appears to bring positive benefits. Some schools
expressed their satisfaction with the Family Works programme. However, whilst meeting the needs of a
relative few (because the criteria being used is determined by the funding structure of the Learning
Skills Council) more families would benefit if the service was more universally available. There are
some cases where a child’s literacy skills are severely hampered by poor parenting skills and, in some
cases, their parents’ literacy skills. It is in these cases that Family Works can deliver tangible benefits.
Analysis of data in the Family Works Programme (2007-8) showed that the reading scores of children
(in the Free School Meals cohort) were on average 6% higher than children (again in the Free School
Meals cohort) whose parents did not attend the programme. A similar comparison showed a 10%
differential in writing scores. The evidence from one school where use is made of the Family Works
programme during Foundation Stage was encouraging. Parents are invited in and worries about
children can be discussed. Parents are encouraged to develop ‘learning activities’ at home for their
children. Although there were twelve participants during 2008-9, it was judged to be very difficult to get
parents to participate. However, the school reported a big impact on those who do take part.
A specific issue for the Family Learning Service, as it is for all agencies, is the identification and
targeting of the ‘pockets’ of vulnerable families outside the most deprived areas. It is important that
these families are reached. Greater partnership working, for example, by services linking closely to the
Health Visitors may help improve the identification of families and the subsequent delivery of specific
services.
Recommendation 10 – The impact of the Family Learning Service is welcomed. With the
forthcoming changes to Learning Skills Council arrangements, the Local Authority should consider
how the service could be made more universally available.
Within the school environment, some schools struggle to get involvement of parents either in directly
supporting school activities or by encouraging their children at home. Indeed, one school is simply
unable to foster a culture of homework being done and returned. There is significant evidence of some
children never having the opportunity to read books in their home environment.
One head teacher reported that:
“There is a culture that homework doesn’t matter to many parents or children”.
Another school reported significant issues with attendance and punctuality.
With respect to the care of vulnerable children, there was evidence of some frustration regarding the
relationship between schools and the Children’s Social Services Department of Wirral Borough Council.
This frustration could be heard in the words of one head teacher:
“There is a desire for people from different departments (education, social care and health) to work
together but there are still barriers. Sometimes people can be reluctant to open out and work together.
There are lots of little islands”.
It has been suggested that the relationship would be improved if a school (or cluster of schools) was
allocated a named social worker with whom issues could be discussed on a consistent and confidential
basis. There was evidence suggesting that there are too many agencies working with the same
families. Again, improved multi-agency working should help. It is acknowledged that much preliminary
work is being undertaken to establish greater locality-based working in Wirral. However, the new
structure will not be fully implemented until 2011.
Page 22 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 107

Recommendation 11 – Greater emphasis should be given to the provision of a consistent link
between schools and Children’s Social Care Services. A Social Worker should be allocated to either
a Children’s Centre or a School Cluster Group, wherever is most appropriate.

Recommendation 12 – The Council is encouraged to promote more multi-agency working,
specifically by improving protocols for the sharing of information between health, social care and
education professionals. This should apply particularly to ‘hard to reach’ families.
The Panel members recognise the additional pressures that social problems bring to local communities
and specifically to schools. A head teacher commented that:
“An aspiration is the provision in the school of a Learning mentor, who would support children in such
aspects as their emotional well-being, goal-setting, anger management and raising aspirations”.

The allocation of additional resource to assist schools in
supporting such aims and in managing attendance /
punctuality problems, supporting relationships with parents
and so on would be beneficial.

6.5

Targeted Services for Specific Groups

6.5.1 Special Educational Needs (SEN)

“There is a constant struggle to
manage trailing-edge children
with apathetic parents”.
Head teacher

“A child has to have dire problems in
order to get a statement”.
Head teacher

When children are assessed as requiring Special Educational Needs (SEN), school based
provision of School Action and School Action Plus is available. School Action could include
further assessment, additional teaching materials or a different way of teaching. If a child is
deemed not to have made adequate progress during School Action, School Action Plus enables a
school to seek outside advice from the Local Authority’s support services or from health and
social work professionals.
If a child’s needs cannot be met through School Action Plus, the Local Authority may consider the
need for a statutory assessment. Following the assessment, the Local Authority may decide to
make a Statement of Special Educational Needs setting out the child’s needs in details. However,
beyond the statementing process, there are a considerable number of children who are viewed by
their school as requiring additional support.
For many schools who responded to the Panel, the requirements of children with Special
Educational Needs (SEN) provide a significant challenge. For several schools, a significant part
of the school budget is used to support SEN children.
One head teacher responded to the Panel by explaining:
“One in five pupils in school is on the SEN register – mostly specific literacy problems. The
constant challenge is trying to provide extra targeted support for these children”.
Concerns were raised regarding the statementing process. Some head teachers expressed
frustration regarding the speed and lack of flexibility of the process. As an example, of those
children who are admitted into Orrets Meadow, the majority arrive in Year 5 and some in Year 6.
Some of these children arrive at the school with a reading age as low as 4.3 years. By the time of
admission, the child has often become frightened, frustrated and their self-esteem has been
damaged.
While it is accepted that many children are supported through the interventions at their ‘primary’
school, culminating in Wave 3, the quicker identification of children with significant problems
would be beneficial to child and school alike. In general, quicker access to outside agencies to
support children where Wave 3 intervention highlights specific learning difficulties (for example,
speech therapy, educational psychologist, or any other agencies) would be beneficial.

Page 23 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 108

Recommendation 13 – A review of the statementing process should take place with a view to the
system becoming more flexible and quicker, whilst maintaining integrity. There is a need to identify
children at a younger age. Consideration should be given to the development of guidelines which
would enable children to be allocated places at Orrets Meadow without having to go through the full
statementing process.

Responses from schools provide evidence that
access to services at Orrets Meadow is not as
available as some schools would wish.

“We need flexibility for
access to provision”.
Panel member

One head teacher reported that:
“The school is unable to have Orrets Meadow support this year” (due to financial pressures).
A measure of the inflexibility within the system can be illustrated that, in July 2009, Orrets
Meadow School reported that there were sixteen spare places at the school for the forthcoming
September. As of the first week in October, nine spare places remained. This is not an efficient
use of resources. As the recent Ofsted report for Orrets Meadow categorised the school as
‘Outstanding’, it is hard to imagine that parents would not wish to use the school. The Panel
members are concerned that those resources are available to those children in greatest need
and not necessarily to those families who live nearby or are able to push hardest for their child.
Table 7 illustrates, by ward, the number of children living on each ward who attend Orrets
Meadow.
Table 7: Number of pupils living in each ward who attend Orrets Meadow,
Historical Comparison (2007-2009)
Number of pupils attending Orrets
Meadow, By ward

2007

2008

2009

Bebington
Bidston and St James
Birkenhead and Tranmere
Bromborough
Clatterbridge
Claughton
Eastham
Greasby, Frankby and Irby
Heswall
Hoylake and Meols
Leasowe and Moreton East
Liscard
Moreton West and Saughall Massie
New Brighton
Oxton
Pensby and Thingwall
Prenton
Rock Ferry
Seacombe
Upton
Wallasey
West Kirby and Thurstaston
Out of Borough

3
5
6
4
2
4
6
1
5
4
7
0
2
1
2
1
1
2
3
1
2
5
1

3
4
6
4
3
7
4
1
2
3
2
0
2
3
2
5
3
3
3
3
2
4
0

4
3
4
3
3
6
3
1
2
5
1
1
5
2
4
2
3
3
1
3
1
3
0

Source: Asset Management Team, Children and Young People Department, Wirral Borough Council

The responses from the school’s questionnaire also highlighted a desire from a number of
schools for greater access to Orrets Meadow Outreach Services. There is a perception that the
ability of a child to access these services is dependent upon the address of that child and the
budget of his or her school. As with all of the schools that were visited, the Panel members
were extremely impressed with the work that is done at Orrets Meadow.

Page 24 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 109

Recommendation 14 – The funding arrangements for the Orrets Meadow Outreach Services should
be reviewed to ensure consistent opportunity of provision to every child in need.

Recommendation 15 – At the next School Funding Review (2011-14), the Schools Forum should be
requested to look again at the funding formula for Special Educational Needs (SEN) provision, with
a view to provision being based on a broader framework which includes Free School Meals.

6.5.2 Speech and Language Therapy
One of the most consistent points raised throughout
the review by both officers and particularly by head
teachers and governors was the role of the Speech
and Language Therapy Service. There was a
repeated request for the service to be available in the
school setting rather than in remote clinics.

“Regarding the speech and
language service, there is an
issue with the liaison
between the NHS and
education. This results in
children becoming lost in
the system”.
Head teacher

One teacher commented that:
“Under the current referral system, including form completion, there can be delays in the child
seeing a speech therapist. In addition, some parents do not take the child to the therapist”.
Another head teacher argued that:
“The availability of speech and language therapists in schools would be preferable. When
children visit a clinic they are in a false environment where the sessions are contrived. The
service would be far better if the sessions were provided in the school. In addition, a large
number of appointments are not kept”.
And another head teacher responded:
“Many parents do not take their children to therapy. Therefore the child goes to the bottom of the
queue again”
Nevertheless, another professional commented:
“There are limitations to what Speech and Language therapy can do for children who live in an
impoverished language environment. That is more an issue of improving the home learning
environment and supporting Early Years workers to improve children’s social and communication
skills”.
Whilst it is recognised that some professionals and parents do consider that there is a shortage of
Speech and Language support, there is also a case that the issue is not necessarily about the
number of Speech and Language therapists that there are. The key issue may involve service
approach. There is currently a clinic approach with a triage. The child will be allocated to the
nearest clinic to their home. As of May 2009, the number of qualified paediatric therapists was
12.89 full time equivalents, with 5.23 assistants. However their current caseload was 5,436
children aged 0-19 years. Perhaps one issue worthy of consideration is that in the context of
Wirral NHS, paediatric speech & language therapy is a little service in a big organisation.
Recognition should be made that the service to specialist groups, such as the hearing impaired,
special schools and those with complex needs is good. However, the service for children with
lesser problems may not be delivering the benefits that education professionals would like to see.
Once referred, it appears that information is not always passed on to the school. The school does
not understand what is required of them. There is a need to provide a more cohesive service.
However, a further issue appears to be getting the first referral at the right time. Some children
appear not to have been referred early enough. The early identification of speech and language
problems is important. This will include the pre-school stage. The Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment published by Wirral NHS in September 2008 concluded:
“In the area of Speech, Language and Communication Needs (SLCN) we appear to be under
identifying the number of pupils we have across the Borough. Nationally, 12.4% of pupils have
been identified. In the Wirral we have recorded much lower numbers (around 5%)”.

Page 25 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 110

The service as it is organised at the moment is not as accessible to disadvantaged and
vulnerable groups as it needs to be; ‘universal services’ are clinic based, and require the
parent/carer to ‘opt in’ to the service. This often results in parents who do not understand the
system (who may be those with language and literacy problems themselves) not opting in, not
being able to get to the clinic, having to take a child out of school for an appointment, or not
perceiving that any benefit is to be gained from accessing the service for their child. As a result,
there are reports of a significant number of missed appointments. The individual therapist will not
be aware of the reason for non-attendance. As a comparison, a Health Visitor has continuing
responsibility for their caseload and consequently will follow-up each case.
One head teacher told the panel that:
“The problem of missed appointments could be overcome if the service came to the child”.
An officer commented that:
“It can often be the case that the patient and family leave a clinic-based service none the wiser.
“What did they say?”

The Panel members very much welcome the service review that is planned by NHS Wirral.
It would be helpful if the service review was to take the following criteria into account:
• Accessibility – How easy is it to obtain an appointment? How are children identified? How
quickly are referrals managed? How easy is it to travel to an appointment? Does the system
have an ethos of openness?
• Benefit – Does the therapy confer a lasting improvement in functioning? It may be the case
that the therapy does not necessarily benefit those receiving it. There is currently no follow
up to check for benefit as the child gets older.
• Experience – Even if the service was good, the patient / family will not come back for more if
they felt that it was not a good experience.
One professional suggested that roles that could be considered by the Review may include the
following:
• therapists as trainers – Therapists are relatively expensive. They could have a role in training
other professionals (for example, teachers) so that they are able to recognise problems for
themselves and undertake basic techniques.
• consultancy role – Therapists could be available to staff delivering universal services (for
example, teachers) to be called on in a consultancy role when required. They would be
able to give advice on the best way to support individual children. This may then become a
formal referral to the Speech and Language Therapy service.
• specialist service – individual interventions aimed at those children who will benefit from
Speech and Language Therapy.

Recommendation 16 – The Panel welcomes the current review of the Speech and Language Therapy
service and encourages greater use of therapists in training and consultancy roles.

Recommendation 17 – The Panel strongly supports the principle of the Speech and Language
service being available either in Children’s Centres or School Cluster Groups, whichever is most
appropriate.

Recommendation 18 – Consideration should be given to joint funding (between Wirral NHS and
Children and Young People Department of Wirral Borough Council) of the specialist Children’s
Speech and Language Therapists. The day-to-day management of the Speech and Language
Therapists should be within the Children and Young People Department of Wirral Borough Council.

Page 26 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 111

6.5.3 The Gender Issue
A number of head teachers responded to the panel with the view
that gender imbalance was not a consistent issue in their school.
Of those, some argued that the gap is due to a maturation issue
and that many boys will naturally catch up with the standard of
girls by the time of ‘A’ Levels. An analysis of the 2008 Key Stage
2 results in Wirral show that, in English, more boys than girls
achieved Level 4 (or better) in only 31 schools as opposed to
girls achieving higher scores in 53 schools. A similar comparison
in writing results revealed more boys than girls achieving Level 4
(or better) in only 25 schools as opposed to girls achieving
higher scores in 62 schools.

“There are a
significantly higher
proportion of boys
who are classified as
SEN. Boys tend to be
lazy speakers”.
Head teacher

The majority of head teachers in the questionnaire sample took the view that there was a gender
issue in their school and this is certainly supported by the statistical analysis based on Key
Stage 2 results. Indeed, Table 8 also confirms that this is a national, as opposed to a specifically
Wirral, issue. Nevertheless, based on the provisional 2009 SATs results, the gap in attainment of
Level 4 in English is greater in Wirral than in many statistical or geographical neighbours.
Table 8: Statistical Neighbours and Geographical Neighbours, Key Stage 2, English, Level 4
and above, 2009 (provisional) data, Boys and Girls comparison
2009 provisional results

English %L4+
All

Boys

Girls

National

75

85

80

Wirral

78

88

83

Statistical Neighbours
Bury
Darlington
Halton
Lancashire
Leeds
Sefton
St Helens
Stockton-on-Tees
Tameside
Telford and Wrekin

82
80
76
77
74
79
80
76
76
72

87
88
85
85
83
88
87
86
86
84

84
84
80
81
78
83
83
81
81
77

Geographic Neighbours
Halton
Knowsley
Liverpool
Sefton
St Helens
Wigan

76
74
74
79
80
76

85
84
83
88
87
86

80
79
78
83
83
81

Source: Information Section, Children and Young People Department, Wirral Borough Council

Table 9 compares, for the 2009 Key Stage 2 provisional results, the relative attainment of boys
and girls both at the national level and in Wirral. The higher success rate of girls at both the
national and local level is apparent.

Page 27 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 112

Table 9: Percentage of pupils achieving each Level, Key Stage 2, English, Reading
and Writing, 2009 (provisional) data, National / Wirral comparison for Boys and Girls
2009 provisional results
A

D

N

B

Percentage
L2
L3

L4

L5

Percentage
L4+
L5+

English
Reading
Writing

1
1
1

N/A
N/A
N/A

1
3
1

5
5
5

1
0
0

17
9
33

52
41
46

23
41
15

75
82
60

23
41
15

English
Reading
Writing

1
0
0

N/A
N/A
N/A

0
2
1

2
2
2

0
0
0

11
6
22

50
36
51

35
54
24

85
89
75

35
54
24

English
Reading
Writing

0.7
0.7
0.6

0.1
0.1
0.1

0.7
2.4
0.8

4.1
4.1
4.1

0.7
0.0
0.0

15.5
8.4
29.8

50.9
38.9
45.8

27.4
45.4
18.9

78.4
84.3
64.7

27.4
45.4
18.9

English
Reading
Writing

0.7
0.6
0.7

0.1
0.1
0.1

0.3
1.3
0.4

2.3
2.3
2.3

0.3
0.0
0.0

8.4
5.0
18.2

47.0
34.2
48.1

41.0
56.5
30.3

87.9
90.7
78.4

41.0
56.5
30.3

Boys National

Girls National

Boys Wirral

Girls Wirral

Source: Information Section, Children and Young People Department, Wirral Borough Council

Key to columns:
A
pupils who were absent
D
pupils disapplied from teacher assessment
N
pupils who took the tests but failed to register a level
B
pupils who were working below the level of the test
L2–5
pupils attaining those Levels in the test
L4+
pupils attaining Level 4 or better
L5+
pupils attaining Level 5 or better

Locally, one head teacher commented:
“There is a gender imbalance in achievement. For instance, at Foundation stage there is a real
issue with boys, who, in some cases, cannot talk as they have no vocabulary. This is usually as a
result of the child being part of a dysfunctional family”.
During the school visits, however, there was significant comment received from those who access
the Tranmere Rovers Study Centre. Although fully accessible to both genders, many boys, who
were met during the school visits, were particularly enthusiastic about this experience. This is
perhaps the type of activity that can be used to encourage boys to actively participate in literacy
activities. A nationally funded project, it provides out of school study support for pupils identified
by their school as requiring a boost in literacy or numeracy. It is based at Tranmere Rovers and
its aim is to increase attainment in literacy and numeracy through a context of football and ICT.
The support consists of 10 sessions for selected pupils on a rolling programme for Wirral primary
schools. Literacy levels are identified at the beginning and end of the course, thus ensuring a
basis for measuring the impact of the intervention.
A whole range of suggestions were made by head teachers with respect to ‘What can be done to
improve the gender imbalance in achievement?’. The suggestions included the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

personalised targets and incentives for achievement.
use of writers, poets and authors in schools.
more use of positive male role models for boys who may not see men reading, writing, etc..
family training to focus and engage males.
school to deliver sessions for dads - supporting reading at home.
more one-to-one tutoring for boys out of and within school time.
appoint a male Teaching Assistant to work with Key Stage 1.
adapt the curriculum to suit the gender make-up of the class.
improved use of a creative curriculum to support different learning styles.
continue to start with play based learning and enhance the provision.

Page 28 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 113

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

practical experiences for pupils to write about.
active learning.
small group focus.
ensuring tasks set for writing engage boys’ imagination.
more use of drama.
extended use of the ‘Big Write’ and ‘Every Child a Writer’.
more use of the ‘Boys into Books’ project.
resources appropriate for boys.
choice of books for boys.
greater use of non-fiction texts.
reading clubs with access to sports papers, newspapers and non-fiction.
choice of writing materials for boys.

Interesting evidence from two different schools raised the issue of passive Year 5 / 6 girls. This
was reflected in their role in class, lack of confidence and self-esteem, which resulted in a great
impact on their achievements, despite strategies being employed to support them.
6.5.4 Looked After Children
For some schools, Looked After Children (LAC) can be an
additional usage of resources. As an example, one primary school
in Wirral includes thirteen Looked After Children out of a total roll of
approximately 240 pupils. While some funding (£500 per child) is
received by the school, it could be argued that this amount does
not meet the real needs of the child.

“The outcomes for our
Looked After Children
is of great concern”.
Panel member

It is widely recognised that the outcomes of Looked After Children is a cause for concern.
However, the Panel welcome the closer integration of the old LACES team into the Learning and
Achievement branch of the Children and Young People Department. The Panel would like to
encourage the authority to raise the profile of literacy specifically for Looked After Children in
order to enhance their life chances. This could involve greater support for foster parents
specifically to help them assist their fostered children in improving their literacy skills.

Recommendation 19 – Among Foster Carers, Social Workers and in Residential Homes a higher
priority should be given to literacy. Taking into account the Councillors’ role as a Corporate Parent,
the Panel members urge that the Child’s Annual LAC (Looked After Children) Review should
emphasise the importance of literacy progress.

Recommendation 20 – Training courses for Foster Carers and staff in Residential Homes should
include a module on literacy and raising standards.

6.5.5 English as an Additional Language
There has been a rise in the number of pupils with ‘English as
an Additional Language’ (EAL) in Wirral in the last four years.
It is recognised that ‘English as an Additional Language’
affects only a relatively small number of children in the
Borough. In Wirral as a whole, it is estimated that almost one
thousand pupils have English as an Additional Language.
However, a number of schools report an increasing demand
for this service. In particular, albeit in a small number of
schools, the use of the school’s resources in providing
additional support for these children is significant. Indeed, one
school reported that 22% of their Key Stage 2 cohort are EAL
pupils.
Page 29 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 114

“The number of children
with English as a Foreign
Language is becoming an
increasing issue in Wirral
as a whole”.
Head teacher

In the future, perhaps more resources may need to be available in this area if the number of EAL
pupils in the Borough continues to grow. A challenge for the Local Authority is to help schools to
develop capacity to meet this growing demand. There is likely to be an increasing need for schools
to improve staff knowledge and expertise in this area, using exponents of good practice for advice
and support.
Recommendation 21 – The Panel recognises the growing number of pupils with ‘English as an
Additional Language’ (EAL). Wirral Council should enable schools to build additional capacity to
further improve knowledge and expertise.
6.6 Use of Resources
Funding was highlighted by all of the schools which were visited and it was
also an issue that was consistently raised by those schools that completed
the questionnaire. The exact comments varied as responses to questions
relating to ‘Key Issues’, ‘Barriers to raising literacy attainment’, ‘Improving
gender imbalance’ or requests for ‘Other support’ in the future. The Panel
fully recognise that funding is a key issue for many schools. It has already
been agreed by the Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny
Committee that a further scrutiny review of school funding should be held.

“Money talks. And
reads and writes too”.
Head teacher

This new scrutiny review will focus specifically on ‘Narrowing the Gap’ and the impact of the Deprivation
Funding review, the results of which were implemented for the 2008-9 academic year. The intention is
that the scrutiny review will investigate both positive and negative aspects of that Funding Review.
Therefore, many of the funding issues will be covered in that review rather than this Review of Literacy
Levels. However, it is fully recognised by the Panel members that the ability of a school to employ an
additional teacher / Teaching Assistant or to provide additional resources can determine whether an
intervention strategy can be successfully utilised in a school.
While there was much positive feedback and many complimentary comments from schools regarding
the support that schools receive from the Local Authority, there were also suggestions for ways in which
the service could be enhanced. Some of these have already been covered in other sections of this
Report. A number of other issues are worthy of further comment at this stage.
There was generally positive feedback regarding the physical state of buildings and infrastructure. One
head teacher commented:
“The ICT facilities are a wonderful motivator for children. The school is physically now in a good state”.
However, further use could perhaps be made of shared services and facilities, such as books and
libraries or the use of professional staff, for example, speech and language therapists, in schools or
Children’s Centres.
The targeted support that is available from the Local Authority to individual schools is often resulting
from the School Improvement Strategy. Under the strategy, schools are categorised, enabling schools
to be targeted with specific support where it is needed and, therefore, most likely to be beneficial. A
possible revision of the strategy to enable more detailed categorisation aligned to the five aspects of
care should provide a more accurate profile of schools and facilitate more accurate targeting of support.
With respect to the use of resources within schools, some head teachers have taken the view that,
although more expensive, the use of part-time teachers is a more effective use of resources than the
employment of additional Teaching Assistants. As an example, one school provides two sessions per
week with a part-time teacher for the lowest banded group in each year. These sessions are offered as
an alternative to assembly. This appears to be a very proactive use of resources by the school.
An officer informed the Panel that:
“Qualified teachers need to oversee literacy development”.
A head teacher made a similar point when remarking that:
“There is a general concern that Teaching Assistants are put into schools as ‘an extra pair of hands’
without proper training”.
Page 30 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 115

Teaching Assistants are used to provide support for interventions in many schools. Although Teaching
Assistants are clearly trained, for example, to deliver phonics teaching, the comment was made by one
officer that:
“A key to success is teacher knowledge.”
Although the take-up of training is dependent on specific schools, access to additional training should
be available if required. Although staff from Orrets Meadow already provide some training sessions, it
may be that this service could be extended.
Recommendation 22 – Greater access to refresher training for established teachers in speaking,
listening and reading skills should be provided. Particular support could also be given to newly
qualified Teachers and Teaching Assistants. This additional training could be provided through
twilight sessions organised in School Cluster Groups.

The point was made clearly during visits that while initiatives and interventions are largely welcomed by
both schools and officers, there can sometimes be too many initiatives and some can be too short-term
with funding streams that are not sustainable in the long-term. There is a danger that provision can be
come too fragmented with pupils receiving too many interventions and consequently missing consistent
provision. It can also be the case that ring-fenced ‘pots of money’ become available at very short notice
which inhibits head teachers in using that funding in the most creative and effective manner.
One head teacher noted that:
“New initiatives provide funding in the short-term but are not sustainable”.
Meanwhile, an officer suggested that:
“Initiatives can be too short-term”.
It is equally important that the effectiveness of interventions is measured. Too often it appears that
initiatives are introduced without there being adequate data provided to prove that the process is
beneficial to pupils. It is essential that the Local Authority is able to gather information regarding the
variety of interventions taking place in schools in order to provide guidance regarding their success.
The Local Authority should aim to provide further evidence of the coordination with regard to
interventions and the impact on the lowest 20%.
Recommendation 23 – The Local Authority and schools are jointly encouraged to provide further
evidence regarding the success of specific intervention techniques by greater use of objective
criteria.

Based on the evidence found during this Review, there is an on-going debate regarding the impact of
class size on the literacy outcomes of pupils. One possible strategy for schools in the most deprived
neighbourhoods and with the lowest Key Stage 2 results may be to try to provide class sizes in the
order of fifteen as opposed to twenty-five or thirty. One option for the future could be for some of the
Deprivation Funding resource to be targeted, on a pilot basis, in particular areas over a two or three
year period to cover children aged between four and seven, with the Early Years children being
supported by qualified teachers, as opposed to Teaching Assistants. Evidence suggests that teacher
input is the most important factor in driving up attainment. One example came to light of a school whose
class sizes had reduced due to a falling roll and subsequently experienced a significant improvement in
results. An option could be for a pilot project to be employed to assess the impact of this strategy in
Wirral.
Recommendation 24 – Consideration should be given by the Local Authority to using the
Deprivation Funding to pilot a scheme to assess the success of small class sizes in raising literacy
attainment.

This report was produced by the Literacy Level Scrutiny Panel.

Page 31 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 116

Appendix 1 : Scope Document for the Literacy Levels (Key Stage 2) Scrutiny Review
Date:
Review Title:

27th October 2008
Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2

Scrutiny Panel Chair:
Cllr Sheila Clarke

Contact details:
0151 608 1154

Scrutiny Officer:
Alan Veitch

Contact details:
0151 691 8564

Departmental Link Officer:
Marie Lawrence

Contact details:
0151 666 4335

Panel members:
Cllr Sheila Clarke
Cllr Frank Doyle
Cllr Tony Smith

0151 608 1154
0151 652 9488
0151 677 1384

Other Key Officer contacts:
1. Which of our strategic corporate objectives does this topic address?
1.1 To raise the aspirations of young people
—Raise overall educational attainment, particularly lower achieving young people.
2.
2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4
2.5
2.6
2.7
2.8
2.9

What are the main issues?
The review will include both reading and writing.
Why are levels of achievement so much lower in writing than in reading?
Why are there a number of primary schools below the national average for % of children
reaching Level 4 for reading at Key Stage 2?
Why are there a larger number of primary schools below the national average for % of children
reaching Level 4 for writing at Key Stage 2?
What interventions are in place in schools where a significant number of children do not
reach Level 4?
What interventions are in place in schools where only one or two children do not normally
reach Level 4?
Are schools satisfied with the support that is available?
Is there a gender issue regarding attainment levels?
How do deprivation levels affect the attainment levels of children?

3. The Committee’s overall aim/objective in doing this work is:
3.1 To ensure that as many children as possible leave primary school with adequate reading
and writing skills.
The possible outputs/outcomes are:
Better understanding by members of the issues relating to literacy levels at Key Stage 2.
Agreement that adequate interventions are available and are used by schools.
Determination that underachieving individuals and groups have access to the appropriate
support.
4.4 Confirmation that the Council achieves value for money from the current intervention plans.
4.
4.1
4.2
4.3

5. What specific value can scrutiny add to this topic?
5.1 To recommend any changes which would lead to the outcomes listed in section 4 above.
5.2 To raise the overall standards of literacy in primary schools.
Page 32 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 117

6.
6.1
6.2
6.3

Who will the Committee be trying to influence as part of its work?
Cabinet.
Other councillors.
Primary school head teachers / governors.

7.

Duration of enquiry?
Final report to be submitted to Children Services and Lifelong Learning Overview and Scrutiny
Committee during the current municipal year (that is, by 16th March 2009).

8.

What category does the review fall into?
Policy Review

Y

Policy Development

External Partnership

Y

Performance Management

Holding Executive to Account

9.

Extra resources needed? Would the investigation benefit from the co-operation of an
expert witness?
The Review will be conducted by councillors with the support of existing officers.
However, the Panel are looking for advice from people with expertise on this topic.

10.
10.1

10.1.1

10.1.2
10.1.3
10.1.4
10.1.5
10.1.6

10.3

What information do we need?
Secondary information (background
information, existing reports,
legislation,
central government documents, etc).
Need KS2 SATS results for 2003-8 for
each primary school (reading and writing)
in order to track where improvements
have occurred.
Ofsted reports - How do other councils
compare?
Comparative information with the national
average and with Statistical Neighbours
Relevant reports into literacy issues
Previous Committee / Cabinet reports
regarding literacy levels / strategies
Scrutiny reports from other councils into
similar issues.
Who can provide us with further
relevant evidence? (Cabinet portfolio
holder, officer, service user, general
public, expert witness, etc). Council
officers to include:
Marie Lawrence, Early Years & Primary
Education Strategic Service Manager,
WBC.
Bridie Sharkey, Principal Manager for
English 0 - 19, WBC.
Jenny Richmond, English consultant for
Key Stages 1 and 2, WBC.
Catherine Kerr, Principal Manager for
Early Years, WBC.
Pauline Cunningham, Communications
Language & Literacy Development for

10.2

Primary/new evidence/information

10.2.1

Briefing paper to cover the major issues

10.2.2

Interviews with key officers

10.2.3

Interviews with head teachers, teachers,
governors at selected schools

10.2.4

Feedback from parent governors.

10.2.5

Feedback from school councils.

10.4

What specific areas do we want them
to cover when they give evidence?

10.4.1

What lessons can be learned from the
many examples of good practice that
already exist? Does the authority have
the processes in place to facilitate the
spread of good practice?

10.4.2

What intervention packages are
available to schools?

10.4.3

What else can be done to help improve
literacy levels in primary schools?

Page 33 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 118

Early Years, WBC.
Bev Greathead, Head teacher /
Coordinator of the Poulton Lancelyn
Writing Network (initially a written report)
Deirdre Smith, Principal Manager, Study
Support, WBC (possible)
Sarah Howarth, Lifelong Learning
Advisor (+ Family Literacy project),
WBC (possible)
Statistical Neighbours
Head teachers / governors of four
selected primary schools

11. What processes can we use to feed into the review? (site visits / observations, face-to
face questioning, telephone survey, written questionnaire, etc)
11.1 Individual meetings with key officers listed in 10.3 above.
11.2 Visits to a number of primary schools (head teacher, teachers, governors).
11.3 Desk research.

12. In what ways can we involve the public and at what stages? (consider whole range of
consultative mechanisms, local committees and local ward mechanisms).
12.1 School councils will be invited to comment
12.2 Parent governors will be included in the review
12.3 There is no plan to involve public meetings or Area Forum meetings.

Page 34 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 119

Appendix 2 : Questionnaire Issued to Schools
EVIDENCE FROM HEAD TEACHERS OF PRIMARY AND JUNIOR SCHOOLS
Name of Head teacher

Name of school

What are the key issues affecting literacy attainment in your school?

What are the barriers to raising literacy levels at your school?

What interventions are in place in your school?

What can be done to improve the gender imbalance in achievement?

What are the strengths of the support that you receive from the Local Authority?

Page 35 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 120

What other support would you like for the challenges that face your school?

Have you any suggestions that would help to further improve literacy levels?

Any other comments

Many thanks for completing this form. The Panel members very much appreciate your input.

Page 36 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 121

Appendix 3 : Reference list of Recommendations
Recommendation 1 – The evidence gathered shows that successful interventions in the Early Years do
impact on literacy skills. A Children and Young People Departmental Review should be carried out to
ensure that easy access and an appropriate offer of service is provided in all Children’s Centres.
Recommendation 2 – In order to ensure that more families engage with Children’s Centres, information
available through websites should be improved and be timely. There should be better promotion of specific
activities, including pre-reading programmes, available at each Centre. Publicity could also be improved
through a variety of outlets such as GP surgeries, local organisations and community groups.
Recommendation 3 – Health Visitors are a key contact for many families with young children. Wirral NHS
and Wirral Borough Council are encouraged to enhance the role of Health Visitors in providing early
identification of ‘hard to reach’ families and subsequent signposting to other services, particularly in
Children’s Centres. The delivery of the ‘Healthy Child Programme’ in Wirral provides an opportunity for
agencies to work together.
Recommendation 4 – Professional barriers need to be broken down. Multi-agency services should be
provided via Children’s Centres, for example, Health Visitors, Social Workers, Dental Service, Speech and
Language Therapists, School Nurse, Hearing and Sight Specialists, Paediatricians, Early Years Specialists,
and so on.
Recommendation 5 – The Local Authority should provide guidance and support to schools who would like
to encourage greater involvement of parents, businesses and older people in providing one-to-one reading
support in schools. In return, schools are encouraged to participate in the scheme.
Recommendation 6 – The Local Authority is encouraged to build on the moderation work that has already
been carried out at the transition from Key Stage 1 to Key Stage 2. This consistent approach should also be
applied to the transition from Foundation Stage to Key Stage 1. Schools are encouraged to work with each
other and with the Local Authority to deliver the consistent approach.
Recommendation 7 – The Local Authority should evaluate the success of the Communications, Language
and Literacy Development (CLLD) programme and plan ahead to embed good practice in schools currently
involved in the programme and promote that good practice to other schools.
Recommendation 8 – The Local Authority is encouraged to provide further in-school training in
phonological awareness and schools are encouraged to fully participate in the training opportunities.
Recommendation 9 – Extended Services should be encouraged to give a higher priority to literacy-based
activities.
Recommendation 10 – The impact of the Family Learning Service is welcomed. With the forthcoming
changes to Learning Skills Council arrangements, the Local Authority should consider how the service
could be made more universally available.
Recommendation 11 – Greater emphasis should be given to the provision of a consistent link between
schools and Children’s Social Care Services. A Social Worker should be allocated to either a Children’s
Centre or a School Cluster Group, wherever is most appropriate.
Recommendation 12 – The Council is encouraged to promote more multi-agency working, specifically by
improving protocols for the sharing of information between health, social care and education professionals.
This should apply particularly to ‘hard to reach’ families.
Recommendation 13 – A review of the statementing process should take place with a view to the system
becoming more flexible and quicker, whilst maintaining integrity. There is a need to identify children at a
younger age. Consideration should be given to the development of guidelines which would enable children
to be allocated places at Orrets Meadow without having to go through the full statementing process.
Recommendation 14 – The funding arrangements for the Orrets Meadow Outreach Services should be
reviewed to ensure consistent opportunity of provision to every child in need.

Page 37 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 122

Recommendation 15 – At the next School Funding Review (2011-14), the Schools Forum should be
requested to look again at the funding formula for Special Educational Needs (SEN) provision, with a view
to provision being based on a broader framework which includes Free School Meals.
Recommendation 16 – The Panel welcomes the current review of the Speech and Language Therapy
service and encourages greater use of therapists in training and consultancy roles.
Recommendation 17 – The Panel strongly supports the principle of the Speech and Language service
being available either in Children’s Centres or School Cluster Groups, whichever is most appropriate.
Recommendation 18 – Consideration should be given to joint funding (between Wirral NHS and Children
and Young People Department of Wirral Borough Council) of the specialist Children’s Speech and
Language Therapists. The day-to-day management of the Speech and Language Therapists should be
within the Children and Young People Department of Wirral Borough Council.
Recommendation 19 – Among Foster Carers, Social Workers and in Residential Homes a higher priority
should be given to literacy. Taking into account the Councillors’ role as a Corporate Parent, the Panel
members urge that the Child’s Annual LAC (Looked After Children) review should emphasise the
importance of literacy progress.
Recommendation 20 – Training courses for Foster Carers and staff in Residential Homes should include a
module on literacy and raising standards.
Recommendation 21 – The Panel recognises the growing number of pupils with ‘English as an Additional
Language’ (EAL). Wirral Council should enable schools to build additional capacity to further improve
knowledge and expertise.
Recommendation 22 – Greater access to refresher training for established teachers in speaking, listening
and reading skills should be provided. Particular support could also be given to newly qualified teachers and
Teaching Assistants. This additional training could be provided through twilight sessions organised in
School Cluster Groups.
Recommendation 23 – The Local Authority and schools are jointly encouraged to provide further evidence
regarding the success of specific Intervention techniques by greater use of objective criteria.
Recommendation 24 – Consideration should be given by the Local Authority to using the Deprivation
Funding to pilot a scheme to assess the success of small class sizes in raising literacy attainment.

Page 38 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 123

Appendix 4 : List of Tables

Table

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

Description

Section

Page

Statistical Neighbours and Geographical Neighbours, Key Stage 2, English,
Level 4 and above.

6.1

11

Percentage of pupils achieving each Level, Key Stage 2, English, Reading
and Writing, 2009 (provisional) data, National and Wirral comparison

6.1

12

Numbers of pupils achieving each Level, Key Stage 2, 2008 and 2009
(provisional) data

6.1

13

Percentage of pupils achieving each Level, Key Stage 2, English, Reading
and Writing, Wirral, Historical comparison (2004-2009)

6.1

13

Percentage of pupils achieving below Level 3, Key Stage 2, English,
Historical Comparison (2004-2009), England and Wirral comparison

6.1

14

Comparison of pupils receiving Free School Meals and pupils achieving
Level 4 or above, Key Stage 2, English, 2009 (provisional) data, by District
and Area in Wirral

6.4

21

Number of pupils living in each ward who attend Orrets Meadow, Historical
Comparison (2007-2009)

6.5.1

24

Statistical Neighbours and Geographical Neighbours, Key Stage 2, English,
Level 4 and above, 2009 (provisional) data, Boys and Girls comparison

6.5.3

27

Percentage of pupils achieving each Level, Key Stage 2, English, Reading
and Writing, 2009 (provisional) data, National / Wirral comparison for Boys
and Girls

6.5.3

28

Page 39 of 39
Scrutiny Review of Literacy Levels at Key Stage 2 - Final Report

Page 124

